
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Danial Webb, Statutory Scrutiny Officer on 
01432 260659 or e-mail Danial.Webb@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Scrutiny Management Board 
 

 

Date: Friday 23 January 2026 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, Plough 
Lane Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Danial Webb, Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

Tel: 01432 260659 

Email: Danial.Webb@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the meeting of the Scrutiny 
Management Board 

Membership 

 

  
Chairperson Councillor Ben Proctor 
Vice-chairperson Councillor Louis Stark 
   
 Councillor Jenny Bartlett 

Councillor Simeon Cole 
Councillor Frank Cornthwaite 
Councillor Pauline Crockett 
Councillor Dave Davies 
Councillor Toni Fagan 
Councillor Liz Harvey 
Councillor Jonathan Lester 
Councillor Ed O'Driscoll 
Councillor Richard Thomas 
Councillor Rob Williams 

 

 
   

 
 



 
Herefordshire Council  23 JANUARY 2026 
 

 

Agenda 

 Pages 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.   NAMED SUBSTITUTES 
 

 

 To receive details of members nominated to attend the meeting in place of a 
member of the board. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive declarations of interests from members of the board in respect of 
items on the agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

9 - 14 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2025. 
 

 

HOW TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS 
 

 

The deadline for the submission of questions for this meeting is 5pm on Monday 19 
January 2026. 
 

Questions must be submitted to councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk.  
Questions sent to any other address may not be accepted. 
 

Accepted questions and the responses will be published as a supplement to the 
agenda papers prior to the meeting.  Further information and guidance is available at  
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved 

 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the public. 
 

 

6.   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from councillors. 
 

 

7.   2026/2027 DRAFT BUDGET - REVENUE 
 

15 - 104 

 To seek the views of the Scrutiny Management Board on the draft revenue 
budget proposals for 2026/27. 
 

 

8.   DRAFT - 2026/27 CAPITAL INVESTMENT BUDGET AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY UPDATE 
 

105 - 188 

 To seek the views of the Scrutiny Management Board on the draft capital 
investment budget and capital strategy proposals for 2026/27. 
 

 

9.   WORK PROGRAMME 
 

189 - 256 

 To consider the board’s work programme. 
 

 

10.   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 Thursday 19 March 2026, 10am  

mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved


 
Herefordshire Council  23 JANUARY 2026 
 

 

 



The public’s rights to information and attendance at meetings 

You have a right to: 

 Attend all council, cabinet, committee and sub-committee meetings unless the business to be 
transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.  
Agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) are available at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings 

 Inspect minutes of the council and all committees and sub-committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the cabinet or individual cabinet members for up to six 
years following a meeting. 

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to four 
years from the date of the meeting (a list of the background papers to a report is given at the 
end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in 
writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all councillors with 
details of the membership of cabinet and of all committees and sub-committees.  Information 
about councillors is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors 

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the council have delegated decision 
making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.  The council’s constitution is 
available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution 

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
council, cabinet, committees and sub-committees and to inspect documents. 

Recording of meetings 

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that it 
does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 

Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance support team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 

The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 

The council may make a recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the council’s 
website.  Such videos are made available for members of the public via the council’s YouTube 
channel at www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams 

Public transport links 

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford, 
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station. 

Bus maps are available here: www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps 

5

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution
https://www.youtube.com/@HerefordshireCouncil/streams
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/download/78/bus_maps




 

      

The seven principles of public life  

(Nolan Principles) 

 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and 
treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

7





 

Minutes of the meeting of Scrutiny Management Board held at 
Conference Room 1 - Herefordshire Council, Plough Lane 
Offices, Hereford, HR4 0LE on Monday 8 December 2025 at 10.00 
am 
  

Present: Councillor Ben Proctor (chairperson) 
Councillor Louis Stark (vice-chairperson) 

   
 Councillors: Jenny Bartlett, Simeon Cole, Frank Cornthwaite, 

Pauline Crockett, Toni Fagan, Ed O'Driscoll and Richard Thomas 
 

  
In attendance: Councillor(s) Carole Gandy (Cabinet Member Adults, Health and Wellbeing), 

Jonathan Lester (Leader of the Council/Cabinet Member Corporate Strategy 
and Budget), Philip Price (Cabinet Member Transport and Infrastructure) and 
Ellisa Swinglehurst (Cabinet Member Environment).     

  
Officers: Simon Cann (Democratic Services Officer/Committee Clerk),  Hilary Hall 

(Corporate Director Community Wellbeing), Rachael Sanders (Director of 
Finance), Donna Thornton (Democratic Services Support Officer), Danial 
Webb (Statutory Scrutiny Officer). 

140. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies had been received from Cllr Dave Davies and Cllr Liz Harvey. 
 

141. NAMED SUBSTITUTES  
 
There had been no named substitutes. 
 

142. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

143. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting were received. 
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 July 2025 be confirmed as a 
correct record and be signed by the Chairperson. 
 

144. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 
There had been no questions received from members of the public. 
 

145. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  
 
There had been no questions received from councillors. 
 

146. Q2 PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 

9

AGENDA ITEM 4



 

The Chair took the report as read and invited discussion on the item. The key points of 
the debate are detailed below:  
 

1. Members questioned the activity-focused red, amber, green, (RAG) approach; 
officers acknowledged outcomes were mainly assessed at year end and would 
welcome recommendations to strengthen outcomes-based reporting. 

 
2. Inconsistencies were identified regarding publication and delays of the Nutrient 

Management Plan; officers agreed to clarify the position after the meeting. 
 

3. Concerns were raised about slippage and cost control across property assets; 
officers explained that a full audit of the Council’s property portfolio had been 
commissioned, with briefings to Cabinet planned. 

 
4. The committee heard from officers that the current property review was limited to 

Council-owned assets, though the potential use of partner-owned buildings was 
acknowledged as a future consideration. 

 
5. Members requested clearer, cumulative visual presentation of quarterly RAG 

data; officers agreed to explore improved reporting formats.  
 

6. Delays in capital delivery were confirmed to impact revenue budgets; alternative 
provision remained a high-risk priority linked to the DSG deficit and was under 
close monitoring. 

 
7. Increased rough sleeping was attributed to seasonal fluctuation, individuals from 

outside the county and those without recourse to public funds; the Council 
continued to support accommodation options while respecting personal choice. 

 
8. Members highlighted disconnects between delivery milestones and capital re-

profiling; officers acknowledged limitations in current reporting and welcomed 
recommendations for improvement. 

 
147. Q2 2025/26 BUDGET REPORT  

 
The Chair took the report as read and opened the item for debate. The key points of the 
discussion included:  
 
Community Wellbeing – Adult Social Care 

1. Members questioned the drivers of increased Adult Social Care cost pressures. 
Officers explained that pressures arose from: sustained hospital discharge 
demand, post-COVID loss of independence, increased numbers of self-funders 
falling below the financial threshold, longer residential care stays and changes to 
continuing healthcare (CHC) eligibility, with mitigations including strengthened 
front-door controls, prevention, commissioning improvements and closer 
monitoring of high-cost packages. 

 
2. The committee asked how hospital activity had contributed to pressures. Officers 

advised that consistently high hospital occupancy had generated exceptional 
discharge demand during the year, with post-COVID impacts resulting in higher 
support needs on discharge, creating pressures that exceeded reasonable 
forecasting assumptions. 

 
3. Members queried the impact of increased longevity without improved health. 

Officers confirmed that people were living longer with complex needs, leading to 
longer care packages and extended residential stays, significantly increasing 
cumulative costs. 

10



 

 
4. The committee enquired about the financial impact of self-funders falling below 

the threshold. Officers advised that rising living costs had increased the number 
of people requiring Council support, creating unplanned and difficult-to-predict 
budget pressures. 

 
5. Members sought clarification on changes to continuing healthcare eligibility. 

Officers confirmed that a local ICB policy change now limited continuing 
healthcare funding to health elements only, transferring greater financial 
responsibility to the Council. 

 
6. Members asked how the Council was challenging continuing healthcare 

decisions. Officers explained that continuing healthcare case management had 
been centralised to improve consistency and challenge, with cases progressing 
through formal dispute processes and escalation through regional adult social 
care networks. 

 
7. Members asked about political engagement with the Integrated Care Board. The 

Leader confirmed that senior-level discussions were ongoing, with the issue 
being raised through the Health and Wellbeing Board and further input from 
council members was welcomed. 

 
Managing Demand, Prevention, and Commissioning 

8. The committee enquired about what actions were being taken to manage 
demand at first contact. Officers described enhanced front-door arrangements 
focused on understanding need, preventing escalation into long-term care and 
increasing use of alternative community-based support. 

 
9. Members queried how the Council was working with the voluntary and 

community sector. Officers advised that alternative commissioning models were 
being explored to support preventative and community-led provision and reduce 
reliance on traditional care models. 

 
10. Members asked why domiciliary care costs remained relatively stable. Officers 

advised that framework-based purchasing with fixed rates had limited inflationary 
impact, resulting in modest cost growth despite increased activity. 

 
11. The committee queried why residential care costs continued to rise. Officers 

confirmed that longer lengths of stay and increased provider prices were driving 
the pressure, making residential care the largest cost driver. 

 
12. Members asked how reliance on spot purchasing was being addressed. Officers 

confirmed that work was underway to develop more strategic commissioning 
arrangements, including block contracts and longer-term provider relationships. 

 
13. A member asked about the role of ‘CareCubed’. Officers advised that the tool 

provided fair-cost benchmarking based on local conditions and would support 
evidence-based negotiations with providers. 

 
In-Year Position and Forecasting 

14. The committee asked whether there were early signs of improvement. Officers 
reported that Quarter 3 data indicated reductions in numbers supported and 
associated costs, reflecting improved demand management. 

 
15. Members queried why forecasts were higher earlier in the year. Officers 

explained that prudent forecasting assumed full-year support, with reductions 
typically emerging later in the year as activity stabilised. 

11



 

 
Budget Oversight and Future Budget Setting 

16. Members asked whether the Q2 position indicated weaknesses in forecasting. 
The Leader advised that demand-led services were inherently volatile and that 
increased activity, rather than inefficiency, was the primary driver of variance. 

 
17. Members queried how future budgets were being developed. The Section 151 

Officer confirmed that the 2026/27 budget reflected in-year data, demographic 
trends, JSNA evidence and service changes, and was subject to extensive 
internal challenge. 

 
18. Members asked how transparency could be improved. Officers noted the 

suggestion that clearer communication of assumptions would strengthen 
assurance, and this was acknowledged as a potential recommendation. 

 
Temporary Accommodation 

19. Members asked why temporary accommodation costs continued to rise. Officers 
advised that demand had increased due to sustained housing market pressures 
and statutory homelessness duties. 

 
20. The committee asked how value for money was being improved. Officers 

confirmed that unit costs had reduced through improved procurement and 
negotiation, resulting in a lower overspend than in previous years despite higher 
demand. 

 
21. Members asked what preventative measures were in place. Officers outlined 

increased prevention staffing, rent deposits, arrears payments and early 
intervention to prevent homelessness. 

 
22. Members enquired the use of empty homes. Officers confirmed that targeted 

empty homes work was underway, with some properties already brought back 
into use. 

 
23. The committee asked about partnership working with voluntary organisations. 

Officers confirmed strong and ongoing collaboration with organisations such as 
Venture across multiple service areas. 

 
SEND Transport 

24. A member asked why SEND transport continued to overspend. Officers advised 
that demand had increased sharply, particularly since the autumn term, reflecting 
a national trend that could not be fully anticipated. 

 
25. Members queried what actions were being taken to control costs. Officers 

outlined route optimisation, contract challenge, engagement with providers, use 
of routing software and delivery of a £0.5m savings target. 

 
26. A members asked whether an in-house fleet was being considered. Officers 

confirmed that a review supported leasing rather than purchasing vehicles, with 
proposals to be considered as part of the 2026/27 budget. 

 
27. The committee enquired about the use of personal travel budgets. Officers 

confirmed these were already in use and were being expanded to promote 
independence and value for money. 

 
Overall Assurance 

28. Members sought assurance that all reasonable steps were being taken to control 
costs. The Leader and officers confirmed that robust management action was in 

12



 

place across adult social care, temporary accommodation and SEND transport, 
and that while pressures remained significant, the Council was actively working 
to stabilise budgets and improve sustainability. 

 
 
At the conclusion of the debate the committee agreed the following recommendations 
based on discussion from both item 7 and item 8. 
 
Recommendations: 

1. Given the council faces the largest savings requirement in its history, 
approximately £30 million, the Scrutiny Management Board recommends 
that Cabinet prioritises capital investment and officer capacity toward 
projects that deliver the greatest and most immediate relief to the revenue 
budget. 

2. Cabinet adopt a bolder approach to borrowing to deliver capital projects 
that will relieve pressure on the revenue budget.  

3. Council should maximise its relationship with partners to explore the use 
of property assets when determining its medium-term financial strategy. 

4. Cabinet should enable commercialisation in services by focusing on 
outcomes rather than activity in its performance reporting. 

5. There should be more transparency on the RAG status in the performance 
plan and how that flows through to underlying risks of slippage in the 
Capital Programme. 

6. The executive should intensify its efforts at a strategic level with the 
Integrated Care Board to ensure that cost pressures on the board are not 
transferred to the council. 

 
148. WORK PROGRAMME  

 
1. The committee reviewed scrutiny work programmes across all committees to 

identify emerging priorities, gaps and opportunities for coordination. Members 
emphasised the importance of aligning scrutiny activity to areas of highest risk, 
financial pressure and strategic importance, while avoiding duplication. 

 
2. Key pressures identified included home-to-school transport, alternative provision, 

and the forthcoming Ofsted inspection, which was expected to significantly shape 
the Children and Young People Scrutiny work programme. Alternative provision 
was highlighted as an urgent priority requiring further scrutiny. 

 
3. The individual committee Chair’s outlined major planned work, including scrutiny 

of tourism and destination management, broadband connectivity, and a 
structured review of the capital programme during the “year of delivery”, with 
planned midpoint and end-year scrutiny. Emerging areas included potential task 
and finish work on flood risk, resilience and recovery, and continued scrutiny of 
land use and land management, given their wide-ranging environmental and 
infrastructure impacts. 

 
4. Progress updates were provided on task and finish groups, including the 

establishment of adult social care scrutiny, ongoing work on commercialisation, 
and the Inequality task and finish group, which had narrowed its focus to 
economic inequality and the lived experience of residents. 

 
5. Members highlighted the importance of effective community engagement, 

particularly in relation to future housing growth and the Local Plan, and noted 
potential future work on strengthening partnership working with the voluntary 
sector and social value in procurement. 

 

13



 

6. The committee discussed future scrutiny of health system pressures, including 
the Integrated Care Board, and noted the potential need for a briefing or scrutiny 
following the government funding settlement once its implications were 
understood. 

 
7. The committee noted the significant volume of scrutiny activity underway and 

agreed that continued coordination between committees would be essential to 
ensure focus on priority issues and effective use of scrutiny capacity. 

 
149. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  

 
Friday 23 January 2026, 10am 
 

The meeting ended at 12:57 Chairperson 

14



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Simon Cann, Tel: 01432 260667, email: Simon.Cann@herefordshire.gov.ukl 

OFFICIAL 

Title of report: 2026/27 Draft Budget - 
Revenue 
 

Meeting: Scrutiny Management Board 

Meeting date: Friday 23 January 2026 
 

Cabinet Member: Peter Stoddart, Finance and corporate services 

Report by: Leader of the Council (Section 9E) 

Report author: Director of Finance 

Classification 

Open   

Decision type 

This is not an executive decision 

Wards affected  

All Wards 

Purpose  

To seek the views of the Scrutiny Management Board on the draft revenue budget proposals for 
2026/27. This draft budget was proposed at Cabinet at its meeting on 20 January 2026. 

Recommendation 

That: 

a) having regard to the proposals the committee determines any recommendations it 
wishes to make to Cabinet in relation to the 2026/27 Revenue Budget. 

Alternative options 

1. There are no alternatives to the recommendation; Cabinet is responsible for developing budget 
proposals for Council consideration and it is a function of this committee to make reports or 
recommendations to the executive with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive. The council’s budget and policy framework rules require Cabinet 
to consult with scrutiny committees on budget proposals in order that the scrutiny committee 
members may inform and support the process for making Cabinet proposals to Council. 

15

AGENDA ITEM 7



 

OFFICIAL 

2. It is open to the committee to recommend alternative spending proposals or strategic priorities; 
however given the legal requirement to set a balanced budget should additional expenditure be 
proposed, compensatory savings proposals must also be identified. 

Key considerations 

3. A balanced draft revenue budget which totals £234.1 million is proposed for 2026/27. The 
proposal includes a 4.99% increase in council tax and estimates of central funding to be 
confirmed following the publication of the final Local Government Financial Settlement in 
February 2026.  

4. The draft 2026/27 revenue budget assumes a total council tax increase of 4.99%: 2.99% 
increase in core council tax and a 2% adult social care precept. This increases the band D 
equivalent charge to £2,067.63, representing an increase of £8.19 per month (£1.89 per week). 
This is the maximum increase permitted; a higher increase would require the support of a 
referendum. 

5. The 2% adult social care precept will generate approximately £3.0 million of additional income 
to contribute to continuing adult social care pressures: reflecting increases in demand, 
complexity of need and cost for services to support the county’s residents.  

6. To manage rising costs and demand for services alongside reductions in the council’s 
allocation of funding from Central Government via the Fair Funding Review, the draft revenue 
budget includes savings proposals of £20.0 million, measures to manage Directorate 
inflationary pressures via a centrally held Contract Inflation Fund, and £3.2 million proposed 
use of the Business Rates Risk Reserve to mitigate the reduction in the council’s funding 
allocation in 2026/27. 

7. Nationally, local authorities continue to face significant financial pressures whilst demand and 
cost of statutory services continue to rise; increasing the challenge of delivering transformation 
and improvements in the delivery of services for residents and businesses in Herefordshire.  
The proposed budget and strategy for 2026/27 builds on the prudent approach and robust 
financial management now embedded across the council: to preserve and protect the council’s 
future financial resilience and sustainability through robust and reliable management of the 
revenue budget and capital programme and delivery of realistic, achievable and recurrent 
savings on time and in full. 

8. A sustainable financial strategy has been developed for 2026/27 and onwards, to ensure the 
council can achieve an ambitious programme of investment, service improvements and 
transformation to deliver the best for Herefordshire.   

Fair Funding Assessment and Estimated Core Spending Power 

9. On 20 November 2025, the Minister of State for Local Government and Homelessness at the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Alison McGovern MP, 
announced the publication of the Government’s 2026-27 to 2028-29 Local Government 
Finance Policy Statement in a Written Ministerial Statement, marking the start of the 
Settlement process.  

10. Alongside the November Policy Statement, the Government published its response to the Fair 
Funding Review 2.0 consultation and the Business Rates Reset Delivery document.   

11. On 17 December 2025, the Minister delivered a Written Ministerial Statement to Parliament on 
the provisional local government finance settlement 2026/27.  The provisional settlement, for 
the first time in a decade, is a multi-year settlement outlining multiple years’ allocations of 
funding covering the three-year period from 2026/27 to 2028/29. 

16



 

OFFICIAL 

12. On this date, the MHCLG also published a Business Rate Information Letter outlining the 
arrangements and impact of business rates reset, revaluation and multiplier reform, including 
2026 Transitional Relief (TR) regulations, 2026 Supporting Small Business (SSB) scheme 
guidance and further information on Retail Hospitality and Leisure multipliers. 

13. Government calculations of the increase in Core Spending Power (CSP) for Herefordshire 
highlight an increase of £13.4 million in CSP over the settlement period.  This increase 
assumes the council will increase council tax in line with the maximum permitted increase of 
5% in each of the three years of the multi-year settlement.   

14. With a total £17.3 million reduction in Herefordshire’s allocation of Central Government 
funding following redistribution through the Fair Funding Review compared with 2025/26 
baseline levels, this means that the estimated increase in CSP, as calculated by Government, 
is expected be funded entirely by local taxpayers via maximum annual increases in council tax. 

Funding source 
2025/26               

£m 
2026/27               

£m 
2027/28               

£m 
2028/29 

£m 

Government Estimated Core Spending Power 231.8 237.1 240.9 245.2 

Council Tax Requirement 143.4 153.0 163.2 174.1 

Non-Council Tax (Settlement Funding Assessment) 88.4 84.1 77.7 71.1 

     

Movement in Non-Council Tax CSP  -4.3 -6.4 -6.6 

Total reduction in Non-Council Tax CSP to 2028/29 -17.3 

Movement in Council Tax CSP  +9.6 +10.2 +10.9 

Total increase in Council Tax CSP to 2028/29 +30.7 

Net increase in Core Spending Power to 2028/29 13.4 

 

15. This latest reduction in funding compounds the financial pressures already faced by the 
council, following the abolition of the Rural Services Delivery Grant and Services Delivery 
Grant representing a total loss of funding of £7.1m in 2025/26.   

16. The further reduction to the council’s allocation in 2026/27, following redistribution of funding 
through the Fair Funding Review, exacerbates the challenge of maintaining delivery of services 
to residents in a rural county.   

17. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2025/26 to 2028/29 published as part of the 
2025/26 revenue budget assumed a rate of increase in council tax at a reduced level of 3.99%.  
As a result of the outcome of the impact of the Fair Funding Review and reduction in the 
council’s allocation of funding from Central Government, the council is forced to make the 
maximum permitted increase in each of the MTFS period to ensure delivery of services can be 
sustained. 

Redistribution of Funding through the Fair Funding Review 

18. The MHCLG Consultation on local authority funding reform through the Local Government 
Finance Settlement from 2026/27 ran from 20 June to 15 August 2025. The Fair Funding 
Review 2.0 attempts to refresh the methodology for distributing a fixed pot of funding between 
local authorities covered by the Local Government Finance Settlement. 

19. The last time the underlying distribution methodology was refreshed through changes to 
formulae and data was in 2013, at the time the business rates retention system was set up. 
This means that the last full assessment of relative needs and resources is 12 years old and 

17



 

OFFICIAL 

the relationship between the assessment and actual allocations through the Settlement 
Funding Assessment (SFA) has weakened over this period.   

20. The allocation of the new Settlement Funding Assessment is made up of an assessment of 
relative need and an assessment of the relative resources; these are the two key determinants 
of the outcome of FFR 2.0 for each authority. 

21. The Relative Needs Assessment determines the share of ‘total need’ attributable to each 
authority as a proportion of the fixed pot available. This is driven by the results of a series of 
relative needs formulae which calculate the extent to which a local authority’s characteristics 
are likely to drive demand for a particular service, relative to other authorities providing the 
same service. The most consequential factors include population cohort size, deprivation-
linked metrics and specific metrics for highways maintenance. 

22. The Relative Resources Adjustment is an assessment by Central Government of each 
authority’s ability to raise income locally from council tax, informed by the attributable taxbase 
multiplied by an amount per unit of taxbase. 

23. An authority’s share of the fixed pot, allocated based on its relative need, is adjusted by the 
Relative Resources Adjustment to determine the Settlement Funding Assessment allocation. 

24. The November Policy Statement and Written Ministerial Statement published alongside the 
Provisional Settlement are clear that the purpose of the funding review is to reconnect local 
authority funding with deprivation to target resources in a more effective way, such that “local 
authorities in the most deprived placed will now see significant funding increases”. 

25. Despite robust evidence, and multiple case studies, submitted in response to the Consultation 
by the council and professional bodies advocating for fairer funding, including the Council 
Councils Network (CCN), Rural Services Network (RSN) and Society of County Treasurers 
(SCT), highlighting the impact of remoteness, the revised funding formulae places greater 
weighting on factors reflecting urban pressures, ignoring the additional costs of delivering 
services across sparsely populated rural communities. 

26. The November Policy Statement confirmed that a remoteness factor will only be applied to the 
Adult Social Care Relative Needs Formula, but not to formulae more broadly, despite 
previously being considered for all Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) measures.   

27. In its Consultation response, Government stated that the “best evidence indicates remoteness 
may have a particular impact on adult social care services” and that it has made “a judgement 
that remoteness should be accounted for when assessing the cost of delivering adult social 
care services”.  This judgement ignores the additional costs incurred in rural areas that are 
more distant from larger markets, typically in urban areas.   

28. Herefordshire has the fourth lowest population density in England (approximately 189,000 
residents across 842 square miles) and, as such, the council faces specific challenges and 
additional costs in the delivery of services to sparsely populated communities: provider market 
insufficiency, a higher proportion of older residents with increased demand for services, limited 
access to health and support services, difficulties in the recruitment of health care and social 
workers and greater distances to access residents increasing costs in the provision of waste 
services, transport and social care.  

29. Further emphasis on deprivation targeted was announced in the Policy Statement through the 
continuation of 2025/26 Recovery Grant allocations, directing £600 million of funding to areas 
of high deprivation to provide “un-ringfenced funding to areas with greater need and demand 
for services” using the ratio of council taxbase as a proxy.  This had previously been identified 
as a one-off grant prior to the Fair Funding Review and proposed continuation of this, with an 

18



 

OFFICIAL 

unchanged distribution, was not included in the Consultation for consideration and response 
prior to the Provisional Settlement.   

30. In its response to the Policy Statement the Institute of Fiscal Studies (IFS), who peer-reviewed 
the work which informed the Fair Funding Review, highlighted the lack of transparency in the 
decision to retain the Recovery Grant stating: “it is difficult to see a principled basis for these 
decisions other than to achieve an overall allocation in line with the government’s subjective 
judgement.  Government should avoid such formula bypasses becoming a habit”.  The impact 
of this decision redirects £600 million of funding which would otherwise be available for 
distribution via the revised funding formulae and reduces the overall pot of funding and 
allocation for Herefordshire. 

31. The reduction in Central Government grant funding over the multi-year settlement period 
places increased pressure on the council to manage the impact of continuing growth in 
demand and cost for services.  It limits the council’s ability to build upon its strong financial 
position and maximise opportunities to deliver ambitious improvements for residents.  

32. The analysis below, prepared by the Rural Services Network, highlights how the council’s 
funding per head will be impacted by the Provisional Settlement.  This analysis highlights that 
Government funding per head of population (indexed to 2024/25 levels) will change over the 
multi-year Settlement period for all English local authorities, urban authorities, rural authorities 
and the individual change for Herefordshire Council. 

Figure 1: RSN Analysis of Government Funding per head 

 

33. Whilst urban authorities can expect a significant increase in Government funding per head 
compared with indexed 2024/25 funding (121% by 2028/29) and English local authorities 
(118% by 2028/29), the analysis shows the position for rural authorities with a minimal increase 
funding per head (103% by 2028/29) and Herefordshire’s position as drastically disadvantaged 
by the outcome of the Fair Funding Review (77% by 2028/29). 

34. Initial assessments by the RSN, comparing the most rural with the most urban councils 
indicates that: 

a. the most urban councils are expected to receive around 41% more per head in 
Government-funded spending power than the most rural councils in 2026/27; 

b. in 2026/27, residents in the most rural areas are projected to pay around 20% more in 
council tax on average than most urban residents; 

19



 

OFFICIAL 

c. by 2028/29, the most urban authorities’ spending power is expected to allow them to 
spend around £100 more per resident on services than the most rural councils; 

d. between 2024/25 and 2028/29, Government-funded spending power for the most urban 
authorities is estimated to rise by around 21%, compared with around 1% for the most 
rural councils; and  

e. by 2028/29, these changes would result in the most urban councils having around 8% 
more overall spending power than the most rural councils. 

35. The outcome of the Fair Funding Review has serious implications for the council’s funding 
position and delivery of services and improvements to residents over the medium-term period. 

Figure 2: RSN Analysis of Core Spending Power (CSP) per head 

 

 
 

Figure 3: RSN Analysis of Change in Core Spending Power per head 

 

 

 

Funding Sources 

36. The Provisional Settlement confirmed that the council tax referendum limits would remain 
unchanged The table below outlines the sources of funding included in the council’s draft 
revenue budget for 2026/27 with explanation of changes detailed in subsequent paragraphs. 

Funding Source 2025/26 
£’000 

2026/27 
£’000 

Council tax 146,451 153,657 

20



 

OFFICIAL 

Fair Funding Allocation (FFA) 
   of which: Baseline Funding Level 
   of which: Revenue Support Grant 
   of which: LA Better Care Fund Grant* 

  
30,149 
41,867 

- 

Legacy Funding Allocation (LFA) 
   of which: Legacy Business Rates 
   of which: Legacy Grant Funding 
   of which: LA Better Care Fund Grant 

 
47,567 
29,085 
1,585 

 
 

Business rates surplus income 2025/26 - 1,400 

Enterprise zone business rates income 1,282 1,750 

Extended producer responsibility grant* 3,538 - 

Collection fund surplus 2,000 2,000 

Business rates risk reserve - 3,233 

TOTAL 231,508 234,056 

*accounted for within Directorate net budgets in 2026/27 

Council Tax Income 

37. The Provisional Settlement confirmed that the council tax referendum limits would remain 
unchanged for 2026/27: councils with social care responsibilities are permitted to increase 
council tax by up to 3% with an additional 2% to meet adult social care pressures, without a 
local referendum. 

38. Each 1% increase in council tax generates approximately £1.5 million of recurrent funding to 
meet demand pressures and deliver the council’s services. The proposed draft revenue budget 
for 2026/27 assumes the maximum increase of 4.99% in 2026/27. 

39. In February 2024, Council unanimously approved the implementation of council tax premiums 
for empty properties and second homes in line with regulation and guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State.  Total council tax income of £153.7 million in the 2026/27 draft revenue 
budget includes estimated income of £3.1 million in premiums applied to second homes and 
empty properties.   

40. This estimate is informed by the number of dwellings confirmed as second homes or empty 
dwellings and the duration of the property’s status, as per billing data as at November 2025.  A 
series of verification checks to confirm occupancy and ownership status has been undertaken 
during 2025/26 to provide assurance in respect of the value of this budgeted income.  A range 
of compliance measures are in place and will be strengthened during 2026/27 to ensure that 
council tax premiums are charged on all relevant dwellings. 

Fair Funding Assessment (FFA) & Business Rates Retention  

41. The Fair Funding Assessment (FFA), previously known as the Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA), is the sum of the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Baseline Funding Level, including 
previously separate grants now proposed to be consolidated or ‘rolled in’ to the FFA.   

42. In addition to business rates income, the council also receives a number of other grants which 
Central Government include within the determination of local authority Core Spending Power.  
As a result of the fundamental review of funding allocations and method of distribution through 
FFR, the council’s breakdown of CSP has changed substantially in 2026/27 and many grants 
have been rolled into the council’s Settlement Funding Assessment.  This restricts comparison 
of funding sources with previous years’ allocations. 

43. Grants previously distributed and accounted for as funding separate from CSP are now part of 
the Revenue Support Grant and these include: Section 31 Business Rates grants, New Homes 
Bonus, Social Care Grant, Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund, Domestic Abuse Safe 

21



 

OFFICIAL 

Accommodation Grant, Employer National Insurance Contributions Grant, War Pensions 
Disregard Grant, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Grant and Virtual Schools Head Grant.   

44. The Public Health Ringfenced Grant remains a separate funding source and the value of grant 
in 2026/27 of £12.2 million (£10.8 million received in 2025/26) consolidates four separate 
grants into the total allocation, with additional ringfenced expenditure requirements in respect 
of smoking cessation (£0.4 million) and drugs and alcohol treatment and recovery services 
(£2.8 million). 

45. The Children, Families and Youth grant consolidates five funding streams into a single 
consolidated grant including: Children’s Social Care Prevention Grant, Families First 
Partnership programme funding, Holidays, Activities and Food (HAF) Grant, the Pupil Premium 
Plus Post-16 Grant and new funding for children’s social care reform per the Spending Review 
announcement and Policy Statement.   

46. Of these grants, the Holidays, Activities and Food (HAF) Grant, the Pupil Premium Plus Post-
16 Grant are outside of Core Spending Power. 

Business Rates Income 

47. The total value of business rates due is collected by the council, paid to Government and 
redistributed back to the council via a formula grant mechanism under the Business Rate 
Retention Scheme (BRRS).  Business rates income collected by the council is accounted for 
separately from the council’s revenue budget in the Collection Fund.   

48. The Business Rates Retention Scheme has been reset as part of the Fair Funding Review.  
The resetting of Business Rates Baselines from 1 April 2026 aims to ensure funding is targeted 
where it is needed most; the balance between aligning funding with need and rewarding 
business rates growth.   

49. The 2026 reset will be delivered alongside significant changes to the business rates tax 
system.  New business rate multipliers will be introduced into the business rates system, with 
the introduction of additional business rates multipliers, and a revaluation of business rates will 
also be delivered.  

50. The business rates reset has resulted in a reduced budget for business rates income of £31.5 
million for 2026/27, comprising £30.1 million baseline funding level (assessed need) and £1.4 
million surplus from 2025/26.  This budget is significantly lower than the £47.6 million budgeted 
income in 2025/26 as a result of the system reforms as part of which £11.5 million has been 
rolled into the Revenue Support Grant for 2026/27, representing the above baseline growth in 
2025/26 plus the compensation for under-indexing the multiplier in previous years. 

Business Rates Pooling 

51. In 2023/24 the council joined the Herefordshire and Worcestershire Business Rates Pool; a 
voluntary arrangement between a group of local authorities whereby their combined business 
rates income and any growth is collected as one common fund or ‘pool’.  This pool generates a 
saving in the levy returned to Central Government which can be distributed amongst members 
as determined by a Pooling Agreement; spreading the risk across a wider geographic and 
economic area to enable more business rate growth to be retained locally and shared by 
authorities within the pool.  

52. In the financial years 2023/24 to 2025/26, the council received additional benefit totalling £2.1 
million from the Business Rates Pool (£0.7 million in each of the three years 2023/24 to 
2025/26).  

22



 

OFFICIAL 

53. Due to the full reset of the BRRS and changes to levy and safety net calculations, the 
Herefordshire & Worcestershire Business Rates Pool will not continue in 2026/27 and the 
council will no longer benefit from pooling gains.  The council will continue to review pooling 
arrangements for 2027/28 to consider future options. 

Enterprise Zone Business Rates Income 

54. The council retains additional business rates income from the Hereford Enterprise Zone (HEZ).  
The HEZ was designated by Government as one of the 48 Enterprise Zones in 2012, designed 
to boost local growth and create jobs in specialist sectors including advance manufacturing and 
engineering, agri-food, business services, construction including built environment and 
security. 

55. Within these zones, businesses are able to benefit from incentives including: a business rate 
discount of up to 100% over 5 years, enhanced Capital Allowances (corporation tax relief) for 
machinery and equipment purchases and simplified planning regulations through Local 
Development Orders. 

56. Any growth in business rates above an agreed baseline (after reliefs and discounts) within the 
enterprise zone over a 25-year period, from April 2013, is retained by the council to be 
reinvested locally.  The 2026/27 revenue budget includes additional business rate income 
retained from the HEZ of £1.8 million.   

57. In 2025/26, a programme of initiatives and activity to support growth in skills, business and 
tourism was agreed by Cabinet, funded by additional rates collected and retained from HEZ 
businesses in the council’s Earmarked Reserves.  This separate allocation of £1.4 million will 
support economic growth and development locally with expenditure planned in 2025/26 and 
2026/27. 

Other Funding Sources: Extended Producer Responsibility Grant 

58. The council will receive an allocation of £4.2 million in 2026/27 from the extended producer 
responsibility for packaging (pEPR) scheme, first allocated to local authorities in 2025/26.  The 
extended producer responsibility for packaging (pEPR) regulation is part of the Environment 
Act 2021 and requires businesses to take responsibility for the packaging they sell in the UK, 
from the time it is placed on the market until it is disposed of.   

59. This funding is un-ringfenced compensation to cover local authority existing costs of recycling 
and disposal of packaging.  The council’s allocation has been included in the Economy & 
Environment net directorate budget in 2026/27 to support relevant costs for waste and 
recycling services.   

60. The November Policy Statement confirmed Government’s commitment to supporting local 
authorities to deliver weekly food waste collections with ongoing funding to be allocated 
through the Spending Review and provided in the Settlement rather than as a separate new 
burdens grant.    

61. This funding was not separately identifiable within the Settlement and, instead, is included in 
the overall Settlement Funding Assessment allocated to the council through the Fair Funding 
Review and the new funding formulae.    

62. A review of the requirements and contract arrangements is currently underway and activity and 
associated expenditure will be monitored during 2026/27 with costs above budget to be funded 
from the waste reserve in the first year of delivery. 

23



 

OFFICIAL 

Exceptional Financial Support (EFS) 

63. In the financial year 2025/26, Government agreed to provide Exceptional Financial Support 
(EFS) to 30 councils to manage their financial pressures and budget gaps (19 in 2024/25, 8 in 
2023/24 and 5 in 2022/23).  Of these 30, 6 had previously issued a Section 114 Notice (often 
referred to as a bankruptcy notice). 

64. Continuing pressures in costs and demand for services alongside changes in funding 
allocations mean that the sector is expecting a further increase in requests for support to 
manage financial pressures, with between 50 and 100 councils expected to apply for EFS to 
balance revenue budgets in 2026/27. 

65. EFS is a form of temporary financial assistance to support a council to meet its financial 
obligations and continue to deliver essential services.  The EFS framework allows councils to 
cover day-to-day running costs by borrowing or through the use of capital receipts generated 
from the sale of assets.  Councils granted EFS may also be given dispensation to increase 
council tax rates above the referendum threshold without a local referendum. 

66. The typical process for Government to assess requests for EFS is set out below: 

a. Formal request: A local authority approaches MHCLG (the Department) seeking EFS, 
typically via a capitalisation direction. The local authority provides the amount of 
capitalisation sought and the rationale behind why this is required. 

b. Assessment: The request is considered by the Department and includes an 
assessment of whether the authority has taken every possible step at local level to 
minimise the need for support to be funded by national taxpayers. 

c. Agreement of ‘in principle’ support: Subject to Ministerial decision, Ministers will 
write to the authority setting out that they are ‘minded to’ issue a capitalisation direction 
subject to certain conditions. These conditions typically include the authority being 
required to undergo an external assurance review. 

d. Confirmation and legal direction: Confirmation of legal directions is required to 
enable an authority and the external auditor to close its financial accounts for that year. 
There is not a set time of year when directions must be formalised. Previously, subject 
to demonstration that the authority has progressed against the conditions set out in the 
‘in-principle’ offer of support, directions have been formalised at the end, or just after 
the end of the financial year to which the capitalisation applies. When formal directions 
are issued, conditions are attached. 

Revenue Budget Proposals 2026/27 

67. The base budget proposed for 2026/27 is summarised below.  Directorate Savings Proposals 
are detailed at Appendix B and key revenue budget pressures, challenges and risks outlined in 
the individual Directorate Budget Position Statements at Appendix C. 

 
 
 

Detail 

2025/26 
Base 

Budget 
Unfunded 
Pressures  Mitigations Savings 

2026/27 
Proposed 

Budget  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Community and Wellbeing 90,366 9,396 (2,720) (7,375) 89,667 

Children and Young People 58,873 3,545 (657) (3,348) 58,413 

24



 

OFFICIAL 

Economy and Environment 40,992 7,303 (2,800) (7,204) 38,291 

Corporate Services 22,222 1,856 (53) (1,529) 22,496 

Sub Total 212,453 22,100 (6,230) (19,456) 208,867 

Central 19,055 7,196 (500) (498) 25,253 

TOTALS 231,508 29,296 (6,730) (19,954) 234,120 

Funded by:      

Council tax 146,451    153,657 

Legacy Funding Assessment (LFA) 78,237    - 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) 

   of which: Baseline Funding Level 

   of which: Revenue Support Grant     

 

30,149 

41,867 

Business rates surplus income -    1,400 

Enterprise zone business rates income 1,282    1,750 

Extended producer responsibility grant 3,538    - 

Collection fund surplus 2,000    2,000 

Business rates risk reserve funding -    3,297 

TOTALS 231,508    234,120 

Directorate Key Budget Pressures 2026/27 

68. A summary of pressures of £29.3 million included in the draft revenue budget for 2026/27, by 
Directorate, is noted in the table below.  

Pay Award: This pressure represents an impact of the estimated pay award for 2026/27 on 
staffing expenditure across each Directorate.  

Inflation: This pressure represents the impact of inflation across contractual and non-
contractual commitments in 2026/27. Inflation is estimated based on a variety of relevant 
inflation and price indices as well as contract specific rates.    

Demand: Demand pressures reflect additional demand for services based on most recent 
activity data and costs and adjustments to reflect trend analysis in each service area.  

Directorate Pay Inflation 
 

£’000 

Net growth in 
demand/activity 

£’000 

TOTAL 
 

£’000 

Community Wellbeing 447 8,949 9,396 

Children & Young People 520 3,025 3,545 

Economy & Environment 319 6,984 7,303 

Corporate Services 216 1,640 1,856 

Central Budgets - 7,196 7,196 

TOTAL 1,502 27,794 29,296 

 

 

Contract Inflation Fund  

69. Inflation estimated at £7.1 million in contracts for expenditure on supplies, services and third-
party payments for will not be allocated directly to services as an increase in Directorate base 
budgets in 2026/27.  

25



 

OFFICIAL 

70. Each Directorate has been set a target to manage inflationary pressures within Directorate 
budgets.  A centrally managed Contract Inflation Fund will be established in 2026/27 to 
manage inflationary increases which cannot be managed within Directorate budgets, with 
amounts transferred to Directorates through existing expenditure control processes when 
evidence of need has been demonstrated.   

71. The centrally managed fund will be established from Directorate Earmarked Reserve balances 
and balance sheet provision amounts which have been assessed as not committed for use or 
required to manage future expenditure. 

Reserve/provision TOTAL 
£’000 

Budget resilience reserve 4,200 

Additional pension costs reserve 547 

Uncommitted Economy & Environment directorate reserves 506 

Uncommitted Children & Young People directorate reserves 255 

Uncommitted Balance Sheet provisions/sums 1,564 

TOTAL 7,072 

72. This measure recognises the inflationary pressures in 2026/27 and makes adequate provision 
to meet the expenditure requirements of each Directorate whilst strengthening financial 
controls to ensure increased challenge and transparency over contract expenditure.  Inflation 
will only be awarded up to a maximum level, as previously estimated, and any efficiencies or 
reductions in inflation estimates realised will be retained in the Contract Inflation Fund to be 
carried forward for use in future years. 

Business Rates Risk Reserve Funding 

73. The draft revenue budget assumes funding of £3.2 million from the Business Rates Risk 
Reserve.  As reported in the council’s Earmarked Reserves and General Balances Policy 
Statement 2025/26, this reserve is held to manage risks in the business rate regime including 
the impact of changes in the level of business rates income and uncertainty over appeals. 

74. The audited reserve balance at 1 April 2025 was £13.3 million.  It is proposed that this reserve 
is used in 2026/27 to mitigate the loss of funding to the council through the Fair Funding 
Review; this being the risk that the reserve was established to mitigate.  Allocation of funding in 
2026/27 will reduce the reserve balance by £3.2 million. 

75. It is expected that further use of this reserve may be required over the multi-year Settlement 
period to manage continuing, further reductions in the council’s allocation of funding from 
Central Government.  The balance remaining in the reserve is considered appropriate to 
manage and mitigate future funding risks.   

Community Wellbeing 

76. The Directorate faces continued challenge in 2026/27 as a result of increasing complexity of 
need and intensity of care support for the county’s ageing population, increased demand for 
temporary accommodation, the impact of hospital high occupancy rates and an increase in the 
number of individuals unable to fund their own care linked to the impact of increases in the cost 
of living and inflation. 

77. The budget requirement for 2026/27 reflects future cost pressures including increasing 
demand, acuity and complexity of care and price inflation including general inflation and the 
impact of wage increases on health and social care provider contracts. 

78. The Directorate will continue to respond to these challenges in 2026/27 through control of 
costs to secure reductions across care contracts, managing demand through increased 
community engagement and review of care packages and increasing income, ensuring fair and 

26



 

OFFICIAL 

timely charges and contributions for services.  Savings proposals are detailed in the 
Community Wellbeing 2026/27 Directorate Budget Position Statement at Appendix C. 

79. As part of the council’s Future Financial Strategy, the council will work with external specialist 
partners in 2026/27 to identify, design and implement transformation activity that delivers 
sustainable, recurrent savings over the MTFS period.   

80. This will be undertaken through diagnostic work in early 2026/27 moving to an implementation 
phase to support the delivery of identified opportunities.  Diagnostic work will be informed by 
collection of detailed evidence and data to form the basis of an opportunities and 
transformation plan, including the complexities in addressing the key levers to effective 
change, and the gaps in data, technology, people and leadership to deliver required digital 
transformation. 

Children & Young People 

81. The 2024/25 revenue budget included additional investment of £10.8 million for Children & 
Young People services to provide sufficient funding to meet the costs of service delivery.  The 
increase in revenue budget was supported by a 3 Year Financial Plan which placed workforce 
stability and a reduction in high-cost placements as key priorities for the Directorate.  This plan 
identified proposed savings of £10.2 million over the three years from 2024/25 to 2026/27.   

Children & Young People 3 Year Financial Plan (as at 2024/25 Budget Setting) 

Planned activity/transformation 

Year 1 
2024/25 

£’000 

Year 2 
2025/26 

£’000 

Year 3 
2026/27 

£’000 

Total 
2024/25 

£’000 

Workforce savings  (1,344) (1,477) (933) (3,754) 

Reduction in high-cost placements (959) (3,894) (1,359) (6,212) 

SEN Transport efficiencies  (200) - - (200) 

TOTAL (2,503) (5,371) (2,292) (10,166) 
 

82. In 2025/26 the original savings plans were refreshed to ensure that planned activity was 
aligned to future improvements and service priorities, recognising progress to date and 
extending the plan to a 4-year plan covering 2024/25 to 2027/28.  The review identified realistic 
and achievable savings proposals of £3.9 million for 2025/26 resulting in total savings in Years 
1 and 2 of £6.4 million (63% of the required savings per the original Financial Plan). 

83. Savings proposed for 2026/27 of £3.9 million represent continued reductions in the number of 
agency social workers and agency hourly pay rates, management of high-cost placements and 
delivery of efficiencies through reshaping of services.  These proposals are detailed in the 
Children & Young People 2026/27 Directorate Budget Position Statement at Appendix C.  

84. The total of savings delivered and proposed for the Directorate over the original three-year plan 
period is £9.8 million.  In addition to the delivery of savings, the Revenue Outturn Report 
presented to Cabinet in June 2025 confirms the Children & Young People Directorate delivered 
an underspend of £2.7 million against approved budget in 2024/25.  This identifies that the 
Directorate has delivered on its commitment to reduce the base budget requirement and return 
the investment originally approved by full Council in the 2024/25 Revenue Budget. 

85. Savings requirements in future years in the Children & Young People Directorate will form part 
of the wider council savings proposals for 2027/28 and onwards, as the savings targets per the 
original 3 Year Financial Plan have been met.  

27



 

OFFICIAL 

Summary of savings delivered and proposed 2024/25 to 206/27 

 
Total 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

Total 3 Year Financial Plan savings (approved 2024/25)  10,166 

2024/25 Year 1 savings (delivered)  2,503  

2025/26 Year 2 savings (forecast)  3,929  

2026/27 Year 3 savings (proposed)  3,348  

Total revised savings 9,780  

2024/25 Revenue Outturn underspend 2,721  

TOTAL return by Directorate 12,501  
 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

86. The cumulative DSG deficit is accounted for as an unusable reserve on the council’s Balance 
Sheet, as permitted via statutory instrument, which will remain in place until 31 March 2028. 
This enables all local authorities to ring-fence the DSG deficit from the overall financial position 
in the statutory accounts.   

87. The Provisional Settlement published in December 2025 advised that, beyond the period of the 
statutory override, funding for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) will be 
managed within the overall Central Government departmental expenditure limits (DEL) 
envelope such that local authorities would not be expected to fund future special educational 
needs costs from general funds.   

88. In respect of DSG deficits which will continue to increase during the override period, the 
Settlement highlighted government’s expectation that councils will continue to work to keep 
deficits as low as possible.  Whilst it is not expected that the council will be required to meet 
the cumulative deficit at 31 March 2028, in full, from its own resources, confirmation of specific 
arrangements and conditions attached to future support have not yet been provided.  

89. Government has confirmed that it will bring forward a full Schools White Paper early in the new 
year to set out financially sustainable plans for reform of SEND provision.  The council awaits 
confirmation of adequate funding for SEND services in Herefordshire and a real solution to 
address the cumulative DSG deficit at the end of the statutory override period in March 2028 to 
minimise the impact on the council’s financial position. 

90. It should be noted that this issue is a major concern amongst local authorities nationally.  A 
survey by the Association of Local Authority Treasurers (ALATS) reveals the nationwide deficit 
currently exceeds £6.0 billion across English councils, projected to rise to £10.0 billion by 
2026/27 and £14.0 billion by the end of the statutory override period. 

91. Whilst future deficits would not accrue beyond the end of the statutory override period, the 
requirement to recognise historic, cumulative deficits of £14.0 billion across the sector is likely 
to result in many local authorities issuing Section 114 notices being unable to set a balanced 
revenue budget. 

92. At 1 April 2025, the cumulative deficit brought forward was £20.0 million. The Q2 (September) 
2025/26 forecast reports an overspend of £17.5 million within the High Needs block of the 
DSG; increasing the cumulative deficit to £37.5 million by 31 March 2026.  A focused review to 
quantify the impact of emerging demand in 2026/27 and future years is currently underway to 

28



 

OFFICIAL 

inform the council’s DSG Deficit Management Plan. It is expected that this will increase the 
forecast deficit by 31 March 2027.  

93. This cumulative deficit has a further impact on the council’s treasury position as general cash 
balances are used to meet the in-year costs of SEND provision not funded by Central 
Government.  The depletion of cash balances forces the council to undertake increased 
external borrowing, incurring increased interest costs which create pressure in the annual 
revenue budget. 

94. Measures to contain the deficit and mitigate future cost and demand pressures continue to be 
managed by the Service through the DSG Deficit Management Plan and the financial impact of 
agreed mitigations will be monitored and reported throughout the year as part of the council’s 
routine budget monitoring processes. 

95. Any deficit not funded through planned SEND reform and support from Central Government 
will have a significant impact on the council’s overall financial position once the override period 
ends on 31 March 2028.  This risk is being managed alongside the assessment of the 
adequacy of the council’s reserves, as part of the council’s medium term financial strategy. 

Economy & Environment 

96. The Directorate will be sufficiently resourced to support growth in the economy in 2026/27 and 
delivery of major and capital projects.  The Directorate will embed the new operating model for 
public realm services and continue to manage pressures in the operation of waste collection 
and disposal contracts arising due to growth in the volume of domestic waste and inflationary 
increases in the Unitary Payments. 

97. Savings proposed for 2026/27 of £7.2 million will be achieved by maximising commercial 
activity and returns from traded services to increase income, managing demand by increased 
engagement with communities and partners and delivering efficiencies by maximising the 
application of grant funding.  These proposals are detailed in the Economy & Environment 
2026/27 Directorate Budget Position Statement at Appendix C.  

Home to School and SEND Transport 

98. There are significant pressures in the provision of mainstream home to school transport and 
SEND transport services nationally, being experienced in Herefordshire.  Growth in Education, 
Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) for SEND students and increases in more costly travel such 
as individual taxis and passenger assistants, intensify the challenge of delivering services 
within approved budgets. 

99. The Provisional Settlement notes that Government intends to set out plans to reform the SEND 
system in further detail early this year.  Ahead of any substantive reform, the council must 
continue to manage increasing demand and cost pressures in transport services by identifying 
innovative strategies to: 

 influence demand using data to understand user requirements;  

 maximise independence and reduce reliance on council transport services; and   

 employ digital technologies to maximise opportunities to consolidate routes and deliver 
efficient journeys.   

100. An external review was commissioned by the Chief Executive in 2025/26 to identify efficiencies 
across the council’s transport routes, reduce costs and introduce a new operating model for 
transport services.  The outcome of this review is expected to deliver savings of £0.5 million in 
2025/26 and, as work continues, an additional savings target of £2.0 million is proposed in the 
2026/27 draft revenue budget. 

29



 

OFFICIAL 

Corporate Services 

101. The budget requirement for 2026/27 reflects investment in the Corporate Services Directorate 
to support continued delivery of service improvements and transformation across the council; 
enabling the delivery of major and capital projects and providing high quality corporate services 
to support delivery of Council Plan priorities across Finance, Legal & Governance, HR & 
Organisational Development and Transformation teams.  

102. The Corporate Services budget includes an allocation of £1,000 per Ward Member to allocate 
to community groups and projects within their Ward area in 2026/27 to align to the priorities of 
the Council Plan. 

103. Transformation expenditure in the Corporate Services Directorate will be mitigated in 2026/27 
through the application of £0.6 million of capital receipts.  This application is permitted by 
statutory Direction and the council is required to evidence compliance with qualifying conditions 
to its external auditors.  The qualifying expenditure will generate efficiencies, ongoing savings 
and reductions in the cost of service delivery.  The proposed application in 2026/27 represents 
modest use of this flexibility by the council. 

Central  

104. The Central budget comprises financing transactions, Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and 
other corporate budget items including: pension costs, costs in respect of the administration of 
housing benefit and council tax and business rate collections and income from the council’s 
business rate pooling arrangement.  This budget is informed by planned delivery of the 
council’s Capital Programme, the council’s Treasury Management Strategy, routine cashflow 
monitoring and the external borrowing requirement. 

Delivery of approved and brought forward savings in 2025/26 

105. Council approved a total of £19.5 million of savings in the 2024/25 revenue budget, comprising 
Directorate savings of £11.6 million and £7.9 million of Council-wide savings. In the year ended 
31 March 2025, £10.9 million (56%) of the approved savings were delivered.   

106. Savings not delivered recurrently in previous years have been carried forward into 2025/26 for 
continued monitoring of delivery. As set out in the 2024/25 Quarter 4 Outturn Report to Cabinet 
in June 2025, a focused review of the original proposals and planned activity has been 
undertaken during Quarter 1 and revised savings plans have been developed, where 
appropriate, to confirm activity to deliver savings in 2025/26. 

107. The council has made significant progress in the delivery of approved savings for 2025/26 and 
savings brought forward from previous financial years as reported in the Quarter 2 Budget 
Report presented to Cabinet at the meeting held 20 November 2025.  At Quarter 2 
(September) 2025/26, 51% of total savings have been delivered, with a further 40% assessed 
as on target for delivery and the balance of 9% assessed to be at risk. 

Proposed Directorate Savings 2026/27 

108. Total savings of £20.0 million are proposed in the 2026/27 budget.  These savings include a 
range of proposals to: 

a. Control costs of service delivery 

b. Increase income from fees and charges   

c. Manage demand for council services in high-cost, demand-led budgets 

30



 

OFFICIAL 

d. Deliver efficiencies through review and transformation of services 

 
Directorate Control of 

costs 
£’000 

Managing 
Demand 

£’000 

Increasing 
Income 

£’000 

Delivering 
Efficiencies 

£’000 

TOTAL 
 

£’000 

Community Wellbeing 4,100 455 1,620 1,200 7,375 

Children & Young People 1,310 1,966 - 72 3,348 

Economy & Environment 2,875 500 1,200 2,629 7,204 

Corporate Services* 1,449 - - 578 2,027 

TOTAL 9,734 2,921 2,820 4,479 19,954 
*includes Central Budgets 

 

109. Details of individual proposals and a description of planned activity for Directorate savings are 
included at Appendix B and in individual Directorate Budget Position Statements at Appendix 
C.   

110. The process to identify savings for 2026/27 included a review of discretionary, preventative, 
enabling and mandatory services and the levels of service provision by reference to legislative 
and regulatory requirements.  This review considered options to stop, reduce or identify 
alternative funding sources for non-mandatory services, opportunities for savings and 
efficiencies in services with cost pressures, and options to increase income generated from 
services where permitted. 

111. Delivery of savings at a time of increasing demand and budget pressures remains a significant 
challenge for the council.  The challenging savings target set, and the difficult decisions taken 
to deliver efficiencies in both services and the size and shape of the council, form the basis of 
council’s Future Financial Strategy, to ensure a financial stable and resilient council.  This 
strategy is underpinned by robust financial management and continued expenditure controls, 
accuracy in forecasting and effective collaboration between service and finance teams. 

Community impact 

112. The draft budget demonstrates how the council plans to use its financial resources to deliver its 
statutory responsibilities and strategic priorities. The budget and savings proposals support the 
overall delivery plan and service delivery strategies in place.  

113. In accordance with the adopted code of corporate governance, the council achieves its 
intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory and practical interventions. 
Determining the right mix of these is an important strategic choice to make to ensure intended 
outcomes are achieved. The council needs robust decision-making mechanisms to ensure our 
outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best use of resources while still enabling 
efficient and effective operations.   

Environmental Impact 

114. The council provides and purchases a wide range of services for the people of Herefordshire. 
Together with partner organisations in the private, public and voluntary sectors we share a 
strong commitment to improving our environmental sustainability, achieving carbon neutrality 
and to protect and enhance Herefordshire’s outstanding natural environment.  

115. Whilst this overarching budget setting document will not detail specific environmental impacts, 
consideration is always made to minimising waste and resource use in line with the council’s 
Environmental Policy. A specific environmental impact assessment for the service specific 
budget proposals will be considered as appropriate to seek to minimise any adverse 

31



 

OFFICIAL 

environmental impact and actively seek opportunities to improve and enhance environmental 
performance. 

Equality duty 

116. Equality Impact Assessments for the savings options and budget proposals will be made 
available as part of the 2026/27 Draft Revenue Budget Report appendices ahead of the 
meeting of Cabinet on 20 January 2026. 

Resource implications 

117. The financial implications are as set out in the report. The ongoing operational costs including, 
human resources, information technology and property resource requirements are included in 
the draft budget and will be detailed in separate governance decision reports as appropriate.  

118. The council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness from its resources.  This includes taking properly informed 
decisions and managing key operational and financial risks in order to deliver objectives and 
safeguard public money. 

119. Under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the council’s external auditors are required 
to assess whether the council has made proper arrangements under three areas, as defined by 
the National Audit Office: Financial Sustainability, Governance and Improving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

120. For the 2024/25 financial year, the council was the first council in the country to receive an 
audit opinion on the financial statements and its value for money arrangements by 30 
September 2025. 

121. The Auditor’s Annual Report for 2024/25 notes that there are no significant weaknesses in 
respect of arrangements for financial planning, alignment of financial plans to other operational 
planning and in identifying and managing risks to financial resilience. These arrangements, 
assessed by external audit, underpin the 2026/27 budget setting process to support the 
preparation of a realistic balanced budget. 

122. The audit report highlights an improvement recommendation in respect of the achievement of 
savings in 2024/25.  The council has made significant progress in the delivery of approved 
savings for 2025/26 and savings brought forward from previous financial years and this is 
noted in the Quarter 2 Budget Report presented to Cabinet 20 November 2025 and highlighted 
above in this report.  

123. The audit report, and the timely unqualified opinion on the 2024/25 financial statements, 
provide valuable, independent assurance that the council has robust financial planning 
arrangements in place to identify all significant financial pressures and risks to financial 
resilience and to support the sustainable delivery of services in accordance with strategic and 
statutory priorities. 

Legal implications 

124. When setting the budget it is important that councillors are aware of the legal requirements and 
obligations. Councillors are required to act prudently when setting the budget and council tax 
so that they act in a way that considers local taxpayers. This also covers the impact on future 
taxpayers. 

32



 

OFFICIAL 

125. In acting prudently, the council has an obligation to determine whether any planned council 
increase is excessive (based on a set of principles defined by the Secretary of State and 
approved by the House of Commons).  

126. The level of council tax rise does not meet the definition of an excessive increase so can be 
approved without the need for a referendum. 

127. The Local Government Finance Act 1992 requires a council to set a balanced budget. To do 
this the council must prepare a budget that covers not only the expenditure but also the 
funding to meet the proposed budget. The budget has to be fully funded and the income from 
all sources must meet the expenditure. 

128. Best estimates must be employed so that all anticipated expenditure and resources are 
identified. If the budget includes unallocated savings or unidentified income then these have to 
be carefully handled to demonstrate that these do not create a deficit budget.  An intention to 
set a deficit budget is not permitted under local government legislation. 

129. The council must decide every year how much they are going to raise from council tax. The 
decision is based on a budget that sets out estimates of what is planned to be spent on 
services. Because the level of council tax is set before the year begins and cannot be 
increased during the year, risks and uncertainties have to be considered, that might force 
higher spending more on the services than planned. Allowance is made for these risks by: 
making prudent allowance in the estimates for services and ensuring that there are adequate 
reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn out to be insufficient. 

130. Local government legislation requires the council’s S151 officer to make a report to the full 
Council meeting when it is considering its budget and council tax. The report must deal with the 
robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget 
proposals (the statement is contained within the risk management section of this report). This 
is done so that members will have authoritative advice available to them when they make their 
decisions. As part of the Local Government Act 2003 members have a duty to determine 
whether they agree with the S151 statutory report. 

131. The council’s budget and policy framework rules require that the chairpersons of a scrutiny 
committee shall take steps to ensure that the relevant committee work programmes include 
any budget and policy framework plan or strategy, to enable scrutiny members to inform and 
support the process for making Cabinet proposals to Council. 

132. Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 precludes a councillor from voting on 
the Council’s budget if he or she has an outstanding council tax debt of over two months. If a 
councillor who is precluded from voting is present at any meeting at which relevant matters are 
discussed, he or she must disclose that section 106 applies and may not vote. Failure to 
comply is a criminal offence. 

Risk management 
 

133. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the S151 officer to report to Council 
when it is setting the budget and precept (council tax). Council is required to take this report 
into account when making its budget and precept decision. The report must deal with the 
robustness of the estimates included in the budget and the adequacy of reserves. 

134. The budget has been informed by the best available information; current spending, anticipated 
pressures and estimates in respect of the provisional 2026/27 funding settlement. 

33



 

OFFICIAL 

135. The known most substantial risks have been assessed as part of the budget process and 
reasonable mitigation has been made where possible. Risks will be monitored through the year 
and reported to cabinet as part of the budget monitoring process. 

136. The council maintains a general fund reserve balance above the minimum requirement, 
earmarked reserves and an annual contingency budget to manage these risks. 

137. Key financial risks and mitigating actions are noted in the table below.  The impact measure 
refers to the potential financial severity of each identified risk. 

Key Financial 
Risk 

Likelihood Impact 
(Potential 
Severity) 

Mitigating Action 

Unexpected 
events and 
emergencies 
By its nature, the 
financial risk is 
uncertain 

Low High The Council maintains a strategic reserve at a 
level of between 3 and 5% of its revenue 
budget for emergency purposes.  The level of 
this reserve at 1 April 2025 was £10.1 million 
(4.4% of 2025/26 revenue budget).  
Additionally, national resources have 
historically been provided to support national 
issues. 
 

Not delivering 
required 
improvements 
The council must 
address the 
statutory direction 
and improvements 
across Children’s 
Services 

Low Medium Improvements in Children’s Services have 
been recognised with an overall ‘Good’ rating 
by Ofsted following the Inspection of Local 
Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) that took 
place from 10 to 21 November 2021.  
 
Phase 3 of the Herefordshire Children’s 
Services and Partnership Improvement Plan 
was endorsed by Cabinet in July 2025.  
Performance against the Improvement Plan is 
monitored and reported on a quarterly basis.  
 

Increasing 
demand for Adult 
and Children’s 
Social Care 
Demand for 
Children’s services 
continue and 
demand for adult 
services increases 
as the population 
ages. 

High Medium 
 
 
 

Demand led pressures are reflected within our 
spending plans; additional funding to support 
increased demand has been applied to 
Community Wellbeing and Children & Young 
People Directorate base budgets for 2026/27. 
In year monitoring of performance enables 
Directorates to forecast trends and identify 
changes in demand. 
 
Increasing demand for social care represents a 
key financial pressure for all councils. Robust 
and regular budget monitoring identifies 
emerging pressures and the financial impact 
on in-year budgets across the council.  
Financial monitoring is informed by activity 
data and trend analysis from the relevant 
service to ensure that forecasting is reliable 
and timely. 
 

Potential 
overspend and 
non-delivery of 
savings required 
to balance the 
budget 

Medium Medium High risk budget areas have been identified 
and financial support is targeted in these 
areas. Robust and regular financial monitoring 
which is reported to Directorate and Corporate 
Leadership Teams and Cabinet enables the 
timely identification of actions to mitigate the 
risk of overspends.  

34



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Volatility in 
Government 
funding streams 
The government 
settlement for 
2026/27 is a multi-
year settlement; 
the assumed 
funding for the 
MTFS period is at 
levels per the 
Provisional 
Settlement. 

High  Medium The MTFS reflects prudent estimates and 
assumptions in the financial planning over the 
medium-term period where it is acknowledged 
that uncertainty over future funding exists. 
 
The MTFS will be updated to reflect the impact 
for the council of the multi-year Settlement and 
in-year funding allocations as further 
information is released. 
 

Interest and 
Inflation 
There is 
uncertainty over 
interest and 
inflation rates. 
 

Medium Medium The Treasury Management Strategy is 
informed by latest forecast, as provided by our 
Treasury Management Advisors.  Increases in 
borrowing rates will be managed by reference 
to in-year approved budgets in line with the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 

Dedicated 
Schools Grant 
The future 
cumulative deficit 
requires direct 
financial support 
from council core 
budgets if the 
period of statutory 
override is not 
extended beyond 
31 March 2028. 
 

High Medium The high needs budgets are funded by the 
dedicated schools grant, but any overspend 
becomes a council liability.  
This risk cannot currently be mitigated; 
expenditure will be monitored as part of routine 
budget monitoring arrangements and the 
council will continue to work with the 
Department for Education and monitor 
progress against the DSG Deficit Management 
Plan. 
This represents a significant local and national 
pressure and urgent reform is required.  Plans  
to reform funding arrangements and a future 
decision on the statutory override to manage 
the national deficit and minimise the impact on 
local authority financial positions are expected 
in early 2026. 
 

Budget Timetable 

138. The high-level timetable to approval of the 2026/27 revenue budget by Council is set out 
below: 

Date Activity 

20 January 2026 Draft 2026/27 revenue budget to Cabinet 

23 January 2026 Meeting of Scrutiny Management Board to consider revenue 
budget for 2026/27 

5 February 2026 Meeting of Cabinet to recommend 2026/27 revenue budget to 
Council 

Early Feb Final Local Government Finance Settlement 

13 February 2026 Meeting of Council to approve 2026/27 revenue budget 

  

35



 

OFFICIAL 

Consultees 

139. The council’s constitution states that budget consultees should include parish councils, health 
partners, the schools’ forum, business ratepayers, council taxpayers, the trade unions, political 
groups on the council, the scrutiny committees and such other organisations and persons as 
the Leader shall determine.  

140. Regular briefings to share information on the potential outcome of the fair funding review and 
its impact on the council’s revenue budget and capital programme, have been delivered to 
Group Leaders, and their political groups, Scrutiny Committee Members and council 
employees throughout the 2026/27 budget development process. 

141. In 2026/27, the council invited residents and stakeholders to consider funding choices and the 
impact of changes in income and expenditure on the delivery of services through an online 
budget consultation.  Engagement also asked for feedback on priorities for the 2026/27 budget 
and council tax increase options.  The consultation ran from 9 December 2025 to 4 January 
2026. 

142. The results of consultation activities will be included in the updated 2026/27 Budget Report for 
the meeting of Cabinet on 5 February 2026. 

143. Scrutiny Management Board will be consulted with on 23 January 2026; any resulting 
recommendations will be considered by Cabinet ahead of its scheduled meeting on 5 February 
2026.  

Appendices 

Appendix A: Medium Term Financial Strategy  
Appendix B: Total Directorate Savings Proposals 2026/27 
Appendix C: Directorate Budget Position Statements  
Appendix D: Treasury Management Strategy  

Background papers 

None identified. 
 
 

36



Appendix A 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2026/27 TO 2029/30 

Introduction 

1.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is the council’s key financial planning 
document and sets out the council’s budget for 2026/27 and the financial plan for the years 
to 2029/30.  The strategy sets out how the council’s priorities will be funded over the MTFS 
period and the financial risks and pressures that must be mitigated in order to successfully 
deliver corporate objectives. 

1.2 This MTFS provides the strategic framework for managing the council’s finances and 
ensures that: 

 resources are aligned to achieve corporate objectives detailed in the County Plan 
over the medium/longer term; and  

 the Revenue Budget, Capital Investment Budget, Treasury Management Strategy 
and required Prudential Indicators are appropriately aligned.  

 
1.3 The council has a gross expenditure budget of around £400 million which is used to deliver 

services to nearly 200,000 residents across rural villages and market towns.  These services 
include maintenance of over 2,000 miles of roads, collection of over 89,000 residential bins, 
safeguarding around 1,000 children (including 400 in our care) and providing care and 
support to approximately 2,500 vulnerable adults.   

1.4 The council employs over 1,200 staff and supports many more local jobs through contacts 
with local business.  The local economy combines long-standing agriculture and food 
production industries alongside innovative businesses in cyber and technology, construction 
and engineering. 

1.5 The council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness from its resources.  This includes taking properly informed 
decisions and managing key operational and financial risks in order to deliver objectives and 
safeguard public money.  Using resources wisely is a core principal of financial management 
and the council continues to identify efficiencies in service delivery and maximise purchasing 
power to ensure value for money is achieved for the residents and businesses of 
Herefordshire.  

1.6 The Herefordshire Council Plan 2024-28 sets out how the council will make its contribution 
to achieving success across the county; delivering the best for Herefordshire in all areas of 
service delivery and developing a council that engages with the communities it serves. 

1.7 The Plan sets out the vision for the future, with a focus on key priorities of People, Place, 
Growth and Transformation, with partnership working at the core of all activity.  The themes 
and ambitions which underpin the Council Plan inform the financial plans including the annual 
budget and MTFS.  

1.8 The MTFS proposes a balanced revenue budget which totals £234.1 million for 2026/27; 
achieved by a 4.99% increase in council tax and planned savings of £20.0 million.  The net 
revenue budget for 2026/27 is detailed at Annex A.  

3

AGENDA ITEM 7

37



National and Local Financial Risk 

Wider Economic Context 

2.1 The UK economy remains challenging following a prolonged period of high interest rates and 
relatively volatile inflation, caused by the global pandemic and the subsequent impact of 
increases in the cost of living.  UK growth is stagnant, with Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 
at 0.7% for quarter 1 and 0.2% for quarter 2 in 2025. 

2.2 Domestic inflation rates are elevated in comparison to the target rate of 2.0%. Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) has been between 3.2% and 3.8% since April 2025. CPI inflation is 
expected to decrease to 2.5% in April 2026, falling to 1.8% by the end of the financial year.   

2.3 These economic factors, alongside increases in demand for adult and children’s social care 
and home to school travel services, place unprecedented pressures on the council’s MTFS 
during a period of uncertainty around future funding arrangements for local government. 

2.4 The MTFS is informed by the estimated impact of these pressures on council budgets at the 
time of preparation.  They remain estimates which are subject to change and will continue to 
be reviewed over the medium term planning period. 

Core Government Funding 

2.5 The Local Government Settlement for 2025/26 received in December 2025 represents a 
multi-year settlement outlining multiple years’ allocations of funding covering the three-year 
period from 2026/27 to 2028/29.  Funding allocations for the settlement period have been 
determined through the Fair Funding Review 2.0. 

2.6 Council Tax: The Provisional Settlement confirmed that the council tax referendum limits 
would remain unchanged for 2026/27: councils with social care responsibilities are permitted 
to increase council tax by up to 3% with an additional 2% to meet adult social care pressures, 
without a local referendum.   

2.7 Each 1% increase in council tax generates approximately £1.5 million of recurrent funding to 
meet demand pressures and deliver the council’s services. The proposed draft revenue 
budget for 2026/27 assumes the maximum increase of 4.99% in 2026/27: 2.99% increase in 
core council tax and a 2% adult social care precept.  

2.8 This increases the band D equivalent charge to £2,067.63, representing an increase of £8.19 
per month (£1.89 per week).At the proposed level of increase, the total Council Tax income 
for the council is expected to increase by £7.2 million to £153.7 million. 

2.9 The maximum level of local Council Tax Reduction scheme discount, approved by Council 
in 2021/22, has been maintained in all subsequent years to ensure that eligible households 
receive support as the impact of the rising cost of living continues. 

2.10 Business Rates: The Business Rates Retention Scheme has been reset as part of the Fair 
Funding Review.  The resetting of Business Rates Baselines from 1 April 2026 aims to 
ensure funding is targeted where it is needed most; the balance between aligning funding 
with need and rewarding business rates growth.   

2.11 The 2026 reset will be delivered alongside significant changes to the business rates tax 
system.  New business rate multipliers will be introduced into the business rates system, with 
the introduction of additional business rates multipliers, and a revaluation of business rates 
will also be delivered. 

2.12 The business rates reset has resulted in a reduced budget for business rates income of £31.5 
million for 2026/27, comprising £30.1 million baseline funding level (assessed need) and £1.4 
million surplus from 2025/26.  This budget is significantly lower than the £47.6 million 

438



budgeted income in 2025/26 as a result of the system reforms as part of which £11.5 million 
has been rolled into the Revenue Support Grant for 2026/27, representing the above 
baseline growth in 2025/26 plus the compensation for under-indexing the multiplier in 
previous years. 

2.13 Fees & Charges: The council generates income to fund service delivery by charging for the 
services it provides to residents and businesses.  Aside from income generation from locally 
raised taxes, this is an increasingly important source of funding.  Fees and charges are within 
the direct control of the council to set and uplift, subject to any legislative, economic and 
political considerations. 

2.14 Alongside an annual review and uplift of fees and charges, work to ensure maximum service 
cost recovery and to identify new commercial opportunities across Directorates continues as 
part of wider transformation activity across the council.   

Local Context 

2.15 In 2025/26, Directorate teams have continued to deliver key priorities and Delivery Plan 
milestones whilst providing increased support to recognise the impact of the increasing costs 
of living on residents and businesses in the county.  In addition, the council has made 
significant progress in the delivery of capital projects. 

2.16 Planned savings will be achieved through control of costs of service delivery, increasing 
income from fees and charges, managing demand for services in high-cost, demand-led 
budgets and delivering efficiencies through transformation of services. 

2.17 Year-on-year timely completion and independent audit of the council’s statutory accounts 
provide assurance over the arrangements in place to provide complete, accurate and timely 
financial statements and the appropriateness of the council’s accounting policies and 
accounting estimates. 

2.18 The council’s financial position is stable with above average reserve levels compared with 
similar unitary authorities, low levels of borrowing, positive cashflow and high liquidity and 
robust financial planning arrangements to identify and manage risks to financial resilience.  

Projected Funding Gap over MTFS Period 

3.1 The MTFS develops a series of financial projections to quantify the estimated funding gap 
and determine the medium term financial implications must be addressed in order to continue 
to deliver council services and strategic priorities. 

3.2 To develop these projections, the current year base budget is inflated to reflect estimated 
price increases across services and goods with additional amounts to include unavoidable 
spending pressures and the financial impacts of council priorities and decisions.  The 
adjusted base budget is measured against the estimated funding available to determine the 
future funding gap. 

3.3 The projections below, and detailed at Annex B, reflect a funding gap for the medium-term 
period 2026/27 to 2029/30 of £83.4 million.  This is an estimate of the financial gap between 
what the council needs to spend to maintain services delivery and the funding available.  This 
reflects inflationary costs included as base budget increases from 2027/28 which are not 
currently matched by increases in core Government funding. 

  

539



Table 1 Projected Funding Gap to 2029/30 

 Proposed 
2026/27 

Estimate 
2027/28 

Estimate 
2028/29 

Estimate 
2029/30 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Total Funding 234,120 238,331 242,359 253,200 

     

Net Expenditure Budget 234,120 258,902 273,374 285,032 

     

Surplus/(Gap) to be funded - (20,571) (31,015) (31,832) 

Surplus/(Gap) as % of net budget  (7.9%) (11.3%) (11.2%) 

Total (Gap) to 2029/30 (83,418) 

 

3.4 Closing the estimated funding gap in future years represents a significant challenge for the 
council and this will be an immediate focus for the council from April 2026 as part of the 
council’s future financial strategy.  Key areas of focus and activity will include: 

a. Maximising commercial income from the council’s asset base; 
b. Collaboration with external specialist partners to deliver efficiencies in high-cost, high-

demand areas of service delivery; 
c. Review of the council’s relationship with subsidiary companies; 
d. Creating a lean and resilient council through workforce reviews to determine the 

future size and scope of the organisation; 
e. Use of benchmarking to compare operating costs, working with sector-led experts to 

identify inefficiencies and opportunities to reduce expenditure; and 
f. Investing in the data and digital infrastructure to deliver long-term efficiencies, 

improvements and transformation in services for resident 

3.5 It is a legal requirement to set a balanced revenue budget in each financial year.  Any savings 
proposed in 2027/28 to mitigate the estimated funding gap will result in a reduction in the net 
expenditure budget requirement for 2028/29 with a corresponding reduction to the estimated 
funding gap. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

4.1 The cumulative DSG deficit is accounted for as an unusable reserve on the council’s Balance 
Sheet, as permitted via statutory instrument, which will remain in place until 31 March 2028. 
This enables all local authorities to ring-fence the DSG deficit from the overall financial 
position in the statutory accounts. 

4.2 Government has confirmed that it will bring forward a full Schools White Paper early in the 
new year to set out financially sustainable plans for reform of SEND provision.  The council 
awaits confirmation of adequate funding for SEND services in Herefordshire and a real 
solution to address the cumulative DSG deficit at the end of the statutory override period in 
March 2028 to minimise the impact on the council’s financial position. 

4.3 The draft MTFS does not include the impact of planned reform as these cannot currently be 
quantified.  Once plans for reform have been confirmed, including a decision on the statutory 
override, the MTFS will be updated. 

Planning Assumptions 

5.1 The key assumptions in developing the medium term financial projections are explained 
below. 

 

 

640



Table 2 Key assumptions by budget area 

Budget area Key assumptions 
  

Contract inflation For 2026/27 the general rate of inflation is assumed at 3% 
or the individual contract specific rate, will not be allocated 
directly to services as an increase in Directorate budget. 
Instead, each Directorate has been set a target to manage 
inflationary pressures within Directorate budgets. A 
centrally managed Contract Inflation Fund will be 
established to manage inflationary increases which cannot 
be managed within Directorate budgets. For the remaining 
three years from 2027/28 to 2029/30, inflation is assumed 
at 2.5%, 2.0% and 2.0% respectively. 

Employee related costs A pay increase has been assumed for the four year MTFS 
period.  
The council is part of the Worcestershire Pension Fund, 
administered by Worcestershire County Council.  The 
triennial valuation of the Pension Fund took place on 31 
March 2025.  Contributions included for the MTFS period 
ensure that the future costs to meet existing members’ 
service benefits continue to be covered. 

Council tax An increase of 4.99% is assumed for 2026/27 and for the 
three years from 2027/28 to 2029/30.  

Council tax base The council’s tax base represents the estimated number 
of Band D equivalent chargeable dwellings for the year.  
The tax base is forecast to increase by 1.2% each year for 
the purpose of modelling income for the MTFS; this 
increase is informed by prior year increases and latest 
new dwelling forecasts. 

Other Government funding 
sources 

Government funding sources included in the MTFS reflect 
the levels announced in the Provisional Settlement for the 
multi-year period with Settlement Funding Assessment 
(SFA) levels in 2029/20 assumed as per 2028/29.   

Enterprise Zone retained 
business rates income 

Income of £1.0 million per annum is assumed over the 
MTFS period.   
This income will be reviewed annually as part of the 
development of the in-year revenue budget in 
consideration of the rates retained from this source. 

Fees & charges Any increases in fees & charges have been incorporated 
within the budget proposals. 

Capital borrowing  Capital borrowing rates of 4.9%, 4.7%, 4.6% and 4.6% 
have been assumed in respect of financing the Capital 
Programme over the next 4 years respectively.   
This assumption will remain under constant review and 
will be informed by forecasts provided by our Treasury 
Management Advisors: MUFG Corporate Markets. 
External borrowing requirements are as per the proposed 
capital programme for 2026/27 to 2029/30. 

Revenue budget savings The MTFS assumes delivery of savings in 2026/27 in full.     

Use of reserves The MTFS assumes that the proposed use of reserves in 
2026/27 (£3.2 million of the Business Rates Risk Reserve 
and £7.1 million establishment of the Contract Inflation 
Fund) will need to be funded recurrently from 2027/28. 

 

741



Robustness of Budget Estimates and Key Risks 

6.1 The 2026/27 budget and MTFS include estimated values, based on key assumptions noted 
above and expectations of future events that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are based 
on historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  Financial forecasts are 
monitored as part of routine budget monitoring arrangements to ensure that risks are 
identified in a timely manner and mitigation action is taken. 

6.2 As values cannot be determined with certainty, the table below notes the potential impact of 
both a positive and negative impact of 1% across the key areas within the MTFS. 

Table 3 Impact assessment (1% movement) 

 Potential full-year impact of 1% movement 
(£m) 

Council tax +/- £1.4m 

Employee related costs (pay) +/- £0.8m 

Inflation +/- £2.4m 

Demand +/- £2.0m 

Interest on borrowing +/- £2.1m 

 

6.3 The council has strengthened arrangements to identify and monitor financial risks; 
implementing additional measures to provide increased support to budget managers to 
deliver planned savings and contain expenditure within the approved budget.  These 
measures include:  

 enhanced in-year financial monitoring and reporting to identify key risks and expected 
financial impacts; 

 improved alignment of activity data and trend analysis to financial forecasts; 

 introduction of expenditure controls to provide increased rigour and challenge of 
expenditure; and 

 enhanced check and challenge of key assumptions in the outturn forecast. 
 

6.4 The key financial risks that could affect the delivery of the MTFS as noted in the table below. 

Table 4 Key financial risks 

Key Financial Risk Likelihood Impact 
(Potential 
Severity) 

Mitigation 

Unexpected events and 

emergencies 

By its nature, the financial 
risk is uncertain 

Low High The Council maintains a strategic 

reserve at a level of between 3 and 

5% of its revenue budget for 

emergency purposes.  The level of 

this reserve at 1 April 2025 was £10.1 

million (4.4% of 2025/26 revenue 

budget).  Additionally, national 

resources have historically been 

provided to support national issues. 

Not delivering required 

improvements 

The council must address 
the statutory direction 
and improvements across 
Children’s Services 

Low Medium Improvements in Children’s Services 

have been recognised with an overall 

‘Good’ rating by Ofsted following the 

Inspection of Local Authority 

Children’s Services (ILACS) that took 

place from 10 to 21 November 2021.  

842



Phase 3 of the Herefordshire 

Children’s Services and Partnership 

Improvement Plan was endorsed by 

Cabinet in July 2025.  Performance 

against the Improvement Plan is 

monitored and reported on a quarterly 

basis.  

Increasing demand for 

Adult and Children’s 

Social Care 

Demand for Children’s 
services continue and 
demand for adult services 
increases as the 
population ages. 

High Medium 

 

 

 

Demand led pressures are reflected 

within our spending plans; additional 

funding to support increased demand 

has been applied to Community 

Wellbeing and Children & Young 

People Directorate base budgets for 

2026/27. In year monitoring of 

performance enables Directorates to 

forecast trends and identify changes 

in demand. 

Increasing demand for social care 

represents a key financial pressure for 

all councils. Robust and regular 

budget monitoring identifies emerging 

pressures and the financial impact on 

in-year budgets across the council.  

Financial monitoring is informed by 

activity data and trend analysis from 

the relevant service to ensure that 

forecasting is reliable and timely. 

Potential overspend 
and non-delivery of 
savings required to 
balance the budget 

Medium Medium High risk budget areas have been 

identified and financial support is 

targeted in these areas. Robust and 

regular financial monitoring which is 

reported to Directorate and Corporate 

Leadership Teams and Cabinet 

enables the timely identification of 

actions to mitigate the risk of 

overspends.  

Volatility in 

Government funding 

streams 

The government 
settlement for 2026/27 is 
a multi-year settlement; 
the assumed funding for 
the MTFS period is at 
levels per the Provisional 
Settlement. 

High  Medium The MTFS reflects prudent estimates 

and assumptions in the financial 

planning over the medium-term period 

where it is acknowledged that 

uncertainty over future funding exists. 

The MTFS will be updated to reflect 

the impact for the council of the multi-

year Settlement and in-year funding 

allocations as further information is 

released. 

 

Interest and Inflation 

There is uncertainty over 
interest and inflation 
rates. 

Medium Medium The Treasury Management Strategy 
is informed by latest forecast, as 
provided by our Treasury 
Management Advisors.  Increases in 
borrowing rates will be managed by 

943



reference to in-year approved budgets 
in line with the Treasury Management 
Strategy. 

Dedicated Schools 

Grant  

The future cumulative 

deficit requires direct 

financial support from 

Council core budgets 

High Medium The high needs budgets are funded 

by the dedicated schools grant, but 

any overspend becomes a council 

liability.  

This risk cannot currently be 

mitigated; expenditure will be 

monitored as part of routine budget 

monitoring arrangements and the 

council will continue to work with the 

Department for Education and monitor 

progress against the DSG Deficit 

Management Plan. 

This represents a significant local and 

national pressure and urgent reform is 

required.  Plans to reform funding 

arrangements and a future decision 

on the statutory override to manage 

the national deficit and minimise the 

impact on local authority financial 

positions are expected in early 2026. 

 

 

Adequacy of reserves 

7.1 The council’s useable revenue reserves are split between a general reserve (the general 
fund) and earmarked reserves that are held for certain purposes. The general fund is held 
as a strategic reserve to emergency events such as unforeseen financial liabilities or natural 
disasters. 

7.2 In line with the council’s policy, this reserve is maintained at a minimum level of between 3% 
and 5% of the net revenue budget.  As at 31 March 2025 the general reserve balance totalled 
£10.1 million, being 4.4% of the council’s 2025/26 approved net revenue budget.   

7.3 Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside for future expenditure to support specific 
corporate priorities or for general contingencies and cash flow management. For each 
reserve established, the purpose, usage and basis of transactions needs to be clearly 
defined. 

7.4 The overall level of reserves balances is reported to Cabinet at least annually; the last report 
to Cabinet was in June 2025 noting the total balance of £90.8 million comprising the general 
fund balance of £10.1 million and earmarked reserve balances of £80.7 million at 31 March 
2025.   

7.5 Earmarked reserve balances include £18.0 million of grant funding carried forward into 
2025/26.  This represents amounts of grant funding received, with no outstanding grant 
conditions to be met, which have not yet been applied to relevant expenditure.  In accordance 
with the principles of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting and relevant 
accounting standards, these amounts are accounted for as earmarked reserves, carried 
forward for application in future accounting periods. 

7.6 The council’s financial strategy aims to minimise the use of reserves in the medium term and 
to replenish them to support future sustainability, enable the council to respond to 

1044



unexpected changes and to invest in the continued transformation and improvement of its 
services. 

7.7 The financial resilience reserve was established to manage risks present in the base budget, 
for example additional placement costs from unexpected demands.  At 31 March 2025, a 
balance of £2.3 million was held in this reserve.   

7.8 Any overspend in 2025/26 must be funded using the council’s available reserves.  At Quarter 
2 (September) 2025/26, the forecast outturn position assumes £2.8 million use of the Budget 
Resilience Reserve.  This will reduce the reserves available to manage risk in future years.   

7.9 A forecast of reserves balances at 31 March 2026 and 31 March 2027 will be included at 
Appendix E to the 2026/27 Revenue Budget Report. 

7.10 There are robust controls in place, as part of routine budget monitoring arrangements, to 
monitor in-year transfers to and from reserves and resulting reserve balances and these 
transactions are subject to review as part of the annual audit of the statutory accounts.   

7.11 The Local Government Act 2003 (Section 25) requires that the chief financial officer 
considers the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves as part of the annual budget 
setting process. 

7.12 The forecast general fund balance at 31 March 2026 of £10.1 million is within the range 
required by the council’s policy; representing 4.4% of net revenue expenditure in 2025/26.  
This is sufficient to ensure that the council has adequate resources to fund unforeseen 
financial liabilities. 

Conclusion 

8.1 The council has a record of robust and effective financial management and is committed to 
delivering planned savings and managing expenditure within budget in order to preserve the 
future sustainability of the council. 

8.2 The planning assumptions and estimates which inform the 2026/27 budget and MTFS to 
2029/30 are realistic and prudent and there are appropriate arrangements in place to ensure 
the council is able to identify and manage risks to financial resilience. 

8.3 The MTFS provides a balanced budget for 2026/27 and clearly identifies the projected 
funding gap and risks to delivery.  Whilst there are significant challenges ahead, the council’s 
future financial strategy will ensure that the council’s finances are aligned to its strategic 
priorities with a clear focus on required activity to ensure the future sustainability of the 
council and the services it delivers. 

 

1145



ANNEX A Net revenue budget 2026/27 

Detail 2025/26 
Base 

Budget 

 
Unfunded 
Pressures 

 
Mitigations 

 
Savings 

2026/27 
Proposed 

Budget 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Community Wellbeing 90,366 9,396 (2,720) (7,375) 89,667 

Children and Young People 58,873 3,545 (657) (3,348) 58,413 

Economy and Environment 40,992 7,303 (2,800) (7,204) 38,291 

Corporate 22,222 1,856 (53) (1,529) 22,496 

Sub Total 212,453 22,100 (6,230) (19,456) 208,867 

Central 19,055 7,196 (500) (498) 25,253 

TOTALS 231,508 29,296 (6,730) (19,954) 234,120 

Funded by:      

Council tax 146,451    153,657 

Legacy Funding Assessment (LFA) 78,237    - 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) 
    Of which: Baseline Funding Level 
    Of which: Revenue Support Grant 

 
- 

    
30,149 
41,867 

Business rates surplus income  -    1,400 

Enterprise Zone Business rate income 1,282    1,750 

Extended producer responsibility grant 3,538    - 

Collection fund surplus 2,000    2,000 

Business rates risk reserve funding -    3,297 

TOTALS 231,508    234,120 

  

1246



ANNEX B Medium Term Financial Strategy 2026/27 to 2029/30 

Detail Actual 
2025/26 

Proposed 
2026/27 

Estimate 
2027/28 

Estimate 
2028/29 

Estimate 
2029/30 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Funding:      

Council tax 146,451 153,657 163,260 173,464 184,305 

Legacy Funding Assessment (LFA) 78,237 - - - - 

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA)  72,016 74,071 67,895 67,895 

Business rates surplus income  - 1,400 - - - 

Enterprise Zone Business rate income 1,282 1,750 1,000 1,000 1,000 

Extended producer responsibility grant 3,538 - - - - 

Collection fund surplus 2,000 2,000 - - - 

Business rates risk reserve funding - 3,297 - - - 

Total Funding 231,508 234,120 238,331 242,359 253,200 

Expenditure:      

Base Budget b/f  231,508 234,120 258,902 273,374 

Pay Award  1,502 2,185 1,792 1,827 

Growth – Demand & Pressures  21,064 22,597 12,680 9,831 

Savings, efficiencies & mitigations  (19,954) - - - 

Net Expenditure Budget 231,508 234,120 258,902 273,374 285,032 

      

Surplus/(Gap) to be funded  - (20,571) (31,015) (31,832) 

 

1347



48



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Saving Proposals 
 

2026/27 
 

Community Wellbeing 
Children & Young People 
Economy & Environment  
Corporate Services & Central Budgets 

 
 

 
 
 

5149



Total Savings Proposals 2026/27: £19,954k 
 
 
 

Directorate 

Source of Saving Proposal TOTAL 

Control of 
Costs 
 £’000 

Managing 
Demand 

£’000 

Increasing 
Income 

£’000 

Delivering 
Efficiencies 

£’000  
2026/27 

£’000 

Community Wellbeing 4,100 455 1,620 1,200 7,375 

Children & Young People 1,310 1,966 - 72 3,348 

Economy & Environment (inc Transport) 2,875 500 1,200 2,629 7,204 

Corporate Services & Central Budgets 1,449 - - 578 2,027 

TOTAL 9,734 2,921 2,820 4,479 19,954 

      

  

5250



Community Wellbeing Directorate Savings Proposals 2026/27: £7,375k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 

£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £4,100k 

C1 Partnership working: increased and robust market engagement to secure cost savings, improved value for money and increased 
capacity 

2,500 

C2 Voluntary & Community Sector: development of micro-provider market and Voluntary & Community Sector commissioning framework 300 

C3 Hoople Community Equipment: remodelling of community equipment contract for delivery of goods and services to achieve increased 
value for money in 2026/27 

400 

C4 Hoople Learning Disability Service: remodelling of learning disability service using CareCubed to determine and model appropriate 
fees 

250 

C5 Shaw Contract: reset of the current contract (contract end date of 2033) to secure services at no additional cost to offset spot purchases 250 

C6 CareCubed: application of benchmarking tool to support improved negotiations with providers and agree a fair cost of care 400 

INCREASE INCOME £1,620k 

I1 Review charging for self-funders: to establish and promote an enhanced offer for residents in line with neighbouring authorities 120 

I2 Financial assessments: review to ensure all assessments are conducted efficiently and fairly, enabling contributions to the council to be 
identified and collected in a timely manner 

1,000 

I3 Fees and charges: review of fees and charges across the directorate 250 

I4 Direct payment cap changes: to align with other rates 250 

MANAGE DEMAND £455k 

D1 Front door: improvements to self-referral portal including online forms and improved technology enabled communities (TEC) offer 50 

D2 Review of long-term cases: to ensure right size packages of care 405 

DELIVER EFFICIENCIES £1,200k 

E1 Magic Notes: implementation of software to support social worker assessments 400 

E2 Maximise existing Copilot functionality: to support non-social work staff, enabling improved contract management and administration 200 

E3 Culture, Museum, Libraries reshape: to deliver service efficiencies 100 

E4 Talk Community reshape: to deliver service efficiencies 250 

E5 Vacancy management: deletion of vacant posts across Directorate 250 

  7,375 

 
 
 

  

5351



Children & Young People Directorate Savings Proposals 2026/27: £3,348k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 

£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £1,310k 

C1 Reduction in Social Worker Agency posts: planned reduction based on requirements of current cohort  800 

C2 Early Help Service: planned removal of Head of Service post (currently vacant) as part of locality model changes 70 

C3 SEND Staff: removal of posts not currently filled to deliver savings in staffing costs 123 

C4 Agency Cap Recruitment: reduction in existing agency hourly rates for social workers to move the service closer to CAP rates whilst 
retaining experienced social workers 

79 

C5 Staffing review/vacancies: reshaping of services to deliver net savings in staffing budgets 238 

MANAGE DEMAND £1,966k 

D1 Complex needs budget: reduction to reflect decrease in complex needs placements in 2026/27 within the Section 75 budget (pooled 
funding arrangement across Health, Education and Social Care) 

1,265 

D2 Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) budget: reduction in average weekly placement costs for UASC supported 
lodgings placements 

235 

D3 Supported Accommodation budget: reduction in budget to reflect decrease in required placements for internal supported 
accommodation in 2026/27 

83 

D4 Independent Foster Agency budget: reduction in budget to reflect movement of current cohort turning 18 in 2026/27 who will move to 
internal/external supported accommodation 

383 

DELIVER EFFICIENCIES £72k 

E1 Safeguarding Board: Reduction in business unit costs as agreed by the partnership with each partner receiving benefit from this 
efficiency proposal 

72 

   

  

5452



Economy & Environment Directorate Savings Proposals 2026/27: £7,204k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 

£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £2,875k 

C1 SEN and Home to School transport: review of contract prices to secure reductions in taxi journey costs, increased partnership working 
with schools to explore shared transport options, development of in-house delivery model to provide a council managed service for routes 
transporting 1-4 passengers 

2,000 

C2 Service budget reductions: 5% reduction in controllable spend across directorate budgets 500 

C3 Public Realm contract: LEAN efficiencies in services delivered through public realm contract  375 

INCREASE INCOME £1,200k 

I1 Car-parking: income arising from increased activity from existing sources 900 

I2 Inflationary uplifts: to increase income from fees and charges across the directorate 200 

I3 Income generation: additional income from S278 (Highways Act) developer fees and fees and commuted sums from developers from 
S38 agreements under the Highways Act 1980 

100 

MANAGE DEMAND £500k 

D1 Subsidised public transport: review of public transport subsidised routes to reflect demand and usage of current routes 500 

DELIVER EFFICIENCIES £2,629k 

E1 Vacancy management: deletion of vacant posts across Directorate 500 

E2 Grant utilisation: additional utilisation of the Local Transport grant (LTG) 50 

E3 Reallocation of directorate reserves: to maintain expenditure for Public Rights of Way (£250k), Drainage (£445k) and Lengthsman 
Scheme (£250k) added to base budget in 2024/25 on receipt of additional funding at Final Local Government Settlement 

945 

E4 Waste stock: reduction in levels held of household waste collection stock 60 

E5 Energy costs: reduction in energy budget resulting from efficient usage and lower kw prices 80 

E6 Grant utilisation: review of application of the Public Health Ringfenced Grant (PHRG) against eligible directorate expenditure 294 

E7 Grant utilisation: utilisation of Bus Services Improvement grant (BSIP) on Public Subsidised Routes 500 

E8 Transfer: transfer of toilet facilities to parish council  200 

   

 
  

5553



Corporate Services Directorate Savings Proposals 2026/27: £2,027k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 

£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £1,449k 

C1 Revenue cost reduction: capitalisation of Finance Team costs for staff activity supporting delivery of capital projects 75 

C2 Revenue cost reduction: capitalisation of Legal Service costs for staff activity supporting delivery of capital projects 150 

C3 Staffing costs reduction: reduced staffing costs in ICT/Transformation budgets following removal of Director of Transformation & 
Strategy post and reallocation of budget to Chief Digital & Information Officer post 

96 

C4 Revenue cost reduction: application of capital receipts to fund eligible transformation expenditure permitted via Flexible Capital 
Receipts permissions 

600 

C5 Revenue cost reduction: reduction in employers’ deficit pension contributions linked to actuarial valuation 498 

C6 HR & OD Services: review to deliver service efficiencies 30 

DELIVERING EFFICIENCIES £578k 

E1 Corporate Performance & Intelligence Service review and reshape: to deliver service efficiencies 200 

E2 Communications review and reshape: to deliver service efficiencies  198 

E3 Vacancy management: review of service delivery and deletion of vacant posts in Legal Services 180 

   

  

5654



  

 

 

 
Corporate Services 

Directorate 
(including Central Budgets) 

 
2026/27   

Budget Position Statement 
 

Key pressures, challenges and savings proposals for 2026/27 

 
 
 

8355



Corporate Services Directorate 
 
Key Revenue Budget Pressures (including Central Budgets) 
 

 Interest rate uncertainty and impact on council’s interest payable 
budget driven by timing of external borrowing requirements and 
overall cash position 

 Increase in corporate insurance premiums reflecting changes 
across council services and asset base 

 Increases in professional subscriptions and licences across the 
directorate 

 

Key Savings Proposals 
 

 Control of costs to secure reductions across Directorate budgets 

 Review to deliver efficiencies in enabling teams aligned to wider 
council service delivery requirements and capital programme 

 Maximising flexibility to use capital receipts to fund transformation 
costs 

 Delivering efficiencies through increased use of technology and 
reshaping of services 

 

Key Capital Projects  
 

 Device and ancillary kit replacement programme 

 Planning and regulatory services software upgrades 

 Essential ICT system updates and upgrades 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Revenue Budget 2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 

£’000 
2028/29 

£’000 
2029/30 

£’000 

Opening budget 41,277    

     

Pressures:     

Demographic growth 8,283    

Inflation 216    

Other pressures -    

Savings     

Cost control (1,449)    

Increasing income -    

Managing demand -    

Delivering efficiencies (578)    

Closing budget 47,749    
 

 
Capital Programme 

 
 

8456



Corporate Services Directorate 
 
Strategic Priorities 
 
The directorate aims to provide high quality corporate services to support 
and enable the council to deliver the priorities of the Council Plan. 
 
Corporate Services teams ensure the council remains financially stable and 
resilient; safeguarding resources to support the delivery of capital and 
major projects and key services to residents.  The Legal & Governance 
team lead and promote the council’s internal control and governance 
framework, to ensure the council is carrying out its functions effectively and 
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.   
 
The directorate supports workforce development with a mission to create a 
lean and resilient organisation with organisational values and behaviours in 
place to develop an engaged, agile and resilient workforce.   
 
The council is committed to embracing best practice to transform and be fit 
for the future; delivering innovation through technology to become an 
intelligence-led, efficient organisation. 
 

Key Services  
 

 Enabling services including: 

 Finance 

 HR & Organisational Development 

 Commercial & Procurement 

 Legal & Governance including Democratic and Member 
Services 

 Coroners & Registrars 

 Communications  

 Counterfraud, Risk and Assurance 

 Corporate Performance & Intelligence 

 IT, Transformation & Customer Services 

 Health & Safety 

 

Key Challenges and Risks to Service Delivery  
 

 Ensuring enabling corporate service teams are adequately 
resourced and skilled to enable delivery of council services, capital 
programme projects and support wider organisational 
transformation and improvement within required timeframes. 

 Maintaining quality of internal controls and governance framework 
to support robust management of revenue budget and capital 
programme whilst enabling transformation.  

 Ensuring an effective risk management framework across services, 
capital and major projects and transformation activity to enable 
Members and Officers to identify and manage financial, legal, 
service delivery and community impact risks arising and to support 
robust, informed decision making. 

 Continuing to attract, recruit, retain and develop an effective and 
engaged workforce that enables delivery of Council Plan priorities.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

8557



 
  

 
Corporate Services 

Directorate 
(including Central Budgets) 

 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service 
Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements 
Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals 
Appendix D: Capital Projects 

 
 

 
 
 

8658



Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service  
 

Service Description – Corporate Services 
Net 

Budget  
2025/26 
 £’000 

Gross 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

    

Net 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2027/28  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2028/29  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2029/30 
£’000 

    

Income 
£’000 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

 £’000 

Transformation 6,638 7,750 (798) (600) 6,352       

Governance and Legal 6,382 7,946 (1,730)   6,216       

Strategic Finance 7,336 8,378 (345)   8,033       

Human Resources and Organisation Design 1,866 1,895 -    1,895       

Total  22,222 25,969 (2,873) (600) 22,496 -  -  -  

 

Service Description – Central 
Net 

Budget  
2025/26 
 £’000 

Gross 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

    

Net 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2027/28  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2028/29  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2029/30 
£’000 

    

Income 
£’000 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

 £’000 

Total  19,055 53,675 (30,422) 2,000 25,253 -  -  -  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8759



Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements   
 

Title – Corporate Services Detail  
2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Transformation 
2025/26 Capital receipts funding for eligible 
transformation activities 

600       

Insurance  Increase in the insurance premiums 549       

Pay Inflation Estimated pay award 216       

Access/Pay-suite  Transaction costs and increased banking charges 180       

Customer Services ICT additional licence costs 111       

Movement in Pay estimates Various 74       

Elected Members Budget 
Ward member allocations for community groups and 
projects 

53       

Health and Safety Contract funded from reserves in 2025/26 39    

Legal  Increased licences and subscriptions costs 34       

Miscellaneous Various (53)       

Total    1,803 -  -  -  

 

Title – Central Detail  
2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Increased IP  Requirements of capital programme and DSG deficit 
3,939       

Collection fund surplus  To repay business rates risk reserve 2,000       

Remove central income budgets For interest receivable and business rates pooling 650       

West Mercia Energy Dividend Moved from Corporate funding 
(500)       

Increased MRP  Requirements of capital programme 385       

Council Tax discretionary fees budget Council Tax discretionary fees budget 167       

Miscellaneous Increased Housing Benefit administration and IT costs 55       

Total    6,696 -  -  -  

  

8860



Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals £2,027k (£1,529k Corporate Services and £498k Central) 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 
£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £1,449k 

C1 Revenue cost reduction: capitalisation of Finance Team costs for staff activity supporting delivery of capital projects 75 

C2 Revenue cost reduction: capitalisation of Legal Service costs for staff activity supporting delivery of capital projects 150 

C3 Staffing costs reduction: reduced staffing costs in ICT/Transformation budgets following removal of Director of Transformation & 
Strategy post and reallocation of budget to Chief Digital & Information Officer post 

96 

C4 Revenue cost reduction: application of capital receipts to fund eligible transformation expenditure permitted via Flexible Capital 
Receipts permissions 

600 

C5 Revenue cost reduction: reduction in employers’ deficit pension contributions linked to actuarial valuation 498 

C6 HR & OD Services: review to deliver service efficiencies 30 

DELIVERING EFFICIENCIES £578k 

E1 Corporate Performance & Intelligence Service review and reshape: to deliver service efficiencies 200 

E2 Communications review and reshape: to deliver service efficiencies  198 

E3 Vacancy management: review of service delivery and deletion of vacant posts in Legal Services 180 

  2,027 

 
 

  

8961



Appendix D: Capital Projects 2026/27 to 2029/30   
 

Project 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Total 
 

 £’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

 £’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

 £’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

 £’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Windows Server Upgrades* - - - - - - - - 

Device and Ancillary kit replacement programme 578 578 185 185 - - - - 

M365 E5 Implementation* - - - - - - - - 

Planning & Regulatory Services software 923 923 120 120 - - - - 

Contact Centre Telephony Replacement* - - - - - - - - 

Wide Area Network (WAN) Replacement* - - - - - - - - 

School Route Planning Software* - - - - - - - - 

IT System Upgrades & Server Replacements 25-26 182 182 - - - - - - 

Essential system updates and upgrades 174 174 - - - - - - 

CCTV Equipment Upgrades* - - - - - - - - 

Total  1,857 1,857 305 305 - - - - 

 

*Spend in prior years 

 
  

9062



  

 

 

 
Community Wellbeing 

Directorate 
 

2026/27   
Budget Position Statement 

 
Key pressures, challenges and savings proposals for 2026/27 

 
 
 

5763



Community Wellbeing Directorate 
 
Key Revenue Budget Pressures 
 

 Increasing complexity of need and intensity of care support for adult 
social care provision 

 Demographic changes with the county’s ageing population living 
longer in ill health 

 Increasing demand for temporary accommodation 

 Impact of high hospital occupancy rates 

 Increases in the number of individuals unable to fund their own care 
linked to inflation and rises in the cost of living  

 Market conditions including care provider fee uplifts and care 
worker’s pay 

 

Key Savings Proposals 
 

 Control of costs to secure reductions across care contracts 

 Increasing income, ensuring fair and timely charges and 
contributions for services 

 Managing demand through increased community engagement and 
review of care packages 

 Delivering efficiencies through increased use of technology and 
reshaping of services 

 

Key Capital Projects  
 

 Hereford Museum & Art Gallery 

 Hereford Library & Learning Centre 

 Strategic Housing Acquisition Fund 

 Disabled Facilities Grant 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Revenue Budget 2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Opening budget 90,366    

     

Pressures:     

Demographic growth 8,242    

Inflation 447    

Other pressures (2,013)    

Savings     

Cost control (4,100)    

Increasing income (1,620)    

Managing demand (455)    

Delivering efficiencies (1,200)    

Closing budget 89,667    
 

 
Capital Programme 

 
 

5864



 

Community Wellbeing Directorate 
 
Strategic Priorities 
 
The council’s priority is to protect and improve the lives of vulnerable 
people and to enable residents to live healthy lives within supportive 
communities. The Community Wellbeing directorate aims to support 
individuals to live as independently and healthily as possible through 
investment in prevention, early intervention and the use of technology and 
to encourage communities to help each other through a network of 
community hubs. 
 
The directorate mission is to enable diverse, inclusive, vibrant, connected 
communities where people feel safe, keep well and look out for each other. 
 

Key Services  
 

 Social care provision and support services for: 

 Older people 

 Adults with learning disabilities 

 Adults with physical disabilities 

 Adults living with mental health illnesses 

 Family carers 

 Working with the Voluntary & Community sector to support 
residents and communities across the county. 

 Safeguarding services for vulnerable adults. 

 Working with NHS partners to deliver integrated services. 

 Housing provision including homelessness outreach 

 Talk Community operations including library services, museums, 
archives and information. 

 Advice and guidance for the residents of Herefordshire through the 
Talk Community Directory. 

 
 
 
 
 

Key Challenges and Risks to Service Delivery  
 

 Demography: Herefordshire has a higher proportion of residents 
aged 65 and over, at 27% compared with 19% across England and 
Wales, and 57% aged 16 to 64, compared with 63% nationally. 

 The ageing population leads to increased demand for complex and 
high-acuity care and support services. 

 Providing the right care, to the right people, at the right time and in 
the right place, is a key challenge. Our transport connectivity issues 
also have a disproportionate impact on an ageing population living 
in the rural areas who find it difficult to access services. 

 Health inequalities are evident across the county with 
improvements needed in areas such as dental health, mental 
wellbeing, diet and inactivity. 

 Increasing costs for care contracts, additionality of costs to deliver 
services to a sparsely populated, rural population result in financial 
pressures to the Community Wellbeing budget. 

 Increased demand for temporary accommodation. A shortage of 
affordable homes in Herefordshire and increasing demand for 
temporary accommodation means the council is reliant upon costly 
bed & breakfast/hotel accommodation to supplement existing 
supply.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5965



 
 

 

 

 
  

 
Community Wellbeing 

Directorate 
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service 
Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements 
Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals 
Appendix D: Capital Projects 

 
 

 
 
 

6066



Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service  
 

Service Description  
Net 

Budget  
2025/26 
 £’000 

Gross 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

    

Net 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2027/28  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2028/29  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2029/30 
£’000 

    

Income 
£’000 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

 £’000 

Director and Community Services 2,891 3,308 (521) (3) 2,784       

Better Care Fund (13,692) -  (16,252) -  (16,252)       

Adult Social Care and Housing 82,015 115,481 (29,834) (322) 85,325       

All Ages Commissioning 18,220 18,326 (1,467) -  16,859       

Public Health 932 11,828 (10,718) (159) 951       

Total  90,366 148,943 (58,792) (484) 89,667 -  -  -  

 
 
 

Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements   
 

Title Detail  
2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Physical Support clients 2025/26 growth 4,747       

Physical Support clients 2026/27 growth 1,016       

Learning Disabilities clients 2025/26 and 2026/27 growth 1,661       

Memory & Cognition clients 2025/26 and 2026/27 growth 620       

Transitions from Children and Young People Growth in clients 337       

Mental Health clients 2025/26 and 2026/27 reduction (139)    

Consolidated grants RSG Settlement 544       

Improved Better Care Fund Additional grant (1,585)       

Better Care Fund  Additional grant (996)       

Pay Inflation Estimated pay award 447       

Miscellaneous Various 24    

Total    6,676 -  -  -  

 
 

6167



Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals £7,375k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 
£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £4,100k 

C1 Partnership working: increased and robust market engagement to secure cost savings, improved value for money and increased 
capacity 

2,500 

C2 Voluntary & Community Sector: development of micro-provider market and Voluntary & Community Sector commissioning framework 300 

C3 Hoople Community Equipment: remodelling of community equipment contract for delivery of goods and services to achieve increased 
value for money in 2026/27 

400 

C4 Hoople Learning Disability Service: remodelling of learning disability service using CareCubed to determine and model appropriate 
fees 

250 

C5 Shaw Contract: reset of the current contract (contract end date of 2033) to secure services at no additional cost to offset spot purchases 250 

C6 CareCubed: application of benchmarking tool to support improved negotiations with providers and agree a fair cost of care 400 

INCREASE INCOME £1,620k 

I1 Review charging for self-funders: to establish and promote an enhanced offer for residents in line with neighbouring authorities 120 

I2 Financial assessments: review to ensure all assessments are conducted efficiently and fairly, enabling contributions to the council to be 
identified and collected in a timely manner 

1,000 

I3 Fees and charges: review of fees and charges across the directorate 250 

I4 Direct payment cap changes: to align with other rates 250 

MANAGE DEMAND £455k 

D1 Front door: improvements to self-referral portal including online forms and improved technology enabled communities (TEC) offer 50 

D2 Review of long-term cases: to ensure right size packages of care 405 

DELIVER EFFICIENCIES £1,200k 

E1 Magic Notes: implementation of software to support social worker assessments 400 

E2 Maximise existing Copilot functionality: to support non-social work staff, enabling improved contract management and administration 200 

E3 Culture, Museum, Libraries reshape: to deliver service efficiencies 100 

E4 Talk Community reshape: to deliver service efficiencies 250 

E5 Vacancy management: deletion of vacant posts across Directorate 250 

  7,375 

 
  

6268



Appendix D: Capital Projects 2026/27 to 2029/30   
 

Project 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Disabled Facilities Grant 2,200 - 2,200 - - - - - 

Empty Property Investment & Development 286 286 - - - - - - 

Acquisition Fund for Housing Provision 2,300 2,300 - - - - - - 

Merton Meadow - Brownfield Land Release Fund* - - - - - - - - 

Swimming Pool Support Fund* - - - - - - - - 

Libraries Improvement Fund* - - - - - - - - 

Hereford Museum & Art Gallery Redevelopment 10,525 8,051 5,581 400 - - - - 

Library & Learning Centre relocation to Shirehall 2,064 - 450 - - - - - 

Community Capital Grants Scheme 600 - 20 - - - - - 

Total  17,975 10,637 8,251 400 - - - - 

 

*Spend in prior years 

  6369



70



  

 

 

 
Children & Young People 

Directorate 
 

2026/27   
Budget Position Statement 

 
Key pressures, challenges and savings proposals for 2026/27 

 
 
 

6571



Children & Young People Directorate 
 
Key Revenue Budget Pressures 
 

 Rising demand and increasing costs to support and protect children 
and young people in care as a result of increasing complexity of 
need and risk and limited market sufficiency.  

 Increasing demand and costs to support children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) required to fulfil 
statutory responsibilities to provide education provision that meets 
need. 

 Increased demand and costs associated with school transport costs 
for children with Education, Health and Care Plans and SEND. 

 The impact of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs 
Block overspend on the council’s cash and borrowing position. 

 

Key Savings Proposals 
 

 Continued reduction in both the number of agency social workers 
and agency hourly pay rates to minimise pressure on staffing 
budgets. 

 Managing expenditure of high-cost residential and complex needs 
placements through continued management oversight, review and 
challenge of outcomes for children. 

 Delivering efficiencies through reshaping of services to promote 
Family Help reducing the need for specialist care and protection. 

 

Key Capital Projects  
 

 Peterchurch Area School Investment  

 School Improvement Works to Brookfields School and Aylestone 
School  

 Relocation of Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units  

 Establishment of new Alternative Provision centre 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Revenue Budget 2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Opening budget 58,873    

     

Pressures:     

Demographic growth 2,047    

Inflation 520    

Other pressures 321    

Savings     

Cost control (1,310)    

Increasing income -    

Managing demand (1,966)    

Delivering efficiencies (72)    

Closing budget 58,413    
 

 
Capital Programme 

 
 

6672



Children & Young People Directorate 
 
Strategic Priorities 
 
The council’s priority is to support children and young people to thrive and 
achieve their potential, to ensure that all children have the best start in life.   
 
The Children and Young People Partnership (CYPP) and Families First 
delivery programme are coordinated to promote Family Help; supporting 
parents and the wider family network to provide safe, nurturing care to their 
children in the first instance, reducing risk and preventing the need for care. 
 
Using a resorptive approach the directorate continues to recognise the 
importance of working with children, young people and their families and 
the essential role of the wider partnership in meeting the vision as set out 
by the Families First Welfare reforms and our own CYPP plan. 
 

Key Services  
 

 Early help and family support services including advice, guidance 
and training programmes to families and professionals. 

 Children’s social care services to children and young in need of 
Support, care and protection, including children who are care-
experienced and those at risk of exploitation. 

 Children with disabilities services providing early help, support and 
protection to those with complex needs. 

 Adoption and fostering services providing safe, nurturing care. 

 School place sufficiency, school admissions and attendance. 

 Support and guidance to schools and education providers to 
promote high-quality education places for children in Herefordshire. 

 Early years provisions support, guidance and quality assurance. 

 Special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 

 Education support for vulnerable groups of children including those 
who are home educated and missing from education, and children 
who are looked after. 

 
 

Key Challenges and Risks to Service Delivery  

 

 Increasing care and support provider costs, and the impact of 
growing demand on the sufficiency of placements and provision, 
lead to financial pressures across the Children & Young People 
directorate budget. 

 The annual and cumulative Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit 
position represents a significant financial pressure for the council 
over the medium-term period, in line with the national trend. 

 National and local increases in Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCPs), driven by complex needs including autism and speech 
and language issues, leading to increased demand for 
individualised specialist placements, result in both cost and 
workforce pressures for the directorate with a corresponding impact 
on Special Educational Needs (SEN) and Home to School 
Transport budgets.  

 The recruitment and retention of social workers represent a 
challenge to both service delivery and staffing budgets.  The 
directorate continues to manage workforce pressures with a focus 
on permanent recruitment retention. 

 Challenges in the recruitment of in-house, local foster carers, 
including for sibling groups and children with disabilities and 
complex and additional needs.  A lack of capacity means the 
council is increasingly reliant on higher-cost provision from the 
independent market.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6773



 
 
 

 
 

 

  

 
Children & Young People 

Directorate 
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service 
Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements 
Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals 
Appendix D: Capital Projects 

 
 

 
 
 

6874



Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service  
 

Service Description  

Net 
Budget 
2025/26 

£’000 

Gross 
Budget 
2026/27 

£’000 

 
 

Income 
£’000 

 
 

Earmarked 
Reserves 
£’000 

Net 
Budget 
2026/27 

£’000 

Net 
Budget 
2027/28 

£’000 

Net 
Budget 
2028/29 

£’000 

Net 
Budget 
2029/30 

£’000 

Central Children's Directorate 1,845 4,509 (1,501) - 3,008    

Education Skills and Learning 4,045 7,875 (3,043) (471) 4,361    

Corporate Parenting 41,975 44,301 (4,744) - 39,557    

Safeguarding and Family Support 11,008 11,488 - - 11,488    

Total  58,873 68,173 (9,288) (471) 58,413    

 
 
 

Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements   
 

Title Detail  
2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 

£’000 
2028/29 

£’000 
2029/30 

£’000 

Earmarked reserve funding Social Resilience reserve 1,442    

Consolidated grants RSG Settlement 722    

Pay Inflation Estimated pay award 520    

Movement in Pay estimates Various 329    

DSG Budget Change in recharge 318    

Supported Accommodation Increased support 169    

Out of County Foster Carers Council tax support 46    

Earmarked reserve funding Movement in year of funding (157)    

Whitecross PFI Increased income (227)    

Miscellaneous Various (273)    

Total   2,889    

6975



Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals £3,348k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 
£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £1,310k 

C1 Reduction in Social Worker Agency posts: planned reduction based on requirements of current cohort  800 

C2 Early Help Service: planned removal of Head of Service post (currently vacant) as part of locality model changes 70 

C3 SEND Staff: removal of posts not currently filled to deliver savings in staffing costs 123 

C4 Agency Cap Recruitment: reduction in existing agency hourly rates for social workers to move the service closer to CAP rates whilst 
retaining experienced social workers 

79 

C5 Staffing review/vacancies: reshaping of services to deliver net savings in staffing budgets 238 

MANAGE DEMAND £1,966k 

D1 Complex needs budget: reduction to reflect decrease in complex needs placements in 2026/27 within the Section 75 budget (pooled 
funding arrangement across Health, Education and Social Care) 

1,265 

D2 Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) budget: reduction in average weekly placement costs for UASC supported 
lodgings placements 

235 

D3 Supported Accommodation budget: reduction in budget to reflect decrease in required placements for internal supported 
accommodation in 2026/27 

83 

D4 Independent Foster Agency budget: reduction in budget to reflect movement of current cohort turning 18 in 2026/27 who will move to 
internal/external supported accommodation 

383 

DELIVER EFFICIENCIES £72k 

E1 Safeguarding Board: Reduction in business unit costs as agreed by the partnership with each partner receiving benefit from this 
efficiency proposal 

72 

  3,348 

 
  

7076



Appendix D: Capital Projects 2026/27 to 2029/30   
 

Project 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Schools’ Capital Maintenance Grant 2,770 - 1,200 - - - - - 

Aylestone School Improvement Works 1,790 - 1,000 1,000 - - - - 

Peterchurch Area School Investment 3,377 3,377 - - - - - - 

Brookfield School Improvements* - - - - - - - - 

High Needs Grant 6,784 - - - - - - - 

Basic Needs Funding 11,810 251 5,006 - - - - - 

Relocation of Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units 1,500 1,500 3,500 3,500 - - - - 

New Alternative Provision Centre 1,500 1,500 3,500 3,500 - - - - 

Childcare Expansion Capital Grant 2023/24 130 - - - - - - - 

School Accessibility Works 1,193 1,193 - - - - - - 

Children’s Residential Homes for 11 to 18 year olds* - - - - - - - - 

Residential overnight short breaks refurbishment 60 - - - - - - - 

Children & Families S106 1,297 - 1,550 - - - - - 

Total  32,211 7,821 15,756 8,000 - - - - 

 

*Spend in prior years  

7177



78



  

 

 

 
Economy & Environment 

Directorate 
 

2026/27   
Budget Position Statement 

 
Key pressures, challenges and savings proposals for 2026/27 

 
 
 

7379



Economy & Environment Directorate 
 
Key Revenue Budget Pressures 
 

 Demographic changes driving increased tonnage and additional 
costs in waste collection and disposal services 

 Increasing demand and costs of home to school transport service 
provision and subsidised public transport routes 

 Achievement of development planning income targets linked to 
planning reform and conditions in the county 

 Reduced occupancy resulting in reduced Commercial Services 
rental income  

 Climate change and severe weather events which result in flooding, 
road defects and impact on seasonal gritting services 

 

Key Savings Proposals 
 

 Control of costs to secure reductions and efficiencies across service 
budgets 

 Increasing income, to maximise commercial activity and return in 
traded services 

 Managing demand through increased community engagement and 
partnership working 

 Delivering efficiencies through grant utilisation and reallocation and 
review of directorate staffing vacancies 

 

Key Capital Projects  
 

 Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 

 Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 

 Strategic/Emergency Housing Capital Projects 

 Historic Building Fund 

 Estates Building Improvement Programmes 

 Levelling Up Fund (LUF) Projects 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
Revenue Budget 2026/27 

£’000 
2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Opening budget 40,992    

     

Pressures:     

Demographic growth 6,984    

Inflation 319    

Other pressures (2,800)    

Savings     

Cost control (2,875)    

Increasing income (1,200)    

Managing demand (500)    

Delivering efficiencies (2,629)    

Closing budget 38,291    
 

 
Capital Programme 

 
 

7480



Economy & Environment Directorate 
 
Strategic Priorities 
 
The council’s priority is to create the conditions to deliver sustainable 
growth across the county and to protect and enhance our environment and 
ensure that Herefordshire is a great place to live.  
 
The Economy & Environment directorate aims to develop Herefordshire as 
a place for growth and prosperity where communities thrive; by expanding 
infrastructure, improving connectivity, increasing opportunities for housing, 
inward investment and supporting residents to access skills development, 
training and employment opportunities.   
 
The directorate mission is to support Herefordshire’s vision for a 
sustainable and successful future: as a vibrant, healthy, zero carbon and 
inclusive place to live, work, study and visit at all stages in life. 
 

Key Services  
 

 Highways and transport services: including public and home to 
school transport, flood response, street cleansing, parks and 
highways maintenance. 

 Technical services: including building control, parking, CCTV, 
property services, bereavements, registrations, coroners and 
markets, fairs and street trading. 

 Regulatory, environment and waste services: including planning 
and regulatory services (environmental health, trading standards 
and licensing, school attendance and absence), waste collection 
and disposal services, climate and sustainability activities. 

 Enabling housing development and growth. 

 Economic development programme prioritising conditions for 
economic growth, business support, advice and guidance, 
development of skills and inward investment. 

 Infrastructure delivery: including flood alleviation, cycling, walking 
and highway improvements and schemes. 

 
Key Challenges and Risks to Service Delivery  

 

 The number of homeless households is increasing in Herefordshire; 
driven by increased eviction notices, lack of appropriate private 
rental accommodation and lack of affordable housing.  Whilst 
responding to this need is a key priority for the council, future 
mandatory targets for housing growth will place pressure on 
existing infrastructure and resident services. 

 Herefordshire has the lowest county tier productivity (Gross Value 
Added per hour) in England and the second lowest in the UK, with 
averages wages 13% below the national average, which affects 
quality of life, health and living standards. 

 With the fourth lowest population density in England, the residents 
of Herefordshire are unevenly distributed over a large area and this, 
alongside poor transport connectivity, represents challenges for 
inward investment, travel, productivity and economic growth. 

 Continued investment to improve and maintain the condition and 
resilience of the road infrastructure across the county is essential. 

 The costs of providing home to school transport services has 
significantly increased; attributable to both increases in the number 
of children and young people becoming eligible for this service, 
including those with complex needs who require specialist transport 
and economic factors including inflation, wage costs and fuel prices. 

 Responding to flood and severe weather events which cause 
disruption across the county represents a continuing challenge for 
the council; requiring partnership working and engagement to 
strengthen community resilience and improve support for residents. 

 Regulatory and legislative changes, including proposed reforms and 
changes to the National Planning Policy Framework, will have an 
impact on the delivery of key services in the Economy & 
Environment directorate. 

 Coordination of elements required to deliver growth across 
Herefordshire including economic growth, housing, transport and 
infrastructure requires collaboration across a variety of stakeholders 
and local partners. 
 

 

7581



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
Economy & Environment 

Directorate 
 

Appendices 
 

Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service 
Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements 
Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals 
Appendix D: Capital Projects 

 
 

 
 
 

7682



Appendix A: Revenue Budget by Service  
 

Service Description  
Net 

Budget  
2025/26 
 £’000 

Gross 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

    

Net 
Budget  
2026/27  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2027/28  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2028/29  
£’000 

Net 
Budget  
2029/30 
£’000 

    

Income 
£’000 

Earmarked 
Reserves 

 £’000 

Directorate Management 141 808 - (137) 671       

Resident Services: Highways, Environmental & Waste 23,063 45,474 (19,116) (6,701) 19,657       

Commercial Services 3,309 8,514 (5,848) - 2,666       

Economy and Growth 1,679 5,906 (3,516) (988) 1,402       

Resident Services: Regulatory and Technical 60 4,015 (4,215) (15) (215)       

Sub-total 28,252 64,717 (32,695) (7,841) 24,181 -  -  -  

Resident Services: SEN and HTST Transport 12,735 15,798 (1,688) - 14,110       

Total  40,987 80,515 (34,383) (7,841) 38,291 -  -  -  

 
 
 

  

7783



Appendix B: Revenue Budget Movements   
 

Title Detail  
2026/27 
£’000 

2027/28 
£’000 

2028/29 
£’000 

2029/30 
£’000 

Waste Reserve - new Waste Collection contract Withdrawn 2025/26 one-off reserve funding 2,014       

Phosphate Reserve Withdrawn 2025/26 one-off reserve funding 500       

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) grant  New grant allocated to Directorate (4,200)       

New weekly soft plastics collection Funded from EPR grant 800       

Contribution to Waste Reserve Funded from EPR grant 600       

New weekly food waste collection service New service to commence in 2026/27 2,607       

Waste Reserve - new Food Collection service One-off reserve funding in 2026/27 (2,607)       

New weekly food waste collection service New service to commence in 2026/27 809       

Waste Reserve - new Food Collection service Reserve funding will off-set subscription fees (809)       

SEN transport - increase in students and costs 2025/26 growth and projected 2026/27 growth 2,736       

Public transport subsidised routes  Additional retendered contracts commissioned 751       

HTST transport - increase in students and costs 2025/26 growth and projected 2026/27 growth 491       

Pay Inflation Estimated pay award  319       

HTST - Extended Rights for Free Transport grant  Grant withdrawn 196       

Flood Risk Management  New service - establishment costs 107       

Transportation ICT Flexi-route replacement software 77       

Movement in Pay estimates Various 40       

Miscellaneous Various 72       

Total    4,503 -  -  -  

  

7884



Appendix C: 2026/27 Savings Proposals £7,204k 
 

Ref Description/Activity 
2026/27 
£’000 

CONTROL COSTS £2,875k 

C1 SEN and Home to School transport: review of contract prices to secure reductions in taxi journey costs, increased partnership working 
with schools to explore shared transport options, development of in-house delivery model to provide a council managed service for routes 
transporting 1-4 passengers 

2,000 

C2 Service budget reductions: 5% reduction in controllable spend across directorate budgets 500 

C3 Public Realm contract: LEAN efficiencies in services delivered through public realm contract  375 

INCREASE INCOME £1,200k 

I1 Car-parking: income arising from increased activity from existing sources 900 

I2 Inflationary uplifts: to increase income from fees and charges across the directorate 200 

I3 Income generation: additional income from S278 (Highways Act) developer fees and fees and commuted sums from developers from 
S38 agreements under the Highways Act 1980 

100 

MANAGE DEMAND £500k 

D1 Subsidised public transport: review of public transport subsidised routes to reflect demand and usage of current routes 500 

DELIVER EFFICIENCIES £2,629k 

E1 Vacancy management: deletion of vacant posts across Directorate 500 

E2 Grant utilisation: additional utilisation of the Local Transport grant (LTG) 50 

E3 Reallocation of directorate reserves: to maintain expenditure for Public Rights of Way (£250k), Drainage (£445k) and Lengthsman 
Scheme (£250k) added to base budget in 2024/25 on receipt of additional funding at Final Local Government Settlement 

945 

E4 Waste stock: reduction in levels held of household waste collection stock 60 

E5 Energy costs: reduction in energy budget resulting from efficient usage and lower kw prices 80 

E6 Grant utilisation: review of application of the Public Health Ringfenced Grant (PHRG) against eligible directorate expenditure 294 

E7 Grant utilisation: utilisation of Bus Services Improvement grant (BSIP) on Public Subsidised Routes 500 

E8 Transfer: transfer of toilet facilities to parish councils 200 

  7,204 

 
  

7985



Appendix D: Capital Projects 2026/27 to 2029/30   
 

Project 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Highway Maintenance Block DfT (previously LTP)  23,967 - 27,449 - 29,695 - 33,948 - 

Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 5,000 5,000 - - - - - - 

Highways Infrastructure Investment 6,385 6,385 - - - - - - 

Public Realm Improvements for Ash Die Back 482 482 118 118 - - - - 

E & E's S106 4,207 - 2,429 - - - - - 

Play Area Investment 750 750 - - - - - - 

Public Realm Services Fleet 1,322 1,322 - - 218 218 - - 

Public Realm Mobilisation 450 450 - - - - - - 

Public Rights of Way 1,000 619 - - - - - - 

Traffic Signal Obsolescence Grant and Green Light 
Fund* 

- - - - - - - - 

Hereford City Centre Transport Package 3,029 774 - - - - - - 

Hereford ATMs and Super Cycle Highway 1,000 1,000 - - - - - - 

Active Travel Fund 4* - - - - - - - - 

Active Travel Fund 5 99 - - - - - - - 

Consolidated Active Travel Fund 499 - 234 - 234 - 234 - 

Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 13,584 11,040 11,700 11,700 17,560 17,560 - - 

Stronger Towns Fund - Greening the City* - - - - - - - - 

LUF - Active Travel Measures (north of river) 716 716 926 926 - - - - 

LUF - Active Travel Measures (south of river) 6,000 - - - - - - - 

Local Transport Grant 5,975 - 6,966 - 7,775 - 8,584 - 

Bus Service Improvement Plan 900 - 918 - 936 - 954 - 

Integrated Wetlands 398 - - - - - - - 

Natural Flood Management 390 - - - - - - - 

Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Capital Fund 
(LEVI)  

120 - 240 - 120 - 644 - 

LEVI Pilot Fund Grant 60 - - - - - - - 

Wye Valley National Landscape (previously AONB)* - - - - - - - - 

Solar Photovoltaic Panels 535 535 385 385 - - - - 

Yazor Brook* - - - - - - - - 

Waste - - 6,200 6,012 - - - - 

Home Upgrade Grant* - - - - - - - - 

8086



Project 

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Total 
 

£’000 

Funded by 
borrowing 

£’000 

Warm Homes Grant 1,003 - 982 - - - - - 

Herefordshire Flood Risk Mitigation 1,805 1,055 - - - - - - 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund* - - - - - - - - 

HWGTA - Development of Vocational Work Based 
Skills Investment* 

- - - - - - - - 

Employment Land & Incubation Space in Market 
Towns 

1,460 - 8,360 6,307 - - - - 

Rural Prosperity Fund* - - - - - - - - 

Strategic/Emergency Housing Capital Projects  2,650 - 3,900 3,895 3,450 3,450 - - 

Historic Building Fund - - 5,000 5,000 - - - - 

Work to Shirehall Annex (Care Leavers Base)* - - - - - - - - 

Estates Capital Programme 2019/22* - - - - - - - - 

Residual property works (2019 condition reports)* - - - - - - - - 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 22-25* - - - - - - - - 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 23-25 990 756 -  - - - - 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 24-27 483 483 - - - - - - 

Building works from 2022 Condition Surveys 974 974 350 350 - - - - 

Shirehall Improvement Works 3,750 2,000 - - - - - - 

Property Improvements in Care Homes 484 484 - - - - - - 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 26-29  1,809 809 1,121 1,121 35 35 - - 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 25-28 2,622 2,222 526 326 - - - - 

Total  94,898 37,856 77,804 36,140 60,023 21,263 44,364 - 

 

*Spend in prior years 

 
  

8187



88



Appendix D 

 

OFFICIAL 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2026/27 

Introduction 

1.1 Treasury Management is the management of the council’s borrowing, investments and 
cash flows, including its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the 
effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks. 

1.2 This strategy has been prepared in accordance with the following guidance: 

 Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC, now MHCLG) 
Statutory guidance on local government investments (2018) 

 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) Capital finance: 
guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (5th edition) (2024) 

 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
for capital finance in local authorities (2021) 

 CIPFA Treasury management in the public services: Code of practice (2021) 
 

1.3 To support this Treasury Management Strategy (TMS), the council maintains Treasury 
Management Practices (TMP) that outline how the council’s strategic policy objectives for 
treasury management will be achieved. The operational practices are maintained by the 
corporate finance team and approved by the Chief Finance Officer.  

1.4 The council employs external treasury management advisors, MUFG Corporate Markets 
(MUFG), who provide advice and guidance on treasury management activities, including 
interest rate forecasts. This is utilised to inform borrowing and investment decisions. 

1.5 This report incorporates prudential and treasury indicators (Annex C) as required by the 
Prudential Code, and a treasury management policy statement (Annex E) as required by 
the Treasury Management Code of Practice. 

Economic Context 

2.1 The UK economy remains a fiscal challenge following a prolonged period of high interest 
rates and relatively volatile inflation, caused initially by the global pandemic and the 
subsequent cost of living crisis. UK growth is improving marginally, with Gross Domestic 
Product (GDP) at 0.7% for quarter 1 and 0.2% for quarter 2 2025. 

2.2 Domestic inflation rates are elevated in comparison to the target rate of 2.0%. Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) has been between 3.2% and 3.8% since April 2025. CPI inflation is 
expected to decrease to 2.5% in April 2026, falling to 1.8% by the end of the financial year. 

2.3 The Bank of England base rate was lowered from 4.25% to 4.00% in August and then to 
3.75% in December. MUFG have provided an interest rate forecast in Annex D, showing 
a forecast steady decrease to 3.25% at the end of the 26/27 financial year. 

2.4 There are some significant risks that could impact these forecasts. There are geo-political 
risks of ongoing conflicts, with a potential impact on oil prices and therefore an upside risk 
to inflationary pressure. Labour supply shortages could lead to sticky wage growth which 
also has a potential impact on inflation. 

1589



 

OFFICIAL 

Borrowing Strategy 

3.1 The council primarily borrows to fund capital expenditure; with borrowing driven by the 
requirements of the approved capital investment budget. Borrowing requirements are also 
driven by the increasing Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit. The objective of the 
borrowing strategy is to manage the risk of current and potential future debt.  

3.2 The council is not permitted to borrow to invest for the primary purpose of financial return. 

3.3 This strategy serves to balance the affordability of loan interest payments from the revenue 
budget with the long-term stability of the debt portfolio. The strategy aims to achieve a low 
and certain cost of finance whilst retaining flexibility should financing requirements change 
in the future. The council will minimise cash balances by utilising internal borrowing where 
possible.  

3.4 The Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) is the preferred route for borrowing across the local 
government sector.  If borrowing is required, then the council will favour short term loans 
because the interest rates on long term loans are relatively high (PWLB 25-year rate is 
5.8%, see Annex D). Longer term borrowing will only be considered when interest rates 
are lowered. Local Authority to Local Authority borrowing will also be considered.  

3.5 The approved sources of borrowing for the council are: - 

 Internal borrowing (reserves/balances) 

 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 

 UK Local Authorities 

 Any institution approved for investments (see Annual Investment Strategy section) 

 Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK 

 UK public and private sector pension funds 

 Capital market bond investors 

 Local capital finance company and any other special purpose companies created to 
enable local authority bond issues 
 

3.6 In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing:- 

 Leases 

 Hire purchase arrangements 

 Private Finance Initiatives 

 Sale and leaseback arrangements 
 

3.7 The council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position. This means that the 
capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt, as cash supporting the council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been 
used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as medium and longer term dated 
borrowing rates are expected to fall from their current levels.  

3.8 PWLB permits the repayment of loans before maturity by either paying a premium or 
receiving a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. This option 
will be kept under review and will be considered where this is expected to lead to an overall 
saving or reduction in risk. 

3.9 The interest on the LOBO loans becomes due every 6 months. At this point, the lender 
has the option of increasing the interest rate, and the borrower can accept the interest rate 
increase, or pay back the loans. 

1690



 

OFFICIAL 

3.10 As at 31 October 2025, the council manages current loan debt of £135.5 million, which is 
detailed in Annex A (treasury portfolio) and Annex B (borrowing maturity profile). This 
comprises £123.5 million of Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans, which are all fixed 
interest long term loans, and £12.0 million Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans. 

3.11 The council borrowing is forecast to be £161.4 million at 31 March 2026. This is expected 
to increase to £225.8 million by 31 March 2027.  The estimated movement of £64.4 million 
in 2026/27 is represented by additional prudential borrowing to fund capital spend of £52.2 
million, additional prudential borrowing to fund DSG of £19.9 million less £7.7 million 
principal repayments.  

Investment Strategy 

4.1 The objective of the investment strategy is to ensure prudence is applied and risks are 
managed when the council holds surplus funds (income received in advance of 
expenditure).  

4.2 The council will primarily consider security (protecting the capital sum invested from loss) 
and liquidity (ensuring the funds are available for expenditure when needed) before yield. 
For 2026/27 the council will continue to focus on Money Market Funds (MMF) which are 
liquid, diverse and spread the credit risk. There are currently relatively high rates of interest 
to be gained on MMFs, whilst keeping the risk levels at an appropriate level. The council 
will supplement this with some fixed term deposits with varying maturity lags to maximise 
returns during a period of interest rate cuts. 

4.3 The council applies the credit worthiness service provided by MUFG. This service employs 
a modelling approach utilising credit ratings from three main credit rating agencies (Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s). This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit 
watches and credit outlooks in a weighted scoring system to which MUFG allocate a series 
of colour coded bands with suggested maximum durations for investments. 

4.4 Typically, the minimum credit ratings criteria the council use will be short-term rating (Fitch 
or equivalents) of F1 and a long term rating of A-. There may be occasions when the 
counterparty ratings from one agency are marginally lower than these ratings but still may 
be used. In these instances, consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings 
available, or other topical market information, to support their use. 

4.5 The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from the UK and 
from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- (Fitch or equivalents). If 
investments are to be made overseas, then approval ahead of the investment being made 
is required from the Chief Finance Officer. Santander UK plc (a subsidiary of Spain’s 
Banco Santander) and Clydesdale Bank plc (a subsidiary of National Australia Bank) will 
be classed as UK banks due to their substantial franchises and the arms-length nature of 
the parent-subsidiary relationship. 

4.6 Investment limits for approved counterparties are detailed in the table below for specified 
investments. Specified investments are those denominated in pound sterling, due to be 
repaid within 12 months, not defined as capital expenditure and invested in UK 
government/Local Authority/a high credit quality investment scheme (A- UK domiciled or 
AA- non-UK domiciled). 

  

1791



 

OFFICIAL 

Table 1 Investment limits for approved counterparties 

Counterparty Investment 
type 

Rating £ limit Time limit 

Banks and 
Building 
societies 

Term deposits, 
certificate of 
deposit or 
corporate bond 

Yellow 
Purple 
Orange 
Blue 
Red 
Green 
No colour 

£5m 
£5m 
£5m 
£5m 
£5m 
£5m 
£nil 

5 years 
2 years 
1 year 
1 year 
6 months 
100 days 
None 

Council’s 
banker 

  £5m Liquid 

Debt 
Management 
Account 
Deposit Facility 
(DMADF) 

DMADF 
account 

UK sovereign Unlimited 6 months 

UK 
Government 

UK gilts or 
Treasure bills 

UK sovereign Unlimited 364 days 

Multilateral 
development 
banks 

Bonds AAA £5m Liquid 

Local 
Authorities 

Term deposits n/a £10m 1 year 

Money Market 
Funds (MMF) 

MMF AAA £10m Liquid 

Pooled funds Pooled funds  £5m per fund  

 

4.7 Investment limits are detailed in the table below for non-specified investments. Non-
specified investments are those that do not meet the definition of specified investments, 
for the council, this means those longer than 12 months. 

Table 2 Investment limits for non-specified investments 

Investment type £ limit 

Total long term investments £5m 

Total investments with unrecognised 
credit ratings 

£5m 

Total non-specified investments £10m 

 

4.8 The council will take an active approach to invest in environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) entities, but this will be a secondary consideration to security, liquidity and yield. 

4.9 As at 31 October 2025, the council has £55.7 million of investments, spread across banks 
and MMFs.  This current investment portfolio is detailed in Annex A. 

 

  

1892



 

OFFICIAL 

Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 

5.1 Where the council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside resources to 
repay that debt in later years. The amount charged to the revenue budget for the notional 
repayment of debt is known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The Local 
Government Act 2003 requires the council to have regard to the MHCLG guidance on 
MRP most recently issued in 2024. The broad aim of the guidance is to ensure that a 
prudent provision is made to enable debt to be repaid over a period that is reasonably 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits.  

5.2 MRP is based on the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). This is a measure of all capital 
expenditure that has not yet been funded by capital or revenue resources. The elements 
of the council’s CFR are listed in table 3 below. 

Table 3 CFR calculation 

CFR element Indicative 
1 April 

2026 £000 

Included in MRP charge 

Supported borrowing pre 2017/18 96,325 Yes 

Prudential borrowing related to the capital 
programme spend 

205,555 Yes 

Leases capitalised under IFRS 16 2,530 Yes 

Private Finance Initiatives 44,985 Yes 

Adjustment A (historic adjustment from initial 
statutory guidance) 

3,060 No – exclusion permitted 
under paragraph 47 of 
statutory guidance 

Loan debtor adjustments from waste loan 
repayments treated as capital 

(17,438) No – exclusion permitted 
under paragraph 71 of 
statutory guidance 

 335,017  

 

5.3 The MRP policy is to charge on an annuity basis at a rate of 4% of the applicable 
components of CFR on an asset-by-asset basis. No MRP is charged in year of addition. 
For leases and private finance initiatives the MRP charge is equal to the reduction in the 
liability for that year. There have been no changes to the policy from 2025/26. 

5.4 There is no planned voluntary overpayment of MRP for 2026/27. 

5.5 In line with the guidance, the policy for the 2026/27 calculation of MRP is as follows: 

Table 4 MRP methodology and charge 

 MRP methodology Indicative MRP charge 
2026/27 £000 

Supported borrowing Annuity basis at rate of 4% 965 

Prudential borrowing Annuity basis at rate of 4% 11,244 

Subtotal  12,209 

Finance leases and private 
finance initiatives 

Equal to value of payments that 
reduce the liability each year 

3,999 

Total  16,208 

 

  

1993



 

OFFICIAL 

ANNEX A Treasury Portfolio 

The table below shows the treasury investment and borrowing positions as at 31 March 2025 and 
31 October 2025. 

Table 5 Treasury portfolio 

Treasury investments 31 March 25 
£000 

31 March 25 
%  

 

31 Oct 25 
£000 

31 Oct 25 
% 

Banks - - 5,000 9% 

Banks – ESG “green” deposits 5,000 12% - - 

Local authorities 5,000 12% - - 

Money market funds 31,610 76% 50,740 91% 

Total treasury investments 41,610 100% 55,740 100% 

     

Treasury borrowing 31 March 25 
£000 

31 March 25 
%  

 

31 Oct 25 
£000 

31 Oct 25 
% 

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) (125,501) 91% (123,547) 91% 

Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) (12,000) 9% (12,000) 9% 

Total treasury borrowing (137,501) 100% (135,547) 100% 

     

Net treasury investments/(borrowing) (95,891) - (79,807) - 

ANNEX B Borrowing Maturity Profile 

The chart below shows when each loan matures over the next 50 years. The green block represents 
the LOBO loans, and the orange blocks represent PWLB loans. 

Chart 1 Loan maturity profile 

 

  

 £-

 £5,000,000

 £10,000,000

 £15,000,000

 £20,000,000

 £25,000,000

 £30,000,000

liquid < 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5-10
years

10-20
years

20-30
years

30-40
years

40-50
years

> 50
years

Loan maturities by type

PWLB LOBO

2094



 

OFFICIAL 

ANNEX C Prudential and Treasury Indicators 

Background 

1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires local authorities to have regard to CIPFA’s 

Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when 

determining how much money it can afford to borrow. The objectives of the Prudential 

Code are to ensure that the capital investment plans of local authorities are affordable, 

prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are taken in 

accordance with good professional practice.  

 

1.2 To demonstrate that the council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets 

out the following indicators that must be set and monitored. The indicators set out 

parameters within which the council should operate to ensure the objectives of the 

Prudential Code are met.  

Indicator 1: Estimates of capital expenditure  

2.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to make reasonable estimates of the total 

capital expenditure that it plans to incur during the forthcoming financial year and at least 

the following two financial years, as well as actual capital expenditure for the previous 

financial year. 

 

2.2 The actual amount of capital expenditure that was incurred during 2024/25, the forecast 

amount for 2025/26 and the estimated amounts for 2026/27 plus two further years, 

based on the current approved capital programme, are noted in Table 6 below. This 

excludes the financing need for other long-term liabilities, such as PFI and leasing 

arrangements that already include borrowing instruments. 

 

Table 6 Estimates of capital expenditure and funding 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

Capital expenditure 74,078 107,178 146,940 102,117 60,023 

      

Grants, contributions and 
capital receipts 

50,864 77,174 94,773 58,392 39,885 

Prudential borrowing 23,214 30,004 52,167 43,725 20,138 

Total funding 74,078 107,178 146,940 102,117 60,023 

 

Indicator 2: Capital financing requirement  

3.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to make reasonable estimates of the total 

capital financing requirement at the end of the forthcoming financial year and the 

following two years, as well as the actual capital financing requirement for the previous 

financial year. 

 

3.2 The capital financing requirement (CFR) measures the council’s underlying need to 

borrow for a capital purpose. It represents the capital expenditure not financed by capital 

receipts, capital grants, contributions or a direct revenue charge. The actual CFR for 

2195



 

OFFICIAL 

2024/25, the forecast amount for 2025/26 and the estimated amounts for 2026/27 plus 

two further years are noted in Table 7 below. The CFR includes other long-term 

liabilities, such as PFI and leasing arrangements. However, the Authority is not required 

to separately borrow for these because they already include a borrowing facility. 

 

Table 7 Capital financing requirement 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

CFR excluding PFI 269,436 287,502 326,635 356,528 362,317 

PFI and finance leases 51,128 47,515 43,784 39,753 35,321 

Total CFR 320,564 335,017 370,419 396,281 397,638 

Indicator 3: Gross debt and the capital financing requirement  

4.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to ensure that the total gross debt does 

not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the 

preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the 

current and next two financial years. 

 

4.2 This indicator monitors the requirement for debt not to exceed the CFR. The actual ratio 

for 2024/25, the forecast amount for 2025/26 and the estimated amounts for 2026/27 

plus two further years. The ratio of gross debt to CFR is below 100% for each of the 

disclosed years, confirming that gross debt does not exceed CFR, and that the council is 

operating within the parameters as set out in the Prudential Code. The impact of IFRS 16 

has been included in these figures. 

 

Table 8 Ratio of gross debt to CFR 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

External borrowing debt 138,792 161,397 225,753 277,352 307,222 

PFI and finance lease 
debt 

47,800 43,979 39,980 35,754 31,275 

Total gross debt 186,592 205,376 265,733 313,106 338,497 

CFR 320,564 335,017 370,419 396,281 397,638 

Ratio of gross debt to 
CFR 

58% 61% 72% 79% 85% 

 

Indicator 4: Authorised limit for external debt  

5.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to set an authorised limit for its gross 

external debt for the forthcoming financial year and the following two years. 

 

5.2 The authorised limit represents an upper limit of borrowing that the council can legally 

owe. The actual limit for 2024/25, the forecast amount for 2025/26 and the estimated 

amounts for 2026/27 plus two further years. By comparing the gross debt figures in table 

8 to the authorised limits in table 9, it is confirmed that the council is operating within the 

parameters as set out in the Prudential Code. 

 

2296



 

OFFICIAL 

Table 9 Authorised limit 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

External borrowing 350,000 350,000 388,000 411,000 411,000 

Other long term liabilities 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 

Total authorised limit 420,000 420,000 458,000 481,000 481,000 

 

Indicator 5: Operational boundary for external debt  

6.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to set an operational boundary for its 

gross external debt for the forthcoming financial year and the following two years. 

 

6.2 The operational boundary is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 

expected to exceed and provides a parameter to monitor day to day treasury 

management activity. The actual limit for 2024/25, the forecast amount for 2025/26 and 

the estimated amounts for 2026/27 plus two further years. By comparing the gross debt 

figures in table 8 to the operational boundaries in table 10, it is confirmed that the council 

is operating within the parameters as set out in the Prudential Code. 

 

Table 10 Operational boundary 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

External borrowing 340,000 340,000 376,000 398,000 398,000 

Other long term liabilities 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 

Total operational 
boundary 

400,000 400,000 436,000 458,000 458,000 

 

Indicator 6: Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream  

7.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to estimate the proportion of financing 

costs to net revenue stream for the forthcoming financial year and the following two 

years, as well as actual figures for the previous financial year. 

 

7.2 This ratio highlights the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet financing 

costs and is an indicator of the affordability of borrowing. The actual limit for 2024/25, the 

forecast amount for 2025/26 and the estimated amounts for 2026/27 plus two further 

years. The calculated ratios of between 10% and 15% confirm that the council’s 

borrowing is currently considered to be affordable.  

  

2397



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Table 11 Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

MRP  12,845 15,106 16,208 17,227 18,828 

Interest payable 7,721 9,011 12,252 14,561 16,340 

Total financing costs 20,566 24,117 28,460 31,788 35,168 

Net revenue stream 202,904 201,827 234,120 238,331 242,359 

Ratio of financing costs 
to net revenue stream 

10% 12% 12% 13% 15% 

 

Indicator 7: Maturity structure of borrowing  

8.1 The council sets upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its borrowing to 

mitigate against the risk of exposure to interest rate fluctuations on debt refinancing. The 

table below shows the upper limit, the lower limit, the actual level for 2024/25 and the 

forecast level for 2025/25. This confirms that the council is operating within the lower and 

upper limit. 

 

Table 12 Maturity structure of borrowing 

 2024/25 
actual 

% 

2025/26 
forecast 

% 

Lower limit 
% 

Upper limit 
% 

Under 12 months 5% 6% 0% 10% 

Between 12 months and 24 
months 

6% 5% 0% 10% 

Between 24 months and 5 
years 

7% 9% 0% 25% 

Between 5 years and 10 years 21% 19% 0% 35% 

10 years and above 61% 61% 0% 80% 

 100% 100%   

 

Indicator 8: Upper limit of investments over 364 days  

9.1 The council sets an upper limit for total principal sums invested over 364 days to mitigate 

against the risk of exposure to loss due to early repayment requirements. The actual limit 

for 2024/25, the forecast amount for 2025/26 and the estimated amounts for 2026/27 

plus two further years. This is monitored through-out the year in day-to-day treasury 

management activity. 

 

Table 13 Upper limit of investments over 364 days 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

Upper limit 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

 

2498



 

OFFICIAL 

Indicator 9: Ratio of net commercial and service investments income to net revenue 

stream 

10.1 The Prudential Code requires local authorities to estimate the proportion of net income 

from commercial and service investments to net revenue stream for the forthcoming 

financial year and the following two years, as well as actual figures for the previous 

financial year. 

 

10.2 This ratio highlights the proportion of the revenue income budget reliant on commercial 

income. The actual limit for 2024/25, the forecast amount for 2025/26 and the estimated 

amounts for 2026/27 plus two further years. The calculated ratios of 1% confirm that the 

council is not over reliant on this income. 

 

Table 14 Ratio of net commercial and service investments income to net revenue 

stream 

 2024/25 
actual 

£000 

2025/26 
forecast 

£000 

2026/27 
estimate 

£000 

2027/28 
estimate 

£000 

2028/29 
estimate 

£000 

Total net income from 
commercial and service 
investments 

2,744 2,808 2,892 2,979 3,068 

Net revenue stream 202,904 201,827 234,120 238,331 242,359 

Ratio of commercial 
income to net revenue 
stream 

1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 

 
 

Indicator 10: Liability benchmark  

11.1 The liability benchmark provides a measure of how well the existing loans portfolio 

matches planned borrowing needs for capital. It is calculated by deducting investable 

resources on the balance sheet from the outstanding debt liability, adjusting for a 

minimum investment allowance. A borrowing requirement is anticipated where the 

liability benchmark (grey dotted line) is greater than the existing debt. 

 

11.2 The existing loans portfolio is shown on the chart below as blue and grey bar charts. The 

liability benchmark is the grey dotted line. By comparing these, it can be seen that the 

council is under-borrowed in the short term, meaning that it is utilising its strong balance 

sheet position instead of increasing loan debt. The gap between the black line (total 

existing loans) and the grey dotted line (the liability benchmark/gross loans requirement) 

shows the additional borrowing need for the current approved capital commitments. 

 
 

2599



Appendix D 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

-£300,000

-£200,000

-£100,000

£0

£100,000

£200,000

£300,000

£400,000

£500,000
2

0
2

5

2
0
2

7

2
0
2

9

2
0
3

1

2
0
3

3

2
0
3

5

2
0
3

7

2
0
3

9

2
0
4

1

2
0
4

3

2
0
4

5

2
0
4

7

2
0
4

9

2
0
5

1

2
0
5

3

2
0
5

5

2
0
5

7

2
0
5

9

2
0
6

1

2
0
6

3

2
0
6

5

2
0
6

7

2
0
6

9

2
0
7

1

2
0
7

3

2
0
7

5

2
0
7

7

2
0
7

9

2
0
8

1

2
0
8

3

2
0
8

5

2
0
8

7

2
0
8

9

2
0
9

1

2
0
9

3

2
0
9

5

T
o

ta
l 
A

m
o

u
n

t 
(£

'0
0

0
)

Liability Benchmark

PWLB Loans

Market Loans (excl LOBO loans)

LOBO Loans

Short Term inc LA Temporary Borrowing (<1 year)

Variable rate loans

Existing Loan Debt Outstanding

Net Loans Requirement (forecast net loan debt)

Loans CFR

Liability Benchmark (Gross Loans Requirement)

26
100



Appendix D 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

ANNEX D Interest Rate Forecast 

MUFG provide the council with interest rate forecasts as part of their advisory role. The following 

forecasts for the bank base rate and Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) rates were provided on 22 

December 2025. 

Table 15 MUFG interest rate forecasts 

 Mar 
26 

Jun 
26 

Sep 
26 

Dec 
26 

Mar 
27 

Jun 
27 

Sep 
27 

Dec 
27 

Mar 
28 

Jun 
28 

Sep 
28 

Dec 
28 

Mar 
29 

Bank 
base rate 
% 

3.75 3.50 3.50 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 

              

PWLB 5 
year rate 
% 

4.60 4.50 4.30 4.20 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 

PWLB 10 
year rate 
% 

5.20 5.00 4.90 4.80 4.80 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.60 4.60 4.60 4.70 

PWLB 25 
year rate 
% 

5.80 5.70 5.60 5.50 5.50 5.40 5.30 5.30 5.30 5.20 5.20 5.20 5.20 

PWLB 50 
year rate 
% 

5.60 5.50 5.40 5.30 5.30 5.20 5.10 5.10 5.10 5.00 5.10 5.00 5.00 

  

27101



 

OFFICIAL 

ANNEX E Treasury Management Policy Statement 

Statement of Purpose  

1.1 Herefordshire Council adopts the recommendations made in CIPFA’s Treasury 

Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice guidance, which was revised in 

2021. The council adopts the following key principles and clauses. 

Key Principles  

2.1 Herefordshire Council adopts the following three key principles (identified in Section 4 of 

the Code):   

 The council will put in place formal and comprehensive objectives, policies and 

practices, strategies and reporting arrangements for the effective management and 

control of its treasury management activities.   

 The council will ensure that its policies and practices make clear that the effective 

management and control of risk are prime objectives of its treasury management 

activities and that responsibility for these lies clearly with the council. In addition, 

the council’s appetite for risk will form part of its annual strategy and will ensure 

that priority is given to security and portfolio liquidity when investing treasury funds.  

 The council acknowledges that the pursuit of value for money in treasury 

management, and the use of suitable performance measures, are valid and 

important tools for responsible organisations to employ in support of business and 

service objectives, and that within the context of effective risk management, the 

council’s treasury management policies and practices should reflect this. 

Adopted Clauses   

3.1 Herefordshire Council formally adopts the following clauses (identified in Section 5 of the 
code):  

 The council will create and maintain, as the cornerstones for effective treasury 
management:    

 A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives and 
approach to risk management of its treasury management activities.  

 Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner in 
which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and objectives, and 
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.  
 

The content of the policy statement and TMPs will follow the recommendations 
contained in Sections 6 and 7 of the Code, subject only to amendment where 
necessary to reflect the particular circumstances of the council.  Such amendments 
will not result in the organisation materially deviating from the Code’s key principles.   

 Full council will receive reports on its treasury management policies, practices and 
activities, including, as a minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the 
year, a mid-year review and an annual report after its close in the form prescribed in 
its TMPs. 

 The responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of treasury 
management policies and practices is delegated to Cabinet and for the execution 
and administration of treasury management decisions to the Director of Resources 
and Assurance, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy statement 

28102



 

OFFICIAL 

and TMPs and, if they are a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard of Professional 
Practice on Treasury Management.  

 The council nominates Scrutiny Management Board to be responsible for ensuring 
effective scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies.  

Definition of Treasury Management  

4.1 Herefordshire Council defines its treasury management activities as: -  

‘The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, including 
its banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.’  

Policy Objectives    

5.1 Herefordshire Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk 
to be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities 
will be measured.  Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management 
activities will focus on their risk implications for the council, and any financial instruments 
entered into to manage these risks.  

5.2 Herefordshire Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is therefore 
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and to 
employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the 
context of effective risk management.  

Non-treasury investments   

6.1 Herefordshire Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property 
primarily for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires 
careful investment management. Such activity includes loans supporting service 
outcomes, investments in subsidiaries and investment property portfolios.  

6.2 Herefordshire Council will ensure that all investments in the capital programme will set out, 
where relevant, the risk appetite and policy and arrangement for non-treasury investments. 
The risk appetite for these activities may differ from that of treasury management.  

6.3 Herefordshire Council will maintain a schedule setting out a summary of existing material 
investments, subsidiaries, joint ventures and liabilities including financial guarantees and 
the organisations risk exposure within its annual statement of accounts.  

29103



104



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Simon Cann, Tel: 01432 260667, email: Simon.Cann@herefordshire.gov.ukl 

OFFICIAL 

Title of report: DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital 
Investment Budget and Capital Strategy 
Update 

Meeting:    Scrutiny Management Board 

Meeting date:   Friday 23 January 2026 
 

Cabinet Member:  Peter Stoddart, Finance and Corporate Services 
 

Report by:   Director of Finance  

Report Author:   Strategic Capital Finance Manager 

Classification 

Open   

Decision type 

This is not an executive decision 

Wards affected  

(All Wards); 

Purpose  

To seek the views of the Scrutiny Management Board on the draft capital investment budget and 
capital strategy proposals for 2026/27. This draft budget was proposed at Cabinet at its meeting on 20 
January 2026. 

Recommendation(s) 

That: 

a) having regard to the proposals the committee determines any recommendations it 
wishes to make to Cabinet in relation to the 2026/27 Capital Investment Budget and 
Capital Strategy.  

Alternative options 

1. There are no alternatives to the recommendation; Cabinet is responsible for developing budget 
proposals for Council consideration and it is a function of this committee to make reports or 
recommendations to the executive with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive. The council’s budget and policy framework rules require Cabinet 

105

AGENDA ITEM 8



 

OFFICIAL 

to consult with scrutiny committees on budget proposals in order that the scrutiny committee 
members may inform and support the process for making Cabinet proposals to Council. 

2. It is open to the committee to recommend alternative spending proposals or strategic priorities; 
however given the legal requirement to set a balanced budget should additional expenditure be 
proposed, compensatory savings proposals must also be identified. 

Key considerations 

3. The capital programme reflects capital investment generating benefit to the county for a period 
in excess of one year. 

4. There was a Full Council meeting on 7 February 2025 and the current capital programme 
included in this report is the base capital programme approved at that meeting. 

5. The approved capital programme is provided at appendix B as at the start of January 2026. 
The reprofiling of the capital spend was carried out in quarter 2 in line with external audit 
recommendations and reported separately to cabinet. Forecasting against budget is reported 
to Cabinet in the quarterly report, which includes an up to date forecast of the timing of capital 
spend, the Q3 forecast will be reported at the February meeting. The additional grants received 
are listed at the bottom of appendix B and have all been approved by the chief finance officer 
in year.  

6. The proposed Capital Programme for 2026/27 presents an ambitious programme of capital 
investment aligned to the priorities of the Council Plan across People, Place, Growth and 
Transformation. 

7. The proposed additions for 2026/27 represent projects which will: 

a. deliver increased temporary and emergency accommodation to respond to 
homelessness and housing demand across the county; 

b. mitigate key revenue budget pressures through alternative school provision and Pupil 
Referral Units; 

c. improve the use of technology to deliver efficiencies and innovation in services to 
residents; 

d. deliver new infrastructure to support growth opportunities for housing; 
e. strengthen resilience of our school and property assets; 
f. improve public rights of way access; and 
g. provide continued investment in the county’s road network. 

8. All proposals are included in appendix A along with outline strategic business cases at 
appendix E. Appendix A provides details of the proposed additions to the existing capital 
programme that have been identified and the impact of approving these additions. Fourteen 
capital investment budget proposals totalling £44.0 million have been identified, to be funded 
by prudential borrowing, capital receipts reserve and revenue reserves.  

9. Responding to social and affordable housing needs across the county remains a high priority 
for the council.  A further provision of £10.0m has been added to the capital programme to 
bring forward schemes to deliver social housing to meet the county’s urgent need for provision, 
provide better homes for those in need, and reduce the high-cost dependence on temporary 
accommodation.  The funding is based on borrowing which is repaid through the income from 
housing benefit and the reduced cost of temporary accommodation, along with applications for 
Homes England grants and some provision of corporate funded borrowing where required.  

10. The council is committed to identifying solutions to develop affordable housing and work is 
underway to review best practice options through engagement with developers and registered 
providers.  

106



 

OFFICIAL 

11. An Historic Building Fund of £5.0m has been added to fund future works to preserve and 
restore historic buildings in Hereford including the Museum & Art Gallery, Shirehall and Town 
Hall. The approved Capital Programme includes an existing allocation of £0.75m to fund Town 
Hall improvements. This Historic Building Fund will be held centrally, and it is delegated to the 
S151 officer to allocate funds to specific project budgets once final contract prices have been 
received to carry out the work required. 

12. An informal review of all prospective capital funding requests has been completed to ensure 
the financial impact of the funding requests is taken account of in the medium term financial 
strategy. 

13. A review of the current capital programme took place at the same time and it was agreed to 
remove a number of projects that were no longer needed or alternative funding identified to 
release borrowing and capital receipts for utilisation with the new bids. The projects that have 
been removed from the proposed capital programme at appendix c are: 

a. Employment land in Market Towns £4.0m capital receipts use has been removed as   
there has been no projects come forward at present to spend this budget and any need 
will be reviewed in the future if business cases come forward 

b. City and Market Town Public Realm Investment of £1.2m has been removed but this 
work will still be carried out but funded from the Local Transport Grant allocation 

c. Road Safety Schemes £3.0m has been removed but this work will still be carried out 
but funded from the Local Transport Grant allocation 

d. Council school transport fleet £0.35m has been removed as a result of the review and 
any future likely delivery model being based on leased vehicle and not purchases. 

e. Estates Programme of works, there has been a review of all the various budgets in the 
capital programme and where work is not deemed as required presently the budget has 
been removed or the asset has been transferred then there is no longer a requirement. 
A total of £2.65m has been removed across a number of projects. 

14. As part of the 2016/17 Local Government Finance Settlement, the government announced new 
flexibilities allowing local authorities to use capital receipts to fund transformation expenditure. 
This guidance was extended and updated in 2024/25 to extend the freedom for local 
authorities to use eligible capital receipts up to 2029/30 to help fund the revenue costs of 
transformation and release savings. 

15. The direction permits authorities to use the proceeds from asset sales to fund the revenue 
costs of projects that will deliver ongoing savings, reduce costs, increase revenue or support a 
more efficient provision of services. The council intends to take advantage of this flexibility to 
support the financing of qualifying expenditure to deliver transformation change programmes 
across the organisation. Therefore £1.0 million in 2026/27 revenue transformation works will be 
funded from the use of the capital receipts reserve subject to receipt of the expected capital 
receipts in year. 

16. Inclusion in the capital programme is not approval to proceed. Each project will be subject to its 
own governance, a full business case will be presented for approval to Cabinet where required 
and compliance with the council’s contract procedure rules as applicable. 

17. The capital strategy has been developed in accordance with CIPFA guidelines. The purpose of 
the capital strategy is to tell a story that gives a clear and concise view of how the council 
determines its priorities for capital investment, decides how much it can afford to borrow and 
sets its risk appetite. It should not duplicate other more detailed policies, procedures and plans 
but instead sit above these and reference these to allow those seeking more detail to know 
where to find it. That said it should provide sufficient detail so that it provides an accessible 
single source for the reader. The strategy is included at appendix D and in line with the 
guidelines requires Council approval. 

107



 

OFFICIAL 

Community impact 

18. In accordance with the adopted code of corporate governance, Herefordshire Council achieves 
its intended outcomes by providing a mixture of legal, regulatory and practical interventions. 
Determining the right mix of these is an important strategic choice to make to ensure intended 
outcomes are achieved. The council needs robust decision making mechanisms to ensure our 
outcomes can be achieved in a way that provides the best use of resources while still enabling 
efficient and effective operations. 

19. The capital investment proposals support the overall delivery plan and service delivery 
strategies in place. The overall aim of capital expenditure is to benefit the community through 
improved facilities and by promoting economic growth. A specific community impact 
assessment, including any health and safety implications or corporate parenting 
responsibilities, will be included in the decision report required for any new capital scheme 
commencing and incurring spend.  

Environmental Impact 

20. Herefordshire Council provides and purchases a wide range of services for the people of 
Herefordshire. Together with partner organisations in the private, public and voluntary sectors 
we share a strong commitment to improving our environmental sustainability, achieving carbon 
neutrality and to protect and enhance Herefordshire’s outstanding natural environment. 

21. Whilst this overarching budget setting document will not detail specific environmental impacts, 
consideration is always made to minimising waste and resources use in line with the council’s 
Environmental Policy. A specific environmental impact assessment for the service specific 
budget proposals will be considered as appropriate to seek to minimise any adverse 
environmental impact and actively seek opportunities to improve and enhance environmental 
performance. An environmental assessment will be developed and scoped for each project 
when they seek approval to spend through a separate governance decision. 

Equality duty 

22. The Public Sector Equality Duty requires the Council to consider how it can positively 
contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations and demonstrate that it is paying 
‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of services. An 
equality impact screening checklist will be completed for each capital project before any capital 
expenditure is incurred and where necessary a full Equality Impact Assessment will be 
performed. Equalities will be considered during the delivery of the service to ensure that the 
Council has regard to any potential effects on those with protected characteristics. 

Resource implications 

23. The proposed additions at appendix A total £44.0 million over the next four years. This is to be 
financed from £36.3million prudential borrowing, of which £12.9 million is in addition to the 
amount available through current levels of corporate funded borrowing and £8.2m is funded as 
a return on investment where income or savings benefits repay the cost of borrowing. £5 
million is to be funded from the use of the capital receipts reserve and £2.7 million from capital 
grants to be applied for. Where projects are in the capital programme but they depend on 
grant, if the grant request is not successful, the full project including any match funding will be 
removed unless a revised project is approved within the revised allocations. 

108



 

OFFICIAL 

Scheme 

C
ap

it
al

 G
ra

n
t 

fu
n

d
in

g 
£

0
0

0
 

R
ed

ir
ec

te
d

 f
u

n
d

in
g 

£
0

0
0

 

C
ap

it
al

 r
ec

ei
p

t 

fu
n

d
in

g 
£

0
0

0
 

Fu
n

d
ed

 b
y 

R
O

I £
0

0
0

 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 F
u

n
d

ed
 P

B
 

£
0

0
0

 Total 
Request 

£000 

Property Improvements in Care Homes – 
Phase 3 0.0  0.0  198.8  0.0  0.0  198.8  

Residential overnight short breaks 
refurbishment 0.0  0.0  60.0  0.0  0.0  60.0  

Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  5,000.0  5,000.0  

Strategic Housing Capital Projects  2,655.0  0.0  0.0  3,245.0  4,100.0  10,000.0  

Relocate Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  5,000.0  5,000.0  

Establish a new alternative provision (AP) 
centre 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  5,000.0  5,000.0  

Aylestone School Improvement Works 0.0  0.0  1,790.0  0.0  1,000.0  2,790.0  

Schools Capital Maintenance 0.0  0.0  1,570.0  0.0  0.0  1,570.0  

Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 3 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  5,000.0  5,000.0  

Managing Ash Dieback in Herefordshire 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  242.0  242.0  

Estates Building Improvement Programme 
2026-29  0.0  0.0  1,000.0  0.0  1,964.6  2,964.6  

Essential system updates and upgrades 0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0  174.0  174.0  

Public Rights of Way 0.0  0.0  381.2  0.0  618.8  1,000.0  

Historic Building Fund 0.0  0.0  0.0  5,000.0  0.0  5,000.0  

Total 2,655.0  0.0  5,000.0  8,245.0  28,099.4  43,999.4  

24. The corporate revenue implications of securing this new borrowing are included in the current 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy which had always 
allowed for £6.7million new prudential borrowing per annum over the strategy period. 

Funding Position 26/27 27/28 28/29 29/30 Total 

Total Corporate Borrowing Required   11,593.6  10,521.3    5,984.5              -      28,099.4  

Annual Funding Limit      6,700.0    6,700.0    6,700.0  6,700.0    26,800.0  

Unspent 24/25 borrowing to reallocate         533.0                533.0  

Unspent 25/26 borrowing estimated         804.0                804.0  

Estates Projects Removed      2,652.1             2,652.1  

Projects Removed      4,550.0             4,550.0  

Allocated Previously - 6,700.0  -6,700.0  - 6,700.0              -    - 20,100.0  

Total Funding Available  8,539.1  0.0  0.0  6,700.0  15,239.1  

Funding Variance -3,054.6  -10,521.3  -5,984.5  6,700.0  -12,860.3  

25. The additional borrowing requirement is reflected in an update to the Treasury Management 
Strategy as shown in the report appearing elsewhere on the Cabinet’s agenda today [20 
January 2026] with actual borrowing being secured, as cash funding is required at the optimal 
interest rate available at that time. The above table reflects borrowing above the annual 
funding each year, this will have an impact on future revenue budgets when the repayments 
have to be made. These additional costs are reflected in the table below, this is calculated over 
a 40 year period and therefore £0.82 million repayments will continue until fully repaid. 

Revenue Repayment Costs 27/28 28/29 29/30 30/31 

109



 

OFFICIAL 

 

26. Individual capital scheme resourcing implications will be detailed in the approval to precede 
decision. Appendix E contains the outline strategic business cases for each of the new 
projects. 

Legal implications 

27. The council is under a legal duty to sensibly manage capital finance. The council is able to 
borrow subject to limits set by the council, any nationally imposed limits, and it must do so in 
accordance with the prudential code on borrowing.  

28. The Local Government Act 2003 allows the council to borrow for any purpose relevant to its 
functions under any enactment and for the purposes of the prudent management of its financial 
affairs. 

29. Full Council is responsible for adopting the capital investment budget (referred to above as the 
capital programme) for the next financial year. Local Authorities deliver a range of services 
some of which are required to be undertaken under statutory duties and others which are a 
discretionary use of statutory powers. Local Authorities’ powers and duties are defined by 
legislation. The Localism Act 2011 provides a General Power of Competence under Section 1, 
which provides local authorities with the power to do anything that an individual may do, 
subject to limitations. Capital expenditure is defined under the Local Government Act 2003. It is 
therefore not only schemes that are necessary for the council to meet its statutory duties, 
which can be approved. Any scheme must be procured in accordance with the council’s own 
contract procedure rules and appropriate contractual documentation put in place to protect the 
council’s interests. 

30. Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 precludes a councillor from voting on 
the Council’s budget if he or she has an outstanding council tax debt of over two months. If a 
councillor who is precluded from voting is present at any meeting at which relevant matters are 
discussed, he or she must disclose that section 106 applies and may not vote. Failure to 
comply is a criminal offence. 

31. In accordance with the budget and policy framework, rules in the constitution the general 
scrutiny committee shall inform and support the process for making cabinet proposals to 
Council. Scrutiny Management Board will have considered the capital investment budget at 
appendix A at its meetings on 23 January 2026, to ensure the proposals included in appendix 
C and D have been developed in accordance with the constitution. 

32. Cabinet shall have regard to scrutiny recommendations and the responses to the consultation 
as have been made to it in drawing up or amending draft proposals for submission to Council, 
and its report to Council shall reflect those recommendations, comments, and the cabinet’s 
response to them. 

Risk management 

33. For all capital projects monthly budget control meetings give assurance on the robustness of 
budget control and monitoring, to highlight key risks and to identify any mitigation to reduce the 
impact of pressures on the council’s overall position for example through phasing of spend, 
identifying and securing scheme changes or alternative funding sources.  

34. Capital projects inherently give rise to risks in their delivery, both in time and budget. Individual 
scheme reporting and associated project boards exist to mitigate these risks. Furthermore 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Annual amount   195.49  868.85   1,251.86   823.06  

110



 

OFFICIAL 

slower delivery than forecast can mean the strategic ambitions are not being met as planned. 
All projects are expected to be managed through the programme management office once 
resources are in place, so further mitigating the risk of overspend or delays. 

35. The proposed additions have been reviewed in relation to risks, both in deliverability, costs, 
impact and associated scheme interdependencies. The individual scheme detail of the risks 
will be provided as individual schemes progress to approval to deliver.  

 

Consultees 

36. The council’s constitution states that budget consultees should include parish councils, health 
partners, the schools forum, business ratepayers, council taxpayers, the trade unions, political 
groups on the council, the scrutiny committees and such other organisations and persons as 
the leader shall determine. 

37. An online public consultation is now closed and responses being analysed and the results of 
this will be published for the Council meeting in February 2026. The main focus of the 
consultation was on council tax setting and the savings that needed to be identified to enable a 
balanced revenue budget to be presented due to the current pressures but is also seeking 
views on areas to invest in.  

Appendices 

Appendix A - Proposed capital investment additions from 2026/27 
 
Appendix B - Current status of approved capital programme 
 
Appendix C - Total proposed capital programme 
 
Appendix D - Proposed Capital Strategy  
 
Appendix E – Outline Strategic Business cases for capital investment proposals. 

 

Background papers 

 
None 
 

Glossary of Terms 

 
Capital Grant Funding – External income from another organisation 
 
Redirected Funding – Use of revenue reserves to fund capital 
 
Capital Receipt Funding – Use of the capital receipts reserve generated from sale of land, buildings 
and other assets of the council 
 
Funded by Return on Investment – this is where there is a return on investment to repay the borrowing 
costs, such as increased income or savings on the current budget by reducing on going costs 
 
Corporate funding by Prudential Borrowing – this is where prudential borrowing is repaid from the 
corporate revenue budget 
 

111





Appendix A

Scheme

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

C
ap

it
al

 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e

 £
0

0
0

Total 

26/27 

£000

Total 

27/28 

£000

Total 

28/29 

£000

Total 

29/30 

£000

C
ap

it
al

 G
ra

n
t 

fu
n

d
in

g 
£

0
0

0

R
ed

ir
ec

te
d

 f
u

n
d

in
g 

£
0

0
0

C
ap

it
al

 r
ec

ei
p

t 

fu
n

d
in

g 
£

0
0

0

Fu
n

d
ed

 b
y 

R
O

I £
0

0
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 F
u

n
d

ed
 

P
B

 £
0

0
0 Total 

Request 

£000

Property Improvements in Care Homes – Phase 3 1,154.0 198.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 198.8 0.0 0.0 198.8

Residential overnight short breaks refurbishment 60.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 60.0 0.0 0.0 60.0

Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 40,300.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 5,000.0

Strategic/Emergency Housing Capital Projects 2,650.0 3,900.0 3,450.0 0.0 2,655.0 0.0 0.0 3,245.0 4,100.0 10,000.0

Relocate Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units 1,000.0 1,500.0 3,500.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 5,000.0

Establish a new alternative provision (AP) centre 1,000.0 1,500.0 3,500.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 5,000.0

Aylestone School Improvement Works 1,790.0 1,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,790.0 0.0 1,000.0 2,790.0

Schools Capital Maintenance 1,200.0 1,570.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,570.0 0.0 0.0 1,570.0

Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 3 5,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 5,000.0

Managing Ash Dieback in Herefordshire 242.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 242.0 242.0

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2026-29 1,808.8 1,121.3 34.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,000.0 0.0 1,964.6 2,964.6

Essential system updates and upgrades 174.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 174.0 174.0

Public Rights of Way 1,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 381.2 0.0 618.8 1,000.0

Historic Building Fund 0.0 5,000.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000.0 0.0 5,000.0

Total 44,654.0 17,493.6 18,021.3 8,484.5 0.0 2,655.0 0.0 5,000.0 8,245.0 28,099.4 43,999.4

99113



114



 OFFICIAL#

Capital Programme position January 2025/26 Appendix B

Scheme Name Spend in 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

Prior 

Years

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Scheme 

Budget

Capital 

receipts

Grant & 

funding 

cont

Prudential 

borrowing Total

Prior 

Years

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Highway Maintenance Block DfT (previously LTP) 0 21,348 23,967 27,449 29,695 33,948 136,407 136,407 136,407 0 136,407

Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 0 10,081 0 0 0 0 10,081 0 10,081 10,081 0 10,081

City and Market Town Public Realm Investment 0 1,200 0 0 0 0 1,200 1,200 1,200 0 1,200

Highways Infrastructure Investment 7,354 7,301 6,385 0 0 0 21,040 1,580 12,106 13,686 7,354 21,040

Public Realm Improvements for Ash Die Back 581 477 240 118 0 0 1,416 835 835 581 1,416

E & E's S106 0 1,501 4,207 2,429 0 0 8,137 8,137 8,137 0 8,137

Play Area Investment 0 250 750 0 0 0 1,000 1,000          1,000 0 1,000

Public Realm Services Fleet 0 0 1,322 0 218 0 1,540 1,540          1,540 0 1,540

Public Realm Mobilisation 0 0 450 0 0 0 450 450             450 0 450

Road Safety Schemes 0 320 2,680 0 0 0 3,000 3,000          3,000 0 3,000

Traffic Signal Obsolescence Grant and Green Light Fund 3 538 0 0 0 0 541 538 538 3 541

Total Economy & Environment (Highways & Public Space) 7,939 43,016 40,001 29,996 29,913 33,948 184,812 0 146,662 30,212 176,874 7,939 184,812

Hereford City Centre Transport Package 38,908 5,042 3,029 0 0 0 46,979 7,296 774 8,071 38,908 46,979

Hereford ATMs and Super Cycle Highway 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 1,000

Active Travel Fund 4 134 172 0 0 0 0 306 172 172 134 306

Active Travel Fund 5 0 0 99 0 0 0 99 99 99 0 99

Consolidated Active Travel Fund 0 0 499 234 234 234 1,202 1,202 1,202 0 1,202

Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 356 2,100 13,584 11,700 12,560 0 40,300 4,644      35,300        39,944 356 40,300

Stronger Towns Fund - Greening the City 116 288 0 0 0 0 404 288 288 116 404

LUF - Active Travel Measures (north of river) 1,097 1,727 716 926 0 0 4,466 869 2,500          3,369 1,097 4,466

LUF - Active Travel Measures (south of river) 533 2,663 6,000 0 0 0 9,197 8,663 8,663 533 9,197

Local Transport Grant 0 5,837 5,975 6,966 7,775 8,584 35,137 35,137 35,137 0 35,137

Council school transport fleet 0 0 350 0 0 0 350 350             350 0 350

Bus Service Improvement Plan 0 1,108 900 918 936 954 4,815 4,815 4,815 0 4,815

Total Economy & Environment (Transport) 41,144 18,937 32,152 20,744 21,505 9,772 144,255 4,644 58,542 39,924 103,111 41,144 144,255

Integrated Wetlands 2,676 1,686 398 0 0 0 4,760 2,084 2,084 2,676 4,760

Natural Flood Management 555 329 390 0 0 0 1,274 719 719 555 1,274

Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Capital Fund (LEVI) 0 0 120 240 120 644 1,124 1,124 1,124 0 1,124

LEVI Pilot Fund Grant 24 36 60 0 0 0 120 96 96 24 120

Wye Valley National Landscape (previously AONB) 0 934 0 0 0 0 934 934 934 0 934

Solar Photovoltaic Panels 1,064 150 535 385 0 0 2,134 1,070 1,070 1,064 2,134

Yazor Brook 0 260 0 0 0 0 260 260             260 0 260

Waste 0 5,193 0 6,200 0 0 11,393 5,382     6,012 11,393 0 11,393

Home Upgrade Grant 0 70 0 0 0 0 70 70 70 0 70

Warm Homes Grant 0 501 1,003 982 0 0 2,485 2,485 2,485 0 2,485

Herefordshire Flood Risk Mitigation 0 250 1,805 0 0 0 2,055 1,000 1,055          2,055 0 2,055

Total Economy & Environment (Environmental) 4,318 9,409 4,311 7,807 120 644 26,609 1,000 12,894 8,397 22,291 4,318 26,609

101
115



 OFFICIAL#

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 0 401 0 0 0 0 401 401 401 0 401

HWGTA - Development of Vocational Work Based Skills 

Investment 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 2,000

Employment Land & Incubation Space in Market Towns 866 3,961 5,460 8,360 0 0 18,648 11,475 0 6,307 17,782 866 18,648

Rural Prosperity Fund 0 512 0 0 0 0 512 512 512 0 512

Total Economy & Environment (Economic Growth) 866 6,874 5,460 8,360 0 0 21,561 11,475 913 8,307 20,695 866 21,561

Windows Server Upgrades 293 37 0 0 0 0 330 37 37 293 330

Device and Ancillary kit replacement programme 0 230 578 185 0 0 993 993 993 0 993

M365 E5 Implementation 491 79 0 0 0 0 570 43 36 79 491 570

Planning & Regulatory Services software 3 350 923 120 0 0 1,396 1,393 1,393 3 1,396

Contact Centre Telephony Replacement 15 67 0 0 0 0 82 67 67 15 82

Wide Area Network (WAN) Replacement 165 121 0 0 0 0 286 121 121 165 286

School Route Planning Software 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 0 50

IT System Upgrades & Server Replacements 2025-26 0 318 182 0 0 0 500 500 500 0 500

CCTV Equipment Upgrades 0 89 0 0 0 0 89 89 89 0 89

Total Corporate Services (IT & Transformation) 967 1,340 1,683 305 0 0 4,296 0 43 3,285 3,328 967 4,296

Schools Capital Maintenance Grant 0 3,196 1,200 1,200 0 0 5,596 3,978 1,618 5,596 0 5,596

Peterchurch Area School Investment 953 6,523 3,377 0 0 0 10,853 4,712 5,188 9,900 953 10,853

Brookfield School Improvements 2,181 3,641 0 0 0 0 5,822 158 3,483 3,641 2,181 5,822

High Needs Grant 483 2,103 6,784 0 0 0 9,369 8,886 8,886 483 9,369

Basic Needs Funding 560 1,500 11,810 5,006 0 0 18,877 18,065 251 18,316 560 18,877

Childcare Expansion Capital Grant 2023-24 13 153 130 0 0 0 296 283 283 13 296

School Accessibility Works 759 551 1,193 0 0 0 2,503 1,744 1,744 759 2,503

Children’s residential homes for 11 to 18 year olds 0 424 0 0 0 0 424 424 424 0 424

C & F's S106 0 819 1,297 1,550 0 0 3,665 3,665 3,665 0 3,665

Total Childrens & Young Peoples (Including Schools) 4,949 18,908 25,790 7,756 0 0 57,404 4,869 38,360 9,225 52,455 4,949 57,404

Work to Shirehall Annex (Care Leavers Base) 85 15 0 0 0 0 100 15           15 85 100

Estates Capital Programme 2019/22 5,119 763 0 0 0 0 5,882 763 763 5,119 5,882

Residual property works identified in the 2019 condition reports 957 365 0 0 0 0 1,322 365 365 957 1,322

Estates Building Improvement Programme 22-25 1,927 1,079 0 0 0 0 3,007 1,079 1,079 1,927 3,007

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2023-25 1,558 519 1,450 0 0 0 3,527 752 1,216 1,969 1,558 3,527

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2024-27 689 997 1,080 0 0 0 2,766 2,077 2,077 689 2,766

Building works from 2022 Condition Surveys 4 196 1,910 350 0 0 2,460 2,456 2,456 4 2,460

Shirehall Improvement Works 0 250 3,750 0 0 0 4,000 2,000      2,000 4,000 0 4,000

Property Improvements in Care Homes 225 644 285 0 0 0 1,154 929 929 225 1,154

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2025-28 0 497 3,281 526 0 0 4,305 1,000 3,305 4,305 0 4,305

Total Economy & Environment (Council Asset Investment) 10,564 5,325 11,756 876 0 0 28,522 2,015 1,752 14,190 17,957 10,564 28,522

Disabled facilities grant 0 3,373 2,200 2,200 0 0 7,773 7,773 7,773 0 7,773

Empty Property Investment & Development 0 580 286 0 0 0 866 0 866 866 0 866

Acquisition Fund for Housing Provision 111 2,589 2,300 0 0 0 5,000 4,889 4,889 111 5,000

Merton Meadow - Brownfield Land Release Fund 393 1,607 0 0 0 0 2,000 1,607 1,607 393 2,000

Swimming Pool Support Fund 0 60 0 0 0 0 60 60 60 0 60

Libraries Improvement Fund 31 31 0 0 0 0 62 31 31 31 62

102
116



 OFFICIAL#

Stronger Towns Fund - Hereford Museum & Art Gallery 

Redevelopment 2,883 1,540 10,525 5,581 0 0 20,529 7,655 9,591 400 17,646 2,883 20,529

Stronger Towns Library & Learning Centre relocation to 

Shirehall 340 152 2,064 450 0 0 3,005 319 2,347 2,666 340 3,005

Community Capital Grants Scheme 4 1,376 600 20 0 0 2,000 1,996 1,996 4 2,000

Total Community Wellbeing Including Housing 3,761 11,309 17,975 8,251 0 0 41,295 9,970 21,409 6,155 37,534 3,761 41,295

Total Capital Programme 74,508 115,118 139,129 84,096 51,538 44,364 508,753 33,973 280,576 119,696 434,245 74,508 508,753

Key:

RCCO

Project Complete

Approved at February 2025 Council 102,394 155,247 87,507 38,599 218 0 383,965

Reprofile Budget (60,332) 24,979 22,029 12,680 644 0

24/25 Carry Forward 11,708 5,978 17,686

Grant/Funding Movement 14,495 20,665 23,468 38,640 43,720 140,988

Removal of WVT Project (6,000) (6,000)

Budget not carried forward for projects completed (48,131) (48,131)

Prior Year Spend adj (closed projects and 24/25 one off grant 

excluded) 20,245 20,245

Change in Capital Programme (0) 8,495 20,665 23,468 38,640 43,720 134,988

Note 1

Overall Change Financed By 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Prudential Borrowing (6,000) (6,000)

Grant and funding contributions (Inc Reserves) 14,495 20,665 23,468 38,640 43,720 140,988

Capital receipts 0

0 6,274 27,866 22,449 38,640 134,988

Note 1

Grant Amendments since February Council

£000

MHCLG - UKSPS 25/26 Grant           401 

DfT - Active Travel Fund 5 Grant             99 

DfT - Additional 25/26 Highway Maintenance Block Grant        5,882 

DfT - CATF Grant           265 

DfT - BSIP Grant        1,108 

DESNZ - Warm Homes Grant        2,485 

DEFRA - Rural Prosperity Fund 25/26           512 

Sport England - Swimming Pool Fund             60 

DfE - Additional Schools Maintenance Grant 25/26           379 

DfE - High Needs Grant        2,466 

103
117



 OFFICIAL#

DfE - Basic Needs Grant        2,593 

DfT - Local Transport Grant 25/26        5,837 

Employment Land - unsecured grant -      2,053 

WVNL - Welsh Gov and DEFRA Grants           889 

HMAG - Clore Duffield           200 

HMAG - Salix        1,075 

HMAG - NHLF           104 

DfT - Local Transport Grant 26/27 to 29/30      29,300 

MHCLG - Additonal DFG 25/26           615 

DfT  - Highway Maintenance Block 26/27 to 29/30      84,127 

DfT - Active Travel Grant           937 

DfT - Local Authority Bus Grant        3,707 

140,988

104
118



 OFFICIAL#

Capital Programme position April 2026/27 Appendix C

Scheme Name Spend in 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total

Prior 

Years

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Total 

Budget

Scheme 

Budget

Capital 

receipts

Grant & 

funding 

cont

Prudential 

borrowing Total

Prior 

Years

Total 

Funding

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Highway Maintenance Block DfT (previously LTP) 0 21,348 23,967 27,449 29,695 33,948 136,407 136,407 136,407 0 136,407

Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 0 10,081 5,000 0 0 0 15,081 0 15,081 15,081 0 15,081

Highways Infrastructure Investment 7,354 7,301 6,385 0 0 0 21,040 1,580 12,106 13,686 7,354 21,040

Public Realm Improvements for Ash Die Back 581 477 482 118 0 0 1,658 1,077 1,077 581 1,658

E & E's S106 0 1,501 4,207 2,429 0 0 8,137 8,137 8,137 0 8,137

Play Area Investment 0 250 750 0 0 0 1,000 1,000          1,000 0 1,000

Public Realm Services Fleet 0 0 1,322 0 218 0 1,540 1,540          1,540 0 1,540

Public Realm Mobilisation 0 0 450 0 0 0 450 450             450 0 450

Public Rights of Way 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 381 619             1,000 0 1,000

Traffic Signal Obsolescence Grant and Green Light Fund 3 538 0 0 0 0 541 538 538 3 541

Total Economy & Environment (Highways & Public Space) 7,939 41,496 43,563 29,996 29,913 33,948 186,854 381 146,662 31,872 178,916 7,939 186,854

Hereford City Centre Transport Package 38,908 5,042 3,029 0 0 0 46,979 7,296 774 8,071 38,908 46,979

Hereford ATMs and Super Cycle Highway 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 1,000

Active Travel Fund 4 134 172 0 0 0 0 306 172 172 134 306

Active Travel Fund 5 0 0 99 0 0 0 99 99 99 0 99

Consolidated Active Travel Fund 0 0 499 234 234 234 1,202 1,202 1,202 0 1,202

Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 356 2,100 13,584 11,700 17,560 0 45,300 4,644      40,300         44,944 356 45,300

Stronger Towns Fund - Greening the City 116 288 0 0 0 0 404 288 288 116 404

LUF - Active Travel Measures (north of river) 1,097 1,727 716 926 0 0 4,466 869 2,500          3,369 1,097 4,466

LUF - Active Travel Measures (south of river) 533 2,663 6,000 0 0 0 9,197 8,663 8,663 533 9,197

Local Transport Grant 0 5,837 5,975 6,966 7,775 8,584 35,137 35,137 35,137 0 35,137

Bus Service Improvement Plan 0 1,108 900 918 936 954 4,815 4,815 4,815 0 4,815

Total Economy & Environment (Transport) 41,144 18,937 31,802 20,744 26,505 9,772 148,905 4,644 58,542 44,574 107,761 41,144 148,905

Integrated Wetlands 2,676 1,686 398 0 0 0 4,760 2,084 2,084 2,676 4,760

Natural Flood Management 555 329 390 0 0 0 1,274 719 719 555 1,274

Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Capital Fund (LEVI) 0 0 120 240 120 644 1,124 1,124 1,124 0 1,124

LEVI Pilot Fund Grant 24 36 60 0 0 0 120 96 96 24 120

Wye Valley National Landscape (previously AONB) 0 934 0 0 0 0 934 934 934 0 934

Solar Photovoltaic Panels 1,064 150 535 385 0 0 2,134 1,070 1,070 1,064 2,134

Yazor Brook 0 260 0 0 0 0 260 260             260 0 260

Waste 0 5,193 0 6,200 0 0 11,393 5,382     6,012 11,393 0 11,393

Home Upgrade Grant 0 70 0 0 0 0 70 70 70 0 70

Warm Homes Grant 0 501 1,003 982 0 0 2,485 2,485 2,485 0 2,485

Herefordshire Flood Risk Mitigation 0 250 1,805 0 0 0 2,055 1,000 1,055          2,055 0 2,055

Total Economy & Environment (Environmental) 4,318 9,409 4,311 7,807 120 644 26,609 1,000 12,894 8,397 22,291 4,318 26,609

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 0 401 0 0 0 0 401 401 401 0 401

HWGTA - Development of Vocational Work Based Skills 

Investment 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 2,000 2,000 0 2,000

105
119



 OFFICIAL#

Employment Land & Incubation Space in Market Towns 866 3,961 1,460 8,360 0 0 14,648 7,475 0 6,307 13,782 866 14,648

Rural Prosperity Fund 0 512 0 0 0 0 512 512 512 0 512

Total Economy & Environment (Economic Growth) 866 6,874 1,460 8,360 0 0 17,561 7,475 913 8,307 16,695 866 17,561

Windows Server Upgrades 293 37 0 0 0 0 330 37 37 293 330

Device and Ancillary kit replacement programme 0 230 578 185 0 0 993 993 993 0 993

M365 E5 Implementation 491 79 0 0 0 0 570 43 36 79 491 570

Planning & Regulatory Services software 3 350 923 120 0 0 1,396 1,393 1,393 3 1,396

Contact Centre Telephony Replacement 15 67 0 0 0 0 82 67 67 15 82

Wide Area Network (WAN) Replacement 165 121 0 0 0 0 286 121 121 165 286

School Route Planning Software 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 50 50 0 50

IT System Upgrades & Server Replacements 2025-26 0 318 182 0 0 0 500 500 500 0 500

Essential system updates and upgrades 0 0 174 0 0 0 174 174 174 0 174

CCTV Equipment Upgrades 0 89 0 0 0 0 89 89 89 0 89

Total Corporate Services (IT & Transformation) 967 1,340 1,857 305 0 0 4,470 0 43 3,459 3,502 967 4,470

Schools Capital Maintenance Grant 0 3,196 2,770 1,200 0 0 7,166 1,570      3,978 1,618 7,166 0 7,166

Aylestone School Improvement Works 0 0 1,790 1,000 0 0 2,790 1,790      1,000 2,790 0 2,790

Peterchurch Area School Investment 953 6,523 3,377 0 0 0 10,853 4,712 5,188 9,900 953 10,853

Brookfield School Improvements 2,181 3,641 0 0 0 0 5,822 158 3,483 3,641 2,181 5,822

High Needs Grant 483 2,103 6,784 0 0 0 9,369 8,886 8,886 483 9,369

Basic Needs Funding 560 1,500 11,810 5,006 0 0 18,877 18,065 251 18,316 560 18,877

Relocate Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units 0 0 1,500 3,500 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 5,000

Establish a new alternative provision (AP) centre 0 0 1,500 3,500 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 5,000

Childcare Expansion Capital Grant 2023-24 13 153 130 0 0 0 296 283 283 13 296

School Accessibility Works 759 551 1,193 0 0 0 2,503 1,744 1,744 759 2,503

Children’s residential homes for 11 to 18 year olds 0 424 0 0 0 0 424 424 424 0 424

Residential overnight short breaks refurbishment 0 0 60 0 0 0 60 60           60 0 60

C & F's S106 0 819 1,297 1,550 0 0 3,665 3,665 3,665 0 3,665

Total Childrens & Young Peoples (Including Schools) 4,949 18,908 32,210 15,756 0 0 71,824 8,289 38,360 20,225 66,875 4,949 71,824

Strategic/Emergency Housing Capital Projects 0 0 2,650 3,900 3,450 0 10,000 2,655 7,345 10,000 0 10,000

Historic Building Fund 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 5,000

Work to Shirehall Annex (Care Leavers Base) 85 15 0 0 0 0 100 15           15 85 100

Estates Capital Programme 2019/22 5,119 763 0 0 0 0 5,882 763 763 5,119 5,882

Residual property works identified in the 2019 condition reports 957 365 0 0 0 0 1,322 365 365 957 1,322

Estates Building Improvement Programme 22-25 1,927 1,079 0 0 0 0 3,007 1,079 1,079 1,927 3,007

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2023-25 1,558 519 990 0 0 0 3,067 752 756 1,509 1,558 3,067

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2024-27 689 997 483 0 0 0 2,169 1,480 1,480 689 2,169

Building works from 2022 Condition Surveys 4 196 974 350 0 0 1,524 1,520 1,520 4 1,524

Shirehall Improvement Works 0 250 3,750 0 0 0 4,000 2,000      2,000 4,000 0 4,000

Property Improvements in Care Homes 225 644 484 0 0 0 1,353 199 929 1,128 225 1,353

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2026-29 0 0 1,809 1,121 35 0 2,965 1,000 1,965 2,965 0 2,965

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2025-28 0 497 2,622 526 0 0 3,645 1,000 2,645 3,645 0 3,645

Total Economy & Environment (Council Asset Investment) 10,564 5,325 13,762 10,898 3,485 0 44,033 3,214 4,407 25,847 33,469 10,564 44,033

Disabled facilities grant 0 3,373 2,200 2,200 0 0 7,773 7,773 7,773 0 7,773

Empty Property Investment & Development 0 580 286 0 0 0 866 0 866 866 0 866

106
120



 OFFICIAL#

Acquisition Fund for Housing Provision 111 2,589 2,300 0 0 0 5,000 4,889 4,889 111 5,000

Merton Meadow - Brownfield Land Release Fund 393 1,607 0 0 0 0 2,000 1,607 1,607 393 2,000

Swimming Pool Support Fund 0 60 0 0 0 0 60 60 60 0 60

Libraries Improvement Fund 31 31 0 0 0 0 62 31 31 31 62

Stronger Towns Fund - Hereford Museum & Art Gallery 

Redevelopment 2,883 1,540 10,525 5,581 0 0 20,529 7,655 9,591 400 17,646 2,883 20,529

Stronger Towns Library & Learning Centre relocation to 

Shirehall 340 152 2,064 450 0 0 3,005 319 2,347 2,666 340 3,005

Community Capital Grants Scheme 4 1,376 600 20 0 0 2,000 1,996 1,996 4 2,000

Total Community Wellbeing Including Housing 3,761 11,309 17,975 8,251 0 0 41,295 9,970 21,409 6,155 37,534 3,761 41,295

Total Capital Programme 74,508 113,598 146,941 102,117 60,023 44,364 541,551 34,973 283,231 148,838 467,043 74,508 541,551

Key:

Revenue Funded Borrowing

New or Amended Projects as listed in appendix A

Current 2024/25 Programme Budget January 2026                         74,508 115,118 139,129 84,096 51,538 44,364 508,753 33,973 280,576 119,696

Projects Removed from the Capital Programme (1,520) (9,682) (11,202) (4,000) (7,202)

Change in Capital Programme - New Bids 0 0 17,494 18,021 8,485 0 43,999 5,000 2,655 36,344

Overall Change Financed By 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Prudential Borrowing 12,089 16,896 7,360 36,344

Grant and funding contributions (Inc Reserves) 405 1,125 1,125 2,655

Capital receipts 5,000 5,000

0 0 17,494 18,021 8,485 0 43,999

107
121



122



 

                                                                    

Appendix D 

  
 
 

 

 Capital Strategy 
 

2026 – 2031 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

109123



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

1 
 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

        Page 

1. Executive Summary     2 

2. Introduction and Background    4 

3. Current Capital Programme & Long-Term Plan 6 

4. Capital Funding Streams    9 

5. Risk Management      11 

6. Knowledge and Skills     11 

7. Capital Scheme Selection     12 

8. Capital Monitoring     14 

  Appendix A – Proposed Capital Programme   15 

  Appendix B – Detailed list of Council strategies  19 

   

   

              

 

 

 

110124



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

2 
 

  

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 An effective Capital Strategy is vital to ensure that the capital and revenue expenditure on the 
asset portfolio is directed efficiently and effectively to support service delivery in line with 
Herefordshire’s priorities. This strategy considers the capital investment needs across 
Herefordshire including acquisition, replacement and rental of land, buildings, and vehicles etc.  

1.2 Herefordshire Council has seen a number of schemes like the City Link Road and development of 
Employment Land which enable long term plans for future development. This Capital Strategy is 
aligned to the County Plan 2024-28 , to capital planning and utilisation of resources.  

1.3 The Capital Strategy will be reviewed annually, identifying and matching resources to deliver 
service priorities over a four-year period. Where possible a longer-term view will be incorporated to 
ensure we have the vision on all future development opportunities. Also to enable long term 
planning on capital financing through the Treasury Management Strategy to ensure the best 
utilisation of resources and returns on investment. 

1.4 A key partner moving forward is NMiTE (New Model in Technology and Engineering), the new 
Herefordshire University and the council is keen to support their development in the coming years. 

1.5 The challenges given to retaining property assets will be based on value for money and delivery of 
the council’s strategic priorities and key service delivery. Surplus properties will either be recycled 
or disposed of in accordance with the strategic asset management plan and proceeds will be 
reinvested or retained within the capital receipts reserve until a decision on how to utilise the 
reserve is made.  

1.6 The strategic asset management plan sets out a framework for determining the capital property 
assets needed to enable future service delivery priorities to be realised. Whereas a series of key 
projects have already been delivered, the capital investment budget will further inform priorities 
and options for investment/re-investment in assets over the medium term. 

1.7 The Capital Strategy encourages all areas of the council to put forward requests for capital 
funding to ensure assets are adequately invested in and development opportunities are 
considered. However, there are limited resources, and these schemes may need to be profiled 
over a number of years where they are to be funded corporately. Invest to save schemes are 
encouraged to help the future pressures we are facing on revenue. 

1.8 A Programme Management Office was created in 2020 to embed new processes for managing 
and developing projects. They manage the delivery of large capital projects through the delivery 
stage such as New Schools and Employment Land Investment Plan projects. This is so that when 
new projects are added to the capital programme, they are robust and will be able to commence 
delivery. 

1.9 The priority will be to ensure that any new capital scheme will seek external funding sources such 
as grants in the first instance. Borrowing has always been allowed within the current agreed limits 
of £6.7m per annum plus any previously approved Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) provision 
that has not been used. The £6.7m per annum limit is corporately funded borrowing, borrowing 
funded from revenue savings will be made available over and above this limit. This is the current 
limit included within the MTFS, this year additional borrowing is being taken to fund the proposals, 
both the MTFS and Treasury Management Strategy have included the additional borrowing to 
allow these additional costs to be included in the revenue budget. The council will always seek 
external capital funding grants or donations where possible to lower the cost of borrowing, but it is 
essential that resources are used effectively. 

1.10 The process of allocating finite resources runs alongside delivery of the Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy, through which capital funding, borrowing costs and innovative ways of utilising capital 
will be captured. The recommendation of capital projects lies with the Executive using a range of 
criteria to evaluate schemes, with referral to Council for approval. However, the Council may add 

111125

https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/26537/herefordshire-council-plan-2024-28


HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

3 
 

new schemes to the capital programme and new schemes can be added once approved at any 
full council meeting.  

1.11 The Capital Strategy aims to encourage innovation and remind officers of their ability to draw 
down funding to fund creative projects that demonstrate delivery of “spend to save / mitigate”.  
The governance arrangements in place must ensure robust monitoring to ensure projects deliver 
in terms of quality, cost and benefits. Following central government austerity measures the council 
is keen to promote capital investment to secure future local funding streams, council tax and 
business rates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

112126



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

4 
 

2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 This Capital Strategy sets out Herefordshire’s approach to capital investment and disposal over 
both the short and long term, to deliver the core service priorities. The availability of resources to 
facilitate these priorities is also considered, reconciling the provision of statutory functions, service 
aspiration and policy context with limited resource availability. 

2.2 The strategy incorporates the vision of the council, the overarching policy framework and explains 
the processes inherent in setting budgets and monitoring the programme. In the ever-changing 
public sector climate, this document will be reviewed annually, but in essence is written to capture 
the longer-term vision of service priorities. 

2.3 Through this strategy, the Council makes a clear distinction between capital investments, where 
the strategic aims will be considered alongside affordability; and treasury management 
investments which are made for the purpose of cash flow management. 

2.4 Capital investments, as opposed to pure cash flow management decisions, will be made in line 
with the Capital Strategy priorities set out in this document. These decisions are clearly within the 
economic powers of the Council and there are strong governance arrangements in place that 
underpin the decision making. 

2.5 The Capital Strategy links into the Council Plan 2024-2028 and other main council strategic 
documents: Strategic Asset Management Plan, Local Transport Plan, Digital Strategy and Local 
Development Framework, details are provided in appendix B. It demonstrates how the council 
prioritises, sets targets and measures the performance of its limited capital resources to ensure 
that it maximises the value of investment to support the achievement of its key cross-cutting 
activities and initiatives.   

 What it intends to do 

o Assist in ensuring spending decisions meet key priorities 

o Influence and encourage working with partners 

o Encourage improvement and innovation 

o Ensure revenue consequences and whole life costs are fully considered including return 
on investment 

o Explains the fluctuating nature of capital funding 

o Confirms surplus assets will be recycled or disposed of 

o Implementation of three-year planning and horizon scanning for longer term priorities. 

 

 What it sets out 

o Capital priorities and plans 

o Links to key strategic documents 

o How schemes are identified that meet priorities 

o How schemes competing for limited resources are selected 

o A summary of the capital programme 

o Monitoring processes in place 

 

2.6 The strategic objectives for our corporate assets are to: 
 

113127



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

5 
 

 Since 2021/22, Herefordshire Council has largely been funded from local taxation – Council 
Tax and Business Rates. Through capital investment, the Council will seek to stimulate the 
Herefordshire economy to advance business, commerce, jobs and economic prosperity 
across the county – and provide for a sustainable financial future. 
 

 Optimise the contribution property makes to the council’s strategic and service objectives. To 
this end, assets should only be held that meet the objectives of the council, with clear 
evidence to demonstrate that they contribute to the key objectives. 

 

 Prioritise investment in our operational assets to meet service delivery needs and to 
enhance the customer experience.  Assets that no longer deliver service priorities will be 
reviewed and either recycled to facilitate wider community agendas or disposed of. 

 

 Seek innovative, value for money solutions, through use of procurement and return on 
investment to deliver capital projects that satisfy service need. 

 

 Ensure maximum return from our investment property and land holdings 
 

 Use our assets to fund new developments, re-development and urban regeneration 
 

 Ensure that existing and new property assets are managed in an efficient, sustainable and 
cost-effective way in terms of their use of environmental impact and other resources, their 
property management and other running costs 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

114128



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

6 
 

 
3. CURRENT CAPITAL PROGRAMME & LONG-TERM PLAN 
 
3.1 The following table details the capital investment by programme board over the four years, full 

programme details can be seen in appendix A. The consequences of investment are reflected in 
both the Medium-Term Financial Strategy and Treasury Management Strategy.  

 
 Proposed Capital Programme 

 

  
2025/26 
£000s 

2026/27 
£000s 

2027/28 
£000s 

 
 

2028/29 
£000s 

 
 

2029/30 
£000s 

Total Capital 
Programme 

Budgets        
£000s 

Economy & Environment 
(Highways & Public Space) 41,496 43,563 29,996 29,913 33,948 178,916 

Economy & Environment 
(Transport) 18,937 31,802 20,744 26,505 9,772 107,761 

Economy & Environment 
(Environmental) 9,409 4,311 7,807 120 644 22,291 

Economy & Environment 
(Economic Growth) 6,874 1,460 8,360 0 0 16,695 

Corporate Services (IT & 
Transformation) 1,340 1,857 305 0 0 3,502 

Childrens & Young Peoples 
(Including Schools) 18,908 32,211 15,756 0 0 66,875 

Economy & Environment 
(Council Asset Investment) 

 
5,325 

 
11,112 

 
1,998 

 
35 

 
0 

 
18,469 

Community Wellbeing 
Including Housing 

 
11,309 

 
20,625 

 
17,151 

 
3,450 0 

 
52,534 

Total Capital Programme 113,598 146,941 102,117 60,023 44,364 467,043 

     

   

 Financed by 
    

   

 Capital Receipts 34,973 
   

   

 Grants & Funding 
Contributions 283,231 

   

   

 Prudential Borrowing 148,838 
   

   

 Total Funding 467,043 
   

   

   
3.2 Long Term Capital Programme 

One Herefordshire 

One Herefordshire consists of a number of health organisations and the council represented 
at a group meeting; they regularly meet to discuss opportunities of where the organisations 
can work together for the benefit of the County when delivering services.  

Herefordshire Council are committed to working with partner organisations such as Health 
and Higher Education establishments, including Hereford College of Arts and NMiTE. Where 
possible the council will support economic development opportunities to enable the services 
to grow and deliver the best service. 

The council will be considering the use of external funding models including income strip 
models to enable delivery of student accommodation along with other developments where 
external organisations are used to deliver the projects. 

Employment Land 

115129



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

7 
 

The employment land at Ross will be developed in the current capital programme and other 
sites in other market towns will hopefully also come forward for development. 

Hereford City Centre Transport Package 

A Levelling Up grant of £6.33m was awarded for the delivery of the transport hub, this project 
will hopefully complete by 2027 and enable better transport links from the railway station. 

Infrastructure- future plans. 

Herefordshire Council are potentially investing in a number of road schemes over the next 
few years; these schemes are currently being developed and will be included into the capital 
programme once approved. The initial budget of £40.3m has been increased to £45.3m for 
the Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1. The delivery of the road infrastructure will support the 
growth of the economy, and the package of active travel improvements will help residents to 
live safe, healthy and independent lives. External grants to deliver these schemes will be 
applied for. 

Highways Maintenance 

Like many councils the highways network has deteriorated over time with central government 
grants not able to cover all the capital investment required to prevent further deterioration of 
the highway network. Revenue budgets are fully utilised each year to keep up with repair 
work to ensure that the network is in a safe condition before longer term capital investment is 
available. The road network has a backlog of maintenance, the values are estimated from 
national guidance, as a high-level analysis the figures reflect and are representative of the 
view of deterioration across the highway’s asset. This would be to bring all assets back to a 
new condition. 

Asset Type Current Estimated Backlog 

Carriageways c£108.7m 

Footways and Cycle ways c£1.7m 

Structures c£82.5m 

Street Lighting c£1.5m 

Traffic Signals c£2.4m 

Road Markings c£1.1m 

Traffic Signs c2.9m 

Vehicle Restraint Systems c1.3m 

Trees and Verges c1.1m 

 

The council has invested significant amount of council funding to help improve the road 
network. The council continues to lobby central government for additional support for 
highways maintenance, and it is not sustainable to pass all this onto local residents.  

Other areas for Development 

There are a number of projects that will be developed in the next financial year for waste 
management changes, delivery of the Hereford Town Investment Plans projects such as a 
new Museum and development of the Library & Learning Centre, which were part of a £25m 
Stronger Towns funding bid. The third council project was for greening the city and business 
cases for all were approved to the Towns Board. The council is the accountable body for the 
£22.4m funding but the other approved projects will be run by other organisations.  

There will be a replacement school at Peterchurch for which construction has started and 
significant works for a new unit and work within the existing site at Brookfield to increase 
capacity will complete within 2025/26. 

116130



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

8 
 

Other projects being delivered include the improvement works at the Shire Hall and other 
property works across the estate including schools.  

The Council will be looking to work with current housing companies to increase the 
availability of affordable housing for local residents. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

117131



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

9 
 

 

4. CAPITAL FUNDING STREAMS 

4.1 This section explains the source of resources available to fund the capital programme. Currently 
the majority of funding is allocated from central government, in part to fund specific schemes that 
deliver their national priorities.  

4.2 The following funding sources are available. 

 Borrowing 

 Prudential borrowing (PB) has been allowed since 2004 when government relaxed the rules 
to allow councils to finance their own capital, providing they could demonstrate affordability 
to repay the debt and interest.   In a time of reduced resources PB may also be used to fund 
initiatives to deliver future revenue savings that can then fund the annual debt and interest 
cost. The Council has a number of invest to save schemes currently and there is no limit to 
the amount of additions to the capital programme in any year where all borrowing costs can 
be funded from revenue savings, as long as they can show they provide value for money, 
score highly enough in the review and are approved by Council.   

Grants 

 Government currently provides many direct grants to fund initiatives that the Council should 
deliver as part as their statutory duty. The major capital grants are: 

o Transport Grants – used to support the Hereford Integrated Transport Strategy capital 
programme, covering rural transport schemes, and road safety initiatives and highways 
maintenance. The Department for Transport has a process to allow local authorities to 
bid for revenue and capital funds to fund sustainable transport schemes.   
 

o Basic Needs Funding - the Government each year provide a grant based on future 
needs for the Council to provide enough school places in mainstream schools. 

o Schools Capital Maintenance Grant – is an amount allocated each year to help 
maintain schools in a good state of repair. 

o Devolved Formula Capital – is an amount allocated each year to primary and 
secondary schools to be spent on priorities in respect of buildings, ICT and other capital 
needs.  It may be combined with capital funding from other sources or saved to fund a 
larger project.  

o Disabled Facilities Grant - contributes towards the cost of providing adaptations and 
facilities to enable disabled people to continue living in their own homes. The central 
government grant funding towards this has been protected from cuts by the coalition 
government in the Corporate Spending Review (CSR), in fact this grant has increased 
annually. 

 External funding bodies distribute funding for projects that satisfy their key criteria and 
objectives, and the Council secure these via a bidding process.   

  
 Developer Contributions S106 

 Developer contributions continue to support the capital investment need associated with 
developments throughout the Country. 

 In future once a S106 has been completed, planning permission has been granted and the 
development the subject of the agreement has commenced, with the right governance in 
place the Council will be able to internally borrow to fund the project to commence prior to 
the developer contributions being received. The project to be funded must be within the 
terms of the S106 agreement. The borrowing will be funded short term within the cash 
balances and repaid once the developer contributions have been received. Do note however 
there may be a risk to the Council namely, if the development does not reach the trigger 

118132



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

10 
 

point for payment, the Council would then have to find alternative funding. The trigger points 
for the contributions to be paid are tailored to each development on a case-by-case basis 
and are not standard. The developer can advance at any stage of the development that a 
scheme is not viable. This would be independently reviewed by the District Valuer (at a cost 
to the developer) but it may conclude that the financial contributions are not viable. The 
scheme may proceed as a wholly 100% affordable scheme whereby financial contributions 
towards infrastructure are not required.  

Capital Receipts 

 The Council maintains a register of surplus property assets. A major review of property 
assets is now underway that will produce a Delivery and Rationalisation programme; 
implemented over the coming years.  

 The public sector landscape of service delivery is now subject to major change. Annual 
reviews of the Council operational property portfolio will identify potential opportunities for 
remodelling and co-location, through alternative methods of service delivery.  

 The Council must prioritise disposal for capital receipts against competing demands for 
affordable housing land to build social housing and Community Asset Transfers. 

 The disposal of surplus assets is critical to deliver the Councils Capital Strategy. Specifically, 
the delivery of the property maintenance and office accommodation review requires receipts 
to fund PB costs. Capital receipts are deemed a central receipt and so held corporately to 
use to deliver wider strategic priorities. Until receipts retained in the capital receipt reserve 
are allocated, they reduce the overall borrowing costs of the Council. 

 At the end of 2024/25 financial year there was a balance of £34.8m in the capital receipts 
reserve. There are a number of schemes within the capital programme to be funded by 
capital receipts, the balance will be retained to deliver enhanced investment on the use of 
these reserves, once business cases have been submitted for approval at Council.  

Revenue  

 Both revenue budget and reserves can be used to fund the capital programme, either via a 
one-off contribution to fund a project in its entirety or an annual sum to repay PB debt costs. 
Ongoing use of revenue should be assessed in relation to the impact on council tax via the 
use of assessing its prudential indicators. Funding is available throughout the year to fund 
both revenue and capital innovative projects that will deliver future year on year savings. 

4.3 The table in 3.1 shows the expected resources available to fund the capital programme over 
 the four years.   

4.4 The programme is heavily reliant on grants and contributions to fund capital expenditure, and 
 these are usually issued with tight timeframes and restrictions attached. The grants may also 
 demand regular monitoring returns to demonstrate the funding has been used in accordance with 
 the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

119133



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

11 
 

 

5. Risk Management  

5.1 Risk is the threat that an event or action will adversely affect the Council’s ability to achieve its 
objectives and to execute its strategies successfully and/or limit its ability to exploit opportunities.  

5.2  Risk management is the process of identifying risks, evaluating their potential consequence and 
determining the most effective methods of mitigating them. It is both a means of minimising the 
cost and disruption to the organisation and of ensuring staff understand and appreciate the 
element of risk in all their activities.  

5.3  Through effective risk management the Council aims to minimise its exposure to unwanted risk – 
those risks that are not actively sought and which carry no commensurate reward to the Council. 
This may involve transferring risk to a third party.  

5.4  It is important to note that risk will always exist in some measure and cannot be removed in its 
entirety. Additionally, in order to realise investment and commercial gains, a measure of risk must 
be taken – and therefore risk should be considered both in terms of threat to the Council as well 
as positive opportunities.  

5.5  To manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital project need to be systematically 
identified, analysed, influenced and monitored – and especially when investing in capital assets 
held primarily for financial returns. Under the CIPFA Prudential Code these are defined as 
investments and so the key principle of control of risk and optimising returns consistent with the 
level of risk applies.  

5.6  An assessment of risk should be built into every capital project and major risks recorded in the 
Risk Register. This may include political, economic, legal and regulatory, technological, 
environmental, reputation as well as financial risk. By managing risk effectively, the Council is 
better able to make careful, well thought through decisions in full knowledge of the adverse risks 
that apply and mitigating measures.  

6.  Knowledge and Skills 

6.1 All capital investment approvals are subject to robust consideration and challenge by members 
and officers from across the Council with extensive experience from varying professional 
backgrounds.  

6.2  All officers attend courses on an ongoing basis to keep abreast of new developments and skills 
to ensure their Continuous Professional Development. Members are also offered training 
annually to ensure they have up to date skills and are able to make capital and treasury 
decisions. It is important that we continue to strengthen training of officers and members on the 
understanding of environmental issues and the impact of these when undertaking capital works 
as we continue the approach to net zero carbon when producing business cases and taking 
decisions. 

6.3  The Council’s property portfolio is managed by its Property Services Team. The team has 
extensive knowledge of the Herefordshire property market and experience dealing with a mix of 
property types and professional work including professional services, landlord and tenant, 
statutory valuations, acquisitions and disposals, commercial and residential property 
management.  

6.4  The Council’s asset valuations for its financial statements are assessed on an agreed five-year 
programme covering the whole property portfolio. The Council also has internal resources to 
advise on construction, repair and maintenance, and statutory compliance matters across its 
property portfolio.  

120134



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

12 
 

6.5 Where required, and with due diligence, the Council may also appoint external agents to advise 
on particular specialist matters or to access specialist expertise that may not be available ‘in 
house.’  

7. CAPITAL SCHEME SELECTION  

7.1 The capital programme is delivering a number of projects to enable the council to deliver the 
objectives within the county plan 2024-28. Therefore, projects that are added to the capital 
programme are for this purpose and not added as an investment purely to generate income. 
There are currently no expectations in the MTFS for capital investment to generate a revenue 
surplus to balance the budget. Although in the long term there are advantages in easing the 
removal of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) in generating a net revenue position it is not the priority 
when reviewing projects to add to the capital programme. 

 
7.2 All capital schemes go through a stage process that is detailed in the project management 

process document. 
 
7.3 Schemes are continually reviewed against evolving priorities and may be subject to change, 

redesign or cancellation, to ensure they continue to deliver the requirements of the council and 
provide value for money. 

 

7.4 Capital funding will be initially allocated to council priorities and approved by council. The capital 
guidance policy details the process for the capital funding requests to ensure provision in the 
capital programme at any time as long as they are approved at a Council meeting or otherwise as 
delegated by full Council. This is necessary so that services are able to request capital funding at 
the appropriate time, when sufficient information is available to make an informed decision and 
opportunities are not lost due to waiting.   

Rationale for Investment 

7.5 Capital investment is integral to revenue budget forecasting. Capital investment must be directed 
to obtain maximum benefit from available resources looking at efficiencies, effectiveness, and 
economically. Revenue implications must be considered for all capital schemes, this could 
represent the cost of borrowing, future running costs and projected benefits. Schemes included for 
capital investment must demonstrate at least one of the following prioritisation criteria. 

     

7.6 Funding above the corporate limit of £6.7m is available to support capital investment that gives a 
clear pay back through revenue budget savings. 

7.7 Effectiveness and Best Value is demonstrated within the decision reports for each project and 
reviewed at the conclusion of a project. Value for Money on the build of a project is secured and 

121135



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

13 
 

demonstrated through utilisation of the Procurement Policies and Framework for managing capital 
projects. Cabinet is keen to ensure where possible we should use Council funding to procure 
services from local suppliers to help improve the local economy, therefore social values should 
also be considered when making a best value decision. 

 
7.8 The council has discretion to make loans for a number of reasons, including economic 

development. These loans will be treated as capital expenditure. In making loans the council is 
exposing itself to the risk that the borrower defaults in repayments. The council, in making these 
loans, must therefore ensure they are prudent and has fully considered the risk implications, with 
regard to both the individual loan and that the cumulative exposure of the council is proportionate 
and prudent. The council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken, and 
adequate security is in place. The business case will balance the benefits and risks. All loans will 
be subject to close, regular monitoring. 

 
7.9 Property services regularly review use of property assets as part of operational duties to ensure 

they are still required to deliver council priorities, alternatively assets may be recycled or deemed 
surplus to requirement. Sale of assets will deliver revenue savings and generate corporate capital 
receipts for investment in future capital schemes.  Future building requirements will need to 
assess the concept of sale and leaseback and multi-use, shared approach for occupation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

122136



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

14 
 

 8. CAPITAL MONITORING 

8.1 Capital investment requirements are significant; however, capital finances are limited at £6.7m, 
due to the repayment of interest in the revenue budget for corporately funded projects and 
central government current funding levels are expected to reduce. Herefordshire Council must 
have a prudent approach to capital allocation and monitoring to ensure scarce resources are 
used to maximum effect.  

8.2 Due to the significant changes that occur during capital programme implementation and 
forecasting it is considered prudent to maintain: 

 a reserve list of deferred capital schemes that can be accelerated or delayed as required 

 a contingency sum that should be included in all projects, due to the impact an increase in 
inflationary capital costs can have over the length of the project. 

8.3  As part of a project’s business case, an option appraisal is carried out and a whole-life costing 
review is undertaken before a capital scheme is included in the capital programme, this is then 
developed to detailed costings so an informed decision to spend can be made. Each project must 
also state how the proposal seeks to deliver the council’s environmental policy commitments to 
net zero carbon and aligns to the success measure in the County Plan. If there could be a 
detrimental impact on the environment explain how you have sought to minimise and offset this.    

 
8.4 Once a capital scheme is included in the capital programme it is monitored following appropriate 

project management methodology, managed by experience project managers within the project 
management office team and using experienced officers in each service area, through a number 
of project boards.  Through the proposed project management office changes, the Corporate 
Leadership Team will review quarterly, progress of the projects being reported through the 
Directorate Leadership Teams.  

8.5  In addition to significant individual projects, the capital programme also includes the council’s 
annual Highways and Transportation capital programme of investment.  This is guided by the 
Local Transport Plan to invest in the improvement and maintenance of the local transport 
infrastructure.  Targets relating to highway maintenance standards, road safety and sustainable 
transport ensure that expenditure is in line with corporate plan objectives and outcomes 
expected by central government.   

8.6 However the governance process embedded follows the following processes. The Designated 
Capital Programme Manager will allocate the project to a Programme Delivery Board. The 
project manager is expected to maintain all documentation and report regularly using highlight 
reports to the SRO, Project Board and Directorate Leadership Teams as required. Details 
regarding the Board governance structure, reporting and escalation process will be outlined on 
the Project Management intranet site. In summary, individual Project Boards report into 
Directorate Leadership Teams who are in turn monitored by Corporate Leadership Team. 
Corporate Leadership Team represents the highest level of officer involvement and 
accountability, allocating feasibility funding and having oversight of all projects. 

 

 

 

 

123137



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

15 
 

Appendix A 

Capital Programme position April 2026/27 
        

Scheme Name Spend in 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 Total 

  
Prior 
Years 

Total 
Budget 

Total 
Budget 

Total 
Budget 

Total 
Budget 

Total 
Budget 

Scheme 
Budget 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Highway Maintenance Block DfT (previously LTP)  0 21,348 23,967 27,449 29,695 33,948 136,407 

Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 0 10,081 5,000 0 0 0 15,081 

Highways Infrastructure Investment 7,354 7,301 6,385 0 0 0 21,040 

Public Realm Improvements for Ash Die Back 581 477 482 118 0 0 1,658 

E & E's S106 0 1,501 4,207 2,429 0 0 8,137 

Play Area Investment 0 250 750 0 0 0 1,000 

Public Realm Services Fleet 0 0 1,322 0 218 0 1,540 

Public Realm Mobilisation 0 0 450 0 0 0 450 

Public Rights of Way 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 

Traffic Signal Obsolescence Grant and Green Light Fund 3 538 0 0 0 0 541 

Total Economy & Environment (Highways & Public 
Space) 7,939 41,496 43,563 29,996 29,913 33,948 186,854 

Hereford City Centre Transport Package 38,908 5,042 3,029 0 0 0 46,979 

Hereford ATMs and Super Cycle Highway 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 

Active Travel Fund 4 134 172 0 0 0 0 306 

Active Travel Fund 5 0 0 99 0 0 0 99 

Consolidated Active Travel Fund 0 0 499 234 234 234 1,202 

Hereford Western Bypass Phase 1 356 2,100 13,584 11,700 17,560 0 45,300 

Stronger Towns Fund - Greening the City 116 288 0 0 0 0 404 

LUF - Active Travel Measures (north of river) 1,097 1,727 716 926 0 0 4,466 

LUF - Active Travel Measures (south of river) 533 2,663 6,000 0 0 0 9,197 

Local Transport Grant 0 5,837 5,975 6,966 7,775 8,584 35,137 

124
138



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

16 
 

Bus Service Improvement Plan 0 1,108 900 918 936 954 4,815 

Total Economy & Environment (Transport) 41,144 18,937 31,802 20,744 26,505 9,772 148,905 

Integrated Wetlands 2,676 1,686 398 0 0 0 4,760 

Natural Flood Management 555 329 390 0 0 0 1,274 

Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Capital Fund (LEVI)  0 0 120 240 120 644 1,124 

LEVI Pilot Fund Grant 24 36 60 0 0 0 120 

Wye Valley National Landscape (previously AONB) 0 934 0 0 0 0 934 

Solar Photovoltaic Panels 1,064 150 535 385 0 0 2,134 

Yazor Brook 0 260 0 0 0 0 260 

Waste 0 5,193 0 6,200 0 0 11,393 

Home Upgrade Grant 0 70 0 0 0 0 70 

Warm Homes Grant 0 501 1,003 982 0 0 2,485 

Herefordshire Flood Risk Mitigation 0 250 1,805 0 0 0 2,055 

Total Economy & Environment (Environmental) 4,318 9,409 4,311 7,807 120 644 26,609 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 0 401 0 0 0 0 401 

HWGTA - Development of Vocational Work Based Skills 
Investment 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 

Employment Land & Incubation Space in Market Towns 866 3,961 1,460 8,360 0 0 14,648 

Rural Prosperity Fund 0 512 0 0 0 0 512 

Total Economy & Environment (Economic Growth) 866 6,874 1,460 8,360 0 0 17,561 

Windows Server Upgrades 293 37 0 0 0 0 330 

Device and Ancillary kit replacement programme 0 230 578 185 0 0 993 

M365 E5 Implementation 491 79 0 0 0 0 570 

Planning & Regulatory Services software 3 350 923 120 0 0 1,396 

Contact Centre Telephony Replacement 15 67 0 0 0 0 82 

Wide Area Network (WAN) Replacement 165 121 0 0 0 0 286 

School Route Planning Software 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 

IT System Upgrades & Server Replacements 2025-26 0 318 182 0 0 0 500 

Essential system updates and upgrades 0 0 174 0 0 0 174 

CCTV Equipment Upgrades 0 89 0 0 0 0 89 

125
139



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

17 
 

Total Corporate Services (IT & Transformation) 967 1,340 1,857 305 0 0 4,470 

Schools Capital Maintenance Grant 0 3,196 2,770 1,200 0 0 7,166 

Aylestone School Improvement Works 0 0 1,790 1,000 0 0 2,790 

Peterchurch Area School Investment 953 6,523 3,377 0 0 0 10,853 

Brookfield School Improvements 2,181 3,641 0 0 0 0 5,822 

High Needs Grant 483 2,103 6,784 0 0 0 9,369 

Basic Needs Funding 560 1,500 11,810 5,006 0 0 18,877 

Relocate Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units 0 0 1,500 3,500 0 0 5,000 

Establish a new alternative provision (AP) centre 0 0 1,500 3,500 0 0 5,000 

Childcare Expansion Capital Grant 2023-24 13 153 130 0 0 0 296 

School Accessibility Works 759 551 1,193 0 0 0 2,503 

Children’s residential homes for 11 to 18 year olds  0 424 0 0 0 0 424 

Residential overnight short breaks refurbishment 0 0 60 0 0 0 60 

C & F's S106 0 819 1,297 1,550 0 0 3,665 

Total Childrens & Young Peoples (Including Schools) 4,949 18,908 32,210 15,756 0 0 71,824 

Work to Shirehall Annex (Care Leavers Base) 85 15 0 0 0 0 100 

Estates Capital Programme 2019/22 5,119 763 0 0 0 0 5,882 

Residual property works identified in the 2019 condition 
reports 957 365 0 0 0 0 1,322 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 22-25 1,927 1,079 0 0 0 0 3,007 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2023-25 1,558 519 990 0 0 0 3,067 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2024-27 689 997 483 0 0 0 2,169 

Building works from 2022 Condition Surveys 4 196 974 350 0 0 1,524 

Shirehall Improvement Works 0 250 3,750 0 0 0 4,000 

Property Improvements in Care Homes 225 644 484 0 0 0 1,353 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2026-29  0 0 1,809 1,121 35 0 2,965 

Estates Building Improvement Programme 2025-28 0 497 2,622 526 0 0 3,645 

Total Economy & Environment (Council Asset 
Investment) 10,564 5,325 11,112 1,998 35 0 29,033 

Disabled facilities grant 0 3,373 2,200 2,200 0 0 7,773 

Empty Property Investment & Development 0 580 286 0 0 0 866 

126
140



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

18 
 

Strategic/Emergency Housing Capital Projects  0 0 2,650 3,900 3,450 0 10,000 

Acquisition Fund for Housing Provision 111 2,589 2,300 0 0 0 5,000 

Merton Meadow - Brownfield Land Release Fund 393 1,607 0 0 0 0 2,000 

Swimming Pool Support Fund  0 60 0 0 0 0 60 

Libraries Improvement Fund 31 31 0 0 0 0 62 

Stronger Towns Fund - Hereford Museum & Art Gallery 
Redevelopment 2,883 1,540 10,525 5,581 0 0 20,529 

Stronger Towns Library & Learning Centre relocation to 
Shirehall 340 152 2,064 450 0 0 3,005 

Historic Building Fund 0 0 0 5,000 0 0 5,000 

Community Capital Grants Scheme 4 1,376 600 20 0 0 2,000 

Total Community Wellbeing Including Housing 3,761 11,309 20,625 17,151 3,450 0 56,295 

Total Capital Programme 74,508 113,598 146,941 102,117 60,023 44,364 541,551 

 

127
141



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

19 
 

 
Appendix B 

 

Strategies that Support the Capital Strategy 

 The Strategic Asset Management Plan   
  
 Contains the Corporate Property Programme for the council.  

  It mainly focuses on proposals to: 
 

o Rationalise the current corporate administrative estate 
o Introduce better ways of working to drive efficiency, for example home working 
o Support the organisation to meet its carbon reduction targets.  

 
 The overarching strategy contains a suite of supplementary procedures in the Corporate Asset 

Procedure that covers all aspects of purchase, disposal, owning and managing property assets as 
well as other supplementary procedures on items such as Community Asset Transfers, storage 
and listed sites.  

 
   

 Local Transport Plan 
 

This plan covers the policies and delivery plans relating to transport and explains how these 
contribute to the wider local agenda. It considers the transport needs both of people and of 
freight and includes the strategic countywide programme of transport infrastructure 
improvements and maintenance.  The aim is to ensure the maintenance, operation, 
management and best use of the county’s transport assets. 
 
Annual funding available for local transport has over recent years been in the region of £12 

million to support capital maintenance of the highway asset and support road safety and 
transport network improvements. In future the level of funding for transport capital 
investment will be constrained but remain a significant component of the overall capital 
programme, reflecting the importance of maintaining this important asset and its crucial 
contribution to the economic vitality of the county. 
 

 Schools Capital Investment Strategy 
 
This strategy has been developed in consultation with Schools, Children and Families Service.  
Its principles support the vision, objectives and targets of the Herefordshire Council.  In so 
doing, it supports and contributes to the council’s Capital Strategy.  It specifically seeks to 
ensure that assets that do not support the objectives of the Herefordshire Council are disposed 
of through sale to realise a capital receipt or through community asset transfer, that investment 
is clearly linked to specific objectives and targets; and that assets such as schools, children's 
centres, youth centres and children's multi-agency offices are corporate resources, available to 
accommodate delivery of wider services to the community from across Herefordshire. The 
strategy seeks to join up future capital funding streams wherever possible to ensure that best 
value is achieved from the funding available and to maximise the benefits realised from the 
investment. 

 
 Digital Strategy 
 
 The Digital Strategy aims to ensure that Herefordshire Council has a stable, fit-for-purpose and 

sustainable information, communications and technology platform and service organisation 
capable of supporting the drive to deliver efficient and effective services to the citizens, 
directorates, businesses, organisations, members and public sector partners within 
Herefordshire. It will assist Herefordshire Council to make more flexible use of technology to 
achieve efficiencies, access services and share workspace and resources with partner agencies. 

128142



HEREFORDSHIRE CAPITAL STRATEGY 2026-2031 

20 
 

 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 

 This document is approved annually, based on the budget setting requirements of the council 
and reflects on the strategic and operational intentions over a three-year time frame. It covers 
the capital programme and funding streams including the affordability of prudential borrowing 
and use of capital to facilitate revenue budget savings in future years. 

 

 Treasury Management Strategy 
 
  This strategy sets out the council’s overall approach to treasury management operations 
 including the capital programme and links to the borrowing limits, minimum revenue provision 
 in relation to debt repayment and prudential indicators. 

 
Capital vs Treasury Management Investments  
 

 Treasury Management investment activity covers those investments arising from the Council’s 
cash flows and debt management activity. The power to invest is set out in the Local 
Government Act, Section 12.  

 

 For treasury management investments, the security and liquidity of funds are placed ahead of 
investment return/yield. Treasury related activity, including the management of associated risk, 
are managed separately in accordance with the Council’s Annual Treasury Management 
Strategy and are not covered by this Capital Strategy.  

 

 The CIPFA Treasury Management Code recognises that organisations may make investments 
for policy reasons outside normal treasury management activity. These may include service and 
commercial investments and are subject to the guiding principles outlined in this capital 
strategy:  

- service investments; investments held clearly and explicitly in the course of the provision, 
and for the purposes of operational services including regeneration  
- commercial investments; investments taken mainly for financial reasons e.g. purchase of 
investment property 
 

 Latest guidance issued by the Secretary of State makes clear that borrowing to finance the 
acquisition of non-financial investments (e.g. commercial property investment) made purely for 
profit shall be considered ‘borrowing in advance of need’.  

 

 The Council’s policy on borrowing in advance of need forms part of the Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy. However, and to be clear, the Council will not borrow for capital 
investment made solely for yield generating opportunities. Under the Prudential Code if, 
exceptionally, the Council chooses not to have regard that provision, then an explanation 
should be brought forward explaining the rationale for its decision.  

 

 

129143



144



 

 Page 1 12/01/26 
Version number 4 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Community Wellbeing 

Scheme Name Property Improvements in Care Homes – Phase 3 

Budget Holder Corporate Director Community Wellbeing 

Council Plan Priority People/Place 

 

Project aims and objectives: 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2024/25 
 

2025/26 2026/27 Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Essential Works 2026/27   139,750  139,750 

Essential Equipment 2026/27   25,000  25,000 

Improvement Works or 
Efficiency 2026/27 
 

  34,000  34,000 

TOTAL   198,750  198,750 
 

Funding sources 

Capital Receipts Reserve   198,750  198,750 

      

TOTAL      

 

 

A programme of building improvement works 2026/27 which have been identified through the 
assessment of criteria primarily focussed on (1) identified risk, (2) health, safety or welfare of the building 
users (3) delivery of the aims within the Council’s County Plan, (4) service continuity and efficiencies 
through the delivery of property specific projects.  
 
Key objectives include:  

 Ensure that the Council’s estate is maintained, safe and fit for purpose. 

 Address identified risks, impacting users of the building. 

 Reduce revenue expenditure by investing in buildings. 

 Extend the lifecycle of Council assets and protect/enhance value. 

 Secure better services, quality of life and value for money 

 Support reduction of carbon footprint. 

 To support the delivery of the Herefordshire Council Plan 2024-28 

 

Allowing investment and undertaking a programme of improvement works will mitigate and prevent risk of 

failure and ensure the buildings remain open and fit for current use, thereby avoiding disruption to the 

delivery of services.  

131145



 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
Benefits and risks: 

The anticipated benefits of the proposed programme are listed below: 
 

 Statutory Compliance/ Quality Assurance 

 Risk Management / Mitigation 

 Protected Service Delivery 

 Energy Efficiency 

 Sustainability 

 
The programme seeks to reduce the risks identified on a project by project basis. 

 
The key risks of not doing the project are: 
  

 Non-Compliance with Statutory Regulations 

 Health and Safety Risks 

 Potential for serious Physical Injury 

 Impact on Service Delivery 

 Reputational Risk 

 

The key project risks are: 
 

 Statutory 

 Financial 

 Service 

 Reputational 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

132146



 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Children & Young People 

Scheme Name 
Residential overnight short breaks home utilising 
capital funds for purchase and refurbishment and 
revenue for delivery of care via procurement.   

Budget Holder Tina Russell 

Council Plan Priority People/Place 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Capital funding totalling £424,00 was made available in 2024-25 to deliver a registered residential children 
home project. Following a robust operational review of demand for such service a request was made to 
repurpose this funding and to purchase a property from which to deliver a minimum of 700 nights of care and 
support to children and young people with a disability as a short break 2025-26.  
 
This provision is proven to prevent family breakdown, offering children and their families respite from daily 
challenging needs. This therefore reduces the risk of children coming into care permanently with families 
feeling they can’t cope when they have an offer of overnight short breaks.  
 
Currently no provision for overnight short breaks is available in county and those with the most complex 
needs are either unable to access a service or must travel significant distances. Is it considered likely that 
children have been accommodated directly because insufficient overnight short breaks are available.  
 
Following approval of a decision report and signature by Tina Russell a multi-agency project team has 
progressed to identify a suitable property.  
 
As of August 2025, funding has been secured as follows:  

1. £424,000 capital funding  
2. £35,000 strategic housing budget 

 
A suitable property has been sourced at a total of £440,000. It is anticipated that purchase costs will total 
£10000 leaving £9000 This will be insufficient to deliver the outstanding adaptation and furnishing required to 
enable short breaks to be delivered. It is anticipated that a balance of £60,000 additional capital funding will 
be needed to cover: 

1. Conversion of wet room  
2. Hoist system in one room and wet room.  
3. Appropriate industrial level white goods to allow laundry needs.  
4. Furnishing of 3 bedrooms, living room, kitchen etc.  
5. Garden toys to include adapted play/sensory equipment.  

 
 
There are currently 32 children assessed as requiring OSB support. It is expected that in excess of 15 
children and young people will benefit from this provision. 

Analysis of current demand is challenging as some children are accessing an alternative service in lieu of 
overnight short breaks which may be sufficient, may delay accommodation or may be insufficient and 
exacerbate timescales for accommodation.  Co-dependencies to include recruitment of foster carers/personal 
assistants and availability of community-based offers will influence the demand for overnight short breaks. As 

133147



 

OFFICIAL 

such the numbers will increase/decrease over time. Offering an in-reach offer to families alongside overnight 
short breaks will provide flexibility, better value and improve business resilience.  

The cost for overnight short breaks ranges from £550 to £1250 per night, including care and accommodation. 
Staffing ratio and requirement for clinical oversight vastly impact costs. A model that offers a range of skills, 
training and competency is likely to deliver the most cost effective and operationally useful service. Currently 
Herefordshire fund considerable travel for children to provision and or to school from their short break. This 
would be significantly reduced if the provision was in county and core home/school transport could be 
amended in a planned way. This will inform any future specification and tender requirement.  

Current thinking indicates that a property offering in the region 700 bed nights per year will allow: 

 11 children identified as needing 391 ONSB but receiving an alternative offer to receive planned care.  

 4 children identified as needing 84 nights of ONSB and currently receiving direct payments as an 
alternative to receive planned care.  

 Potential return home from 52/ week or reduction to 39-week care  

 Timely support for children to avoid breakdown at points of crisis.  

 
Without additional capital funds being made available the short break offer this home will not be able to be 
adapted to meet the needs of children currently accessed as requiring an overnight short break and 
Herefordshire will fail to meet their statutory duties.  
 
Whilst it is recognised that this funding bid pertains to 2026-27 it is the specific request of Tina Russell that a 
bespoke decision allows consideration across 2025-26 to allow for works to be completed and provision to be 
offered as 1.1.26   
 
Our Sufficiency Strategy states that:  
“For those young people requiring residential care we intend to develop more local quality provision within 
2024-25 and improve percentage of children placed in area annually. 
 
Herefordshire Improvement Plan for Children and Families highlights that our role as Corporate Parent 
is a priority area of focus and promotes the following outcomes:  
 
“Children and young people are central to decision making and planning within the council.  They trust that 
the council has their best interest at heart and will prioritise resources to meet their needs.” 
“Increased choice of placement to meet the needs of children in our care.” 
“Matching of placement will be available to ensure needs are met and reduction in short term placements.” 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

  60,000   60,000 

      

      

TOTAL  60,000   60,000 

 

Funding sources 

Capital Receipts Reserve  60,000   60,000 

      

134148



 

OFFICIAL 

      

TOTAL  60,000   60,000 

 

 
Benefits and risks: 

Benefits: - 

The provision within county is expected to deliver improved outcomes for children and young people, 

support families to care for their child at home, control costs, reduce transport costs, reduce officer travel 

time, maintain school placement and attendance and allow for effective collaborative working across 

partner agencies. 

 The council would have full control of how the service was developed and delivered via 

specification. 

 The council would manage referrals into the service and support conversations around matching, 

managing risk and occupancy. However, the provider would have the potential to veto subject to 

certain conditions i.e. safeguarding risk.  

 Increased local options improving choice and matching.  

 Retention of local connection with family/community and access to services within adult social 

care and housing  

 Improved outcomes for children and recognition of the need to maintain trusted relationships. 

 Increased access to local education and health services avoiding delay in assessment/ support. 

 Improved engagement with providers mitigating breakdown, complaints and reputational risk.  

 Reduced costs associated with transport, contact, travel, notice and uplifts. 

 Reduced additionality of costs linked to spot/emergency arrangements.  

 Reduced risk of unregistered placements.  

 

Risks: - 

Currently children are being placed into accommodation that does not fully meet their needs and is often 

out of area. The council is at risk of failing to meet our statutory duties and currently we anticipate legal 

challenge from a number of families. Costs are rising and quality cannot always be guaranteed. Placing 

children out of county creates challenges for maintaining family contact, local networks and disrupts 

education.   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135149



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Economy and Environment 

Scheme Name Hereford Western Bypass – Phase 1 

Budget Holder Scott Tompkins – Delivery Director - Infrastructure 

Council Plan Priority Growth and Place 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Scheme description and demonstration of links to corporate priorities and savings plans. 

The Council is seeking to deliver the first phase of the Hereford Western Bypass (formerly Southern Link 
Road).  The project was approved by Cabinet in March 2024 as part of the New Road Strategy and was 
estimated at that time to cost in the of £35m to construct. The recent procurement exercise has provided 
greater certainty to this estimation.  

 
As part of the phase 1 review undertaken by Aecom however, it is anticipated that further works will be 
required to meet current construction and environmental regulations and standards. Furthermore, 
additional utility and network rail assets requiring diversion/ mitigation have been identified that were not 
previously captured in previous tenders have been identified. As a result, construction costs are likely to 
rise by approximately £1m. A further £300,000 is required to employ resources to support the council with 
contract management during the construction phase. 
 
Council previously approved £10.3m to enable the scheme to progress to construction stage and to 
acquire land. It is anticipated that approximately £1.3m of this will be available to contribute to 
construction costs, subject to final land purchase costs. 
 
A further £5m is therefore required in order to bring the budget up to £36.3m to ensure that the council is 
able to award a construction contract within the financial year 2026/27. 
 
There are no additional revenue implications for ongoing maintenance as part of this proposal.  

This capital bid is intended to deliver: 

 
o The additional funding required to allow the construction of the scheme and the mitigation of impacted 
utility assets. 

o Fund a consultant to oversee the construction of the scheme. 
o Provide an element of contingency to ensure that unexpected issues that may arise are able to be 

addressed. 

Links to County Plan priorities:  
People:  Traffic levels in the city are high, and with that comes pollution in the form of NOx and 

particulate pollution (PM10 and PM2.5).  This pollution is known to affect the development 
of the young and to impact on the health of adults with respiratory illnesses. Removal of a 
high proportion of traffic that currently accesses the Rotherwas Enterprise Zone via the 
A465 and A49 corridors and from Holme Lacey Road will ensure that active travel is a 
more attractive alternative means of travel and will support uptake of use of the new 
cycling facilities being constructed along Holme Lacy Road.   

136150



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Place:  The scheme will be designed such that it is sympathetic to the environment, with planting 
on site and on nearby sites, as well as improved conditions to enhance biodiversity 
planned as an integral part of the scheme. 
As part of the wider Western Bypass the proposal will lay the foundation for additional 
housing required to support affordable living in the county to be located in a manner that 
mitigates the impact of additional car travel. 

 
Growth: The creation of a new network of roads around the city will ensure that business traffic is 

able to access the business parks and Enterprise Zone without impacting on the city.  This 
will reduce costs and encourage investment to enable economic growth in and around 
Hereford. 

 The creation of the first phase of the Western Bypass, and the other revenue funded work 
that is coming forward, will give local businesses confidence to invest in the city’s 
enterprise park and business hubs. 

 By removing unnecessary through traffic from the city centre local retail, leisure and 
hospitality businesses will be better placed to welcome visitors to the city. 

 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Project development 356 2,100 6,544    9,000 

Construction   9,940 19,840 6,220 0 36,000 

Support resources   60 160 80 0 300 

        

TOTAL 356 2,100 16,544 20,000 6,300 0 45,300 

   

Funding sources 

Additional Corporate 
Funded Borrowing 

  0 0 5,000 0 5,000 

Previously approved 
funding 

2,800 8,500 17,500 11,500  0 40,300 

        

TOTAL 2800 8500 17,500 11,500 5,000 0 45,300 

 
Benefits and risks: 

A full business case to outline the costs, benefits and risks will be developed prior to the drawdown of 

funding however it is anticipated that the following benefits will be realised and that there are risks that 

require mitigation as set out below. 

Benefits 

 By investing capital in the first phase of a western bypass, then the city will have started on its 

journey to create resilience, better control its traffic and will allow for space within the city centre to 

be re-purposed to provide a better sense of place. 

 The residents of Herefordshire have long expected the delivery of a bypass for the city; customer 

satisfaction will be improved when work on the bypass is commenced and delivery of phase 1 will 

build confidence that the council is listening to its residents. 

137151



 

OFFICIAL 

 Businesses, particularly those sited in Rotherwas, will welcome a reduction in lost time traversing 

busy city centre corridors, freeing up resource for investment in the various enterprises. 

 A reduction in traffic in the city centre will allow for a more punctual bus service, giving residents the 

confidence to swap their travel modes. 

 Less traffic will also improve the active travel choices of our residents.  They will be able to travel on 

quieter streets with less pollution. 

 

Risks 

 If possible, the council will seek to recover corporate funding from third parties such as DfT or 

developers to minimise the revenue impact on corporate budgets, however it may be that external 

funding is not forthcoming and therefore the council will be required to fully fund the project. 

 Construction inflation has proven to be volatile over recent years and therefore actual costs may be 

subject to change when the scheme goes out to tender. The proposed budget may therefore require 

amendment up or down prior to the start of construction. A re-visit of the full business case will help 

minimise the level of uncertainty prior to tender. 

 The second phase of the Western Bypass has yet to progress to the full business case stage and 

therefore the full potential benefits of phase 1 may not be realised should phase 2 not progress. A full 

business case for phase 1 to demonstrate that it represents value for money in its own right will be 

developed prior to spending commitments on construction. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

138152



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Community Wellbeing  

Scheme Name Strategic/Emergency Housing Capital Projects  

Budget Holder Hannah McSherry  

Council Plan Priority 

People - We will enable residents to realise their potential, 
to be healthy and benefit from communities that help 
people to feel safe and supported. 

Place - We will protect and enhance our environment and 
ensure that Herefordshire remains a great place to live. 
We will support the right housing in the right place 
and do everything we can to improve the health of our 
rivers. 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Financial Context 

The Council has a statutory duty to prevent and relieve homelessness. In 2023/24 the Housing 
Solutions Team spent £3,415,832.27 on temporary accommodation (TA) solutions; £3,030,030.55 on 
Travelodge/ B&B style accommodation and £385,801.72 on private sector rental accommodation.  

During this period the Council owed 314 households a prevention duty and 221 households a main 
housing duty. This gives an average TA cost of approx. £6384.73 per household owed a duty in 
2023/24. 

The limited supply of B&B/ Hotel accommodation in Herefordshire, along with increasing demand and 
seasonal variations mean the cost of securing short term accommodation continues to rise. A 
Travelodge room costs an average of £90. 

The current average cost to the Council for an individual placed in the Travelodge is:   

 1 night £90         

 7 nights £630     

 30 nights £2,700       

 1 Year £32,850        

Wherever possible housing benefit is used to offset this cost, but this is not always possible and 
doesn’t cover the full cost.  

The average cost of self-contained private sector rented accommodation used for TA are set out below 
alongside the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates that are used to offset these costs. Please note 
that LA’s can only claim 90% of LHA rates for temporary accommodation.   

Average Monthly Rent Weekly LHA rates (90%) Monthly LHA rates  

1 bed - £520 1 bed - £86.19 1 bed - £373.49 

2 bed - £631 2 bed - £109.04 2 bed - £472.51 

3 bed - £755 3 bed - £129.81 3 bed - £562.51 

4 bed - £1000 4 bed - £155.77 4 bed - £675.00 

139153



 

OFFICIAL 

This table demonstrates that whilst the Council negotiates rents that are as close to LHA rates as 
possible, LHA rates do not come near to covering the whole cost. For self-contained private sector 
rented accommodation alone, this shortfall amounts to over £120,000 per annum, not taking into 
account voids, maintenance and repairs.  

In 2023/24 the overspend on TA was 1.3m.  

In 2024/25 the overspend on TA was £758K. This substantial decrease is down to proactive budget 
management and an increased focus on claiming Housing Benefit, however demand for temporary 
accommodation continues to significantly outstrip the budget. Escalating demand for TA is a national 
challenge and is a result of several factors including:  

 Lack of social housing. 

 Increasing cost of private rent. 

 New legislation being introduced for private sector landlords, meaning many are leaving the 
market and evicting their tenants in the process.  

 Ongoing impact of the cost-of-living crisis. 

There are wider positive ‘invest to save’ implications linked to the accommodation solutions outlined in 
this request including:   

 Ensuring that we have suitable accommodation for vulnerable families. 

 Improving health and wellbeing outcome for families; Children living in temporary 
accommodation face a multitude of negative outcomes, including disruptions to their education, 
increased risk of mental health problems, and potential exposure to unsafe living conditions. 

 Safe and secure accommodation mitigates the risk of escalating care and support needs and 
the cost of social care interventions for vulnerable adults and children. 

 Reduction in avoidable hospital admissions.  

 Reducing the risk and cost of the Council being fined by the Housing Ombudsman.  

 Reduction in complaints, MP enquiries and wider reputational damage to the Council. 

 Better use of existing housing stock. 

Link to corporate Plan / Priorities  

All the projects set out below link directly to the priorities set out in the corporate plan: 

People - We will enable residents to realise their potential, to be healthy and benefit from 
communities that help people to feel safe and supported. 

Place - We will protect and enhance our environment and ensure that Herefordshire remains a great 
place to live. We will support the right housing in the right place and do everything we can to 
improve the health of our rivers. 

Link to savings priorities – Reduction in cost of temporary accommodation  
 
Bringing Empty Properties Back into Use  
 
Request £750,000 to bring 15 empty properties back into use over 3 years.  
 

140154



 

OFFICIAL 

There are in excess of 350 long term empty homes in Herefordshire. In order to incentivise the owners 
of these properties to bring them back into use we propose to run an Empty Properties Grant Scheme.  
 
Grants of up to £50,000 per property will be offered to bring up to 15 empty properties back into use 
across Herefordshire. Larger grants might be agreed by exception depending upon the property e.g. 
large family homes that need additional investment, but that would be a valuable resource to the TA 
team. 
 
The focus will be on Hereford City and market towns as that is where accommodation is most needed. 
Grant’s agreements will include conditions that the accommodation is offered for affordable rent for an 
agreed number of years depending upon the value of the investment. Nominations agreements will 
enable the Council to move families our of TA into these properties, reducing spend on expensive 
B&B/ chain hotels.   
 
Bringing 15 properties back into use over 3 years as profiled in the table could, allowing for move on to 
permanent homes, take at least 20 households out of expensive and unsuitable B&B / Hotel 
accommodation. This scheme offers a potential saving of £159,619, less any costs offset by benefits.  
 
Local Area Housing Fund (LAHF) Round 4 – Match funding 
 
Request £100,000 as match funding for LAHF 4 
 
The government has closed Afghan Resettlement Programme resettlement scheme to any further 
applications, but the number of refugees already committed to the scheme mean that we can expect 
several more years of active resettlement as new families continue to arrive in the UK. In an attempt to 
secure a fairer distribution across the country, the Government have introduced regional targets which 
have subdivided at a local authority level.  
 
This year, the Council were able to meet the initial ask of 42 bedspaces / individuals through a 
combination of housing purchased through the LAHF (Round 2) and the delivery of 5 x new build 
properties negotiated with Connexus. However, this figure increases to 63 bedspaces / individuals for 
2025/26. Strategic Housing have negotiated a further 5 units of resettlement accommodation with 
Stonewater for this period, but there will be a significant shortfall if we do not look at alternative models 
to deliver refugee resettlement in Herefordshire.  
 
As a non-stock holding authority, we rely heavily on our Registered Provider (RP) partners to deliver a 
range of accommodation solutions for all our vulnerable groups of which refugees are just one. 
 
The grant scheme has been delivered in partnership with local RP’s who, to date, have provided 
approx. 50% of the match funding, with the Council contributing just a small amount of match as a 
gesture of our commitment to the funding and to our RP partners.   
 
Working with Connexus and Stonewater Ltd, the Council have delivered 38 units of LAHF grant funded 
accommodation for resettlement and temporary accommodation over the last 2 years. These units of 
accommodation now form part of Herefordshire’s social housing stock.  
 
In preparation for LAHF Round 4 opening, we are requesting £5000 per property for up to 20 
properties.  
 
Delivering affordable Temporary Accommodation for large families  
 
Purchase and refurbishment of 3 large family homes to accommodate families of 7 or more currently 
being accommodated in TA. £450,000 each. Total request £1,350,000.  

141155



 

OFFICIAL 

 
We are currently accommodating 3 large families (6+) in TA with a 4th family still living in their existing 
unsuitable accommodation because we cannot find them suitable TA. 
  
One of these families was accommodated in a local hotel during 2023, whilst a more suitable solution 
was sought. This cost £93,310 for 6 months. This family are now in leased accommodation at a cost of 
£30,000 per annum of which £22,000 cannot be recovered via housing benefit.  
 
Two of the families are in Council owned accommodation, meaning that they cannot be used to 
generate an income.  
 
The Council have been fined over £17,000 by the Housing Ombudsman because we cannot find 
suitable accommodation for these families. We have been notified of a further fine related to the family 
that we have not been able to find suitable TA for; we understand that this will be £3750 plus an 
additional £250 per month until we can find suitable TA. The demand for larger family accommodation 
is growing, and we have very few options at our disposal. 
 
Following this latest complaint the Housing Ombudsman has asked that the Council produce a plan for 
procuring larger units of temporary accommodation. Investing in larger family homes will save money 
both in terms of B&B costs and by reducing fines from the Housing Ombudsman.  
 
There is little prospect of these families being housed in social housing because Registered Providers 
do not develop homes that are large enough to accommodate them, so these families will continue to 
live in TA which is why we need flexible cost-effective solutions that we can manage directly. 
 
It’s difficult to quantify the exact savings that can be made from this approach as each of these families 
are a different size and makeup, but the only alternative we currently have is Hotel / B&B 
accommodation. The Homelessness Code of Guidance is clear that households with children should 
not be in B&B accommodation for any longer than 6 weeks. After this time the Council must secure 
alternative suitable accommodation. This is a huge challenge for large families.   
 
Accessible Homes – Temporary Accommodation  
 
Request £700,000 to purchase and refurbish two units of accessible temporary accommodation. 
 
We are seeking investment for two units of accessible accommodation for people that are homeless or 
in need of temporary accommodation before they can return home safely. Accessible housing stock is 
limited with demand outstripping supply.  
 
Due to a lack of alternatives, we currently place people in accessible rooms in the Travelodge. This 
means that we are often sending people out of county and paying higher rates for accessible rooms. 
This solution is expensive and removes people from their established support networks, services and 
make access to healthcare very difficult. Experience shows that this approach can lead to otherwise 
preventable hospital admissions.   
 
Accessible Homes – Larger Families  
 
Request £900,000 for purchase two accessible homes for large families.  
 
A disproportionate number of disabled people live in social housing, with the Office for National 
Statistics (ONS, 2022) stating that 24.9% of disabled people lived in social renting in 2022 compared 
with 7.9% of non-disabled people.  
 

142156



 

OFFICIAL 

The Council work closely with Registered Providers through the disabled facilities grant to make 
adaptations to existing housing stock to ensure that it is accessible for people with disabilities and 
accessibility issues. However, for some people / families this will never be a workable solution because 
their needs are so specific. The Council have an accessible homes register (AHR) for households that 
need bespoke housing solutions to meet their needs and works with developers through the planning 
system to develop homes to meet the specific needs of these households. There are over 70 
households on the AHR.  
 
This includes 7 families waiting for an accessible 4-bedroom unit, 3 families awaiting an accessible 5-
bedroom unit and 1 family waiting for an accessible 6+ bedroom unit. Some of these families have 
more than one child with a disability or a life limiting illness, some as many as three.  
 
Negotiating homes of this size on new development sites is very difficult as these are expensive units 
and take up more land. Where we have successfully negotiated a large accessible unit, the 
development process that can take 3 or more years to deliver the home. Some of the families on the 
accessible homes register have been waiting for over 6 years.  
 
The families outlined above are living in accommodation that is not fit for purpose and will need 
increasing amounts of formal support from children’s or adults social care to meet their escalating 
needs if we cannot provide them with a suitable home.  
 
16/17 Homeless Young People   
 
Request: Purchase of 4 x 2 bed units of accommodation for 16/17 young people that are experiencing 
homelessness. £1,000,000.  
 
When a YP aged 16/17 presents as homeless, they have an assessment and can chose to become 
children, looked after (CLA) or follow what is commonly referred to as the homelessness route, 
whereby they would be provided with accommodation but not supported or formally under the care of 
Children’s Social Care.  
 
The Council has no dedicated accommodation for YP choosing the homelessness route which means 
that more YP are becoming looked after. For some YP this is absolutely the right decision, but for 
others this decision may be influenced by the  
lack of wider, suitable, accommodation options. This proposal aims to provide YP with a suitable 
option. YP are not able to have a tenancy until they are 18, so this is transitional accommodation, and 
we it would be reasonable to expect a YP to occupy these units for at least 2 years.  
 
The average annual cost of a supported housing placement for a looked after child during 2024/25 was 
£61,256 per annum, some of this cost is offset by housing benefit, but not all.  Each of these units will 
accommodation 2 YP. Creating this accommodation for 16/17-year-olds who present as homeless but 
who don’t need to become children that are looked after, could save the Council in excess of £1.1m in 
revenue spend in 3 years. This doesn’t consider any reductions offset by housing benefit but excludes 
the wider costs of supporting children that are looked after until they are 25 years old.  
 
Year 1 = 4 x £61256 = £254,024 
Year 2 = 6 x £61256 = £367,536 
Year 3 = 8 x £61256 = £490,048 
Total potential saving is £1,111,608. 
 
These are cumulative sums based on the annual cost for each person.  
 

143157



 

OFFICIAL 

Should this scheme be approved, it is hoped that some of the potential savings may be used to deliver 
an increase in capacity for our existing floating support contract to support 16/17-year-olds in their 
independent accommodation, but this is only notional at this stage. 
 
Emergency Accommodation 
 
Request: £5.9m (capital borrowing) to develop council owned temporary accommodation to address 
the gap in provision and provide suitable accommodation for some of the county’s most vulnerable 
people.  
 
The Housing Solutions Team are responsible for delivering the homelessness and housing advice 
service for Herefordshire Council.  Homelessness has increased dramatically in recent years with 
approaches by those threatened with homelessness or homeless increasing - reflecting the national 
trend.  There are currently 742 open cases being dealt with by the Housing Solutions Team and 177 
households currently in temporary accommodation. 
 
Based on analysis over the last 3 years, the council has an average emergency accommodation 
requirement of 150 units and thus a deficit of 100 units against this proven long-term demand. At a 
cabinet emergency accommodation working group in September, cabinet members agreed that in 
addressing this long-term issue, the council should seek to directly acquire and develop additional 
emergency accommodation to meet this deficit. 
 
The rationale behind this proposal is one of spend to save, already adopted by the council in the 
recent acquisition of the John Venn Building in Hereford, using £5 million of funding allocated for 
provision of Temporary accommodation, to acquire and refurbish this vacant building to provide 28 No 
1 bed apartments at a cost of £3.5 million but delivering revenue cost avoidance measures of circa 
£700,000 pa. 
 
This proposal is to develop council owned land and buildings to provide ‘fit for purpose’ residential 
units to delivery emergency accommodation to meet the councils needs and thus fulfil its statutory 
obligations, and reduce service overspend on Emergency accommodation. 
 
A ‘pipeline’ of 47, 1,2,3 and 4 bed units has been identified to be to be delivered over a 2 - 3-year 
period, allowing for the initial preconstruction design, planning and procurement phases. 
 
The council will utilise the £5.9m to bring forward developments to meet the current and future need, 
utilising council owned land and buildings in the first instance.  A full business case will be established 
for each development, setting out the need/ demand, and the income which will repay the borrowing 
(based on the John Venn building model established in the previous programme).  The council will also 
seek Homes England grant funding wherever possible to support the business case for each 
investment. 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

      

144158



 

OFFICIAL 

Empty Property Grants 250 250 250  750 

LAHF 4 Match Funding  100    100 

TA for Large Families  450 450 450  1,350 

Accessible Homes for Large Families 450 450   900 
Accommodation for Homeless 16/17-
year-olds 

500 250 250  1000 

Emergency Accommodation  900 2,500 2,500  5,900 

TOTAL  2,650 3,900 3,450  10,000 

 

Funding Stream 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Corporate funding borrowing 1,750 1,400 950  4,100 

Homes England Grant  405 1,125 1,125  2,655 

Borrowing funded from revenue 
Income (ROI) 

495 1,375 1,375  3,245 

TOTAL 2,650 3,900 3,450  10,000 

 

      

Revenue budget implications 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

Potential savings £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

LAHF 4 Match Funding       

Empty Property Grants – potential 
savings 

31 51 76 76 
234 

TA for Large Families – potential 
savings 

41 
41 41 

41 
164 

Accessible Homes for Large 
Families  

    
 

Accommodation for homeless 16/17-
year-olds – potential savings  

254 367 490 254 
1,365 

TOTAL 326 459 607 371 1,763 

 
 
 
 
 
Benefits and risks: 

The anticipated benefits and risks of the proposed project plus risks of not going ahead with the scheme. 

Benefits  

There are a range of positive ‘invest to save’ benefits linked to the accommodation projects outlined in 
this capital request including:   

 Savings associated with reducing the use of expensive B&B/ Hotel accommodation.  

 Ensuring that we have suitable accommodation for vulnerable families. 

 Improving health and wellbeing outcome for families; Children living in temporary accommodation 
face a multitude of negative outcomes, including disruptions to their education, increased risk of 
mental health problems, and potential exposure to unsafe living conditions. 

 Safe and secure accommodation mitigates the risk of escalating care and support needs and the 
cost of social care interventions for vulnerable adults and children. 

145159



 

OFFICIAL 

 Reduction in avoidable hospital admissions.  

 Reducing the risk and cost of the Council being fined by the Housing Ombudsman.  

 Reduction in complaints, MP enquiries and wider reputational damage to the Council. 

 Better use of existing housing stock. 

Risks of not going ahead with the schemes set out above:  

 Continued escalation of cost of temporary accommodation. 

 Continued use of unsuitable temporary accommodation and ongoing risk of fines from the 
Housing Ombudsman and associated reputational damage. 

 LAHF 4 - Unable to meet our local quota for refugee resettlement.  

 Unable to provide suitable long term accessible accommodation for large families, leading to 
escalation in need for children and adult social care intervention.  

Contribution to reducing risks identified on the corporate risk register:  

R2 - Demand for client-based services continues to increase resulting in increased budget pressures and 
poor outcomes for those people in receipt of our services. 

Providing people with a warm, safe home has a significant impact on their health and wellbeing, 
supporting the council demand management approach. Households can be supported through the use of 
TEC, their local communities and preventative services, but suitable and safe accommodated is the 
foundation of this.  

The development of suitable accommodation for 16/17 who chose not to become children that are looked 
after, will make a significant contribution to demand management as numbers are increasing.  

R5 - Failure to deliver a sustainable financial strategy that supports delivery of the Council Plan priorities. 
(Including delivery of savings, commercial income, capital receipts and ensuring resources are available 
to deliver statutory obligations and fund organisational development and transformation.) 

The delivery of these measures will contribute to the reduction in the cost of temporary accommodation, 

specifically the use of unsustainable B&B/ Hotel accommodation and offer a cost-effective alternative for 

young people who do not wish to become children that are looked after. These measures will contribute 

directly to the delivery of savings. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

146160



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Children and Young People 

Scheme Name Relocate Herefordshire Pupil Referral Units 

Budget Holder Service Director, Education, Skills and Learning 

Council Plan Priority People 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Section 19 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to provide suitable 
alternative education for children of statutory school age who cannot attend school because of 
illness, exclusion, or any other reason. Where a child is permanently excluded, the authority must 
arrange full-time alternative provision from the sixth day of exclusion. 

In addition, under the Children and Families Act 2014, Herefordshire Council has a statutory 
responsibility to secure sufficient, high-quality, and appropriate educational provision for children and 
young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 

The increasing complexity and number of SEND cases, coupled with rising rates of permanent 

exclusions, is placing significant financial and operational pressure on Herefordshire's local 

provision. 

 
Project Aims and Objectives 
This project will consolidate the Herefordshire Pupil Referral Service (HPRS) KS3 and KS4 provision 
from two under-compliant sites (St David’s and Aconbury) into a single, fit-for-purpose location. The 
aim is to increase capacity from 47 to 100 places, ensuring statutory duties for excluded pupils are 
met while improving educational quality and outcomes. 
The new provision will: 

 Provide compliant, modern facilities with sufficient space for practical subjects, PE, and 
intervention work. 

 Reduce reliance on costly, unregistered, and out-of-county placements. 
 Create the potential for a small KS1/KS2 AP on the vacated St David’s site to address 

emerging primary need. 
 Co-locate multi-agency services to deliver integrated support and early intervention. 
 Reduce home-to-school transport costs through better geographic placement. 

 
Scheme Description 
The proposal is to acquire and refurbish a ready-built commercial building, offering a significantly 
faster and more cost-effective route than new build. Acquisition and refurbishment costs are 
estimated at £5–6m, compared with circa £15–18m for a comparable new school, and the facility 
could be operational within 6-12 months of purchase. 
This project will: 

 Replace two sub-standard PRU sites with a single high-quality education facility. 
 Enable flexible, phased delivery to manage pupil cohort compatibility and maintain provision 

during transition. 
 Free up one existing site for potential redevelopment into much-needed primary AP capacity. 

147161



 

OFFICIAL 

 Provide space for an Alternative Provision Specialist Taskforce, aligning with the DfE’s SEND 
and AP Improvement Plan 

 
Links to Corporate Priorities 
 
This project directly supports a key deliverable in the Council’s Delivery Plan: 
“Develop new Alternative Provision for children with needs that require additional support to enable 
them to remain and/or return to mainstream education.” 
It also contributes to all four Council Plan priorities: 

 People – Ensures excluded and at-risk pupils have timely access to education that meets 
their needs, improving life chances and wellbeing. 

 Growth – Builds skills, qualifications, and pathways into post-16 education, training, and 
employment. 

 Place – Strengthens local provision, reducing the need for pupils to travel long distances and 
supporting cohesive communities. 

 Transformation – Maximises use of existing assets, delivers value for money, and reduces 
long-term high-needs expenditure. 

 
Savings Plan and Financial Impact 

 Cost avoidance: Reduces reliance on unregistered AP and independent special school 
placements, mitigating rapid growth in high-needs block expenditure. 

 Capital efficiency: Commercial acquisition/refurbishment estimated at one-third of new build 
costs. 

 Operational savings: Decreased home-to-school transport costs through better geographic 
siting of provision. 

 Revenue funding: Ongoing running costs met through the High Needs Block, with places 
funded at £10,000 per pupil plus top-up. 

 
 

This project complements a second Business Case, which focuses on a Tier 2 intervention-
based alternative provision centre to prevent exclusions and support reintegration. Together, 
they establish a joined-up system of early intervention, recovery, and reintegration aligned 
with the DfE’s tiered AP model. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Property acquisition 2,500 1,500   4,000 

refurbishment  2,000   2,000 

      

TOTAL 2,500 3,500   6,000 

 

148162



 

OFFICIAL 

Funding sources 

High Needs Capital Grant  1,000    1,000 

Corporate Funded Borrowing 1,500 3,500   5,000 

      

TOTAL 2,500 3,500   6,000 

 

Revenue budget implications 

      

      

      

TOTAL      

 
Benefits and risks: 

Anticipated Benefits 

 Increase capacity from 47 to 100 KS3/KS4 PRU places, ensuring statutory compliance and 

eliminating current breaches of capacity assessments. 

 Improve quality and suitability of provision through modern, compliant facilities with appropriate 

space for practical learning, PE, and intervention work. 

 Reduce reliance on costly unregistered and out-of-county placements, helping to control the 

growth of the High Needs Block deficit. 

 Provide the potential to develop a primary AP facility at the vacated St David’s site to meet 

emerging KS1/KS2 demand. 

 Enable co-location of multi-agency teams to deliver integrated support for pupils and families, in 

line with the DfE’s Alternative Provision Specialist Taskforce model. 

 Reduce home-to-school transport costs by improving and bringing together geographic placement 

of provision to enable cost efficiencies. 

 Deliver provision within 6-12 months of acquisition, compared to four years for a new build. 

Risks of the Proposed Project 

 Availability of suitable property – mitigated by maintaining an active search and engaging with 

agents early. 

 Planning/change of use refusal – mitigated through early pre-application discussions with the 

planning authority. 

 Cohort compatibility issues – mitigated by phased transition and careful placement planning. 

 Stakeholder resistance – mitigated by proactive communication and engagement with pupils, 

parents, staff, and governors. 

 Recruitment challenges – mitigated through workforce development planning and phased 

growth in pupil numbers. 

Risks of Not Proceeding 

 Continued breach of capacity limits at current PRU sites, risking quality and compliance issues. 

149163



 

OFFICIAL 

 Escalating costs for unregistered AP and out-of-county placements, further increasing the DSG 

High Needs deficit. 

 Inability to meet statutory duties for excluded pupils within the county. 

 Higher home-to-school transport costs due to pupils travelling further afield. 

 Missed opportunity to re-purpose existing sites for primary AP capacity. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

150164



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Children and Young People 

Scheme Name establish a new alternative provision (AP) centre 

Budget Holder Service Director, Education, Skills and Learning 

Council Plan Priority People 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Section 19 of the Education Act 1996 places a duty on local authorities to provide suitable alternative 
education for children of statutory school age who cannot attend school because of illness, exclusion, or any 
other reason. Where a child is permanently excluded, the authority must arrange full-time alternative provision 
from the sixth day of exclusion. 
In addition, under the Children and Families Act 2014, Herefordshire Council has a statutory responsibility 
to secure sufficient, high-quality, and appropriate educational provision for children and young people with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 
 
The increasing complexity and number of SEND cases, coupled with rising rates of permanent exclusions, is 
placing significant financial and operational pressure on Herefordshire's local provision. 
 
Although Herefordshire’s attendance rates are above national averages, 3,968 pupils (16.8% of the cohort) 
are persistently absent and 441 attend less than 50%, with SEMH difficulties the most common cause. There 
is currently no registered, short-term intervention offer to address these needs across all phases, resulting in 
growing reliance on costly and often unregistered alternative provision. 
The DfE’s SEND and AP Improvement Plan promotes a three-tier AP model, with Tier 2 providing short-term, 
high-quality intervention placements to keep pupils in mainstream settings. This approach re-engages 
learners, reduces preventable exclusions, and lowers system costs — but is absent in Herefordshire. 
 
This project will establish the county’s first Tier 2 AP facility, offering 100 full-time equivalent places shared 
flexibly alongside outreach, advice, and multi-agency support. The site will also host a co-located Alternative 
Provision Specialist Taskforce and include vocational learning spaces for pupils disengaged from traditional 
academic pathways. 
 
Delivery through the purchase and refurbishment of a commercial building will cost around one-third of a new 
build and can be operational within 6-12 months, providing urgent relief to local AP pressures and improving 
outcomes for children and young people. 

Aim: 
To establish a registered Tier 2 Alternative Provision (AP) facility in Herefordshire providing short-term, high-
quality intervention placements to re-engage pupils in learning, reduce preventable exclusions, and improve 
outcomes for children and young people with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs. 

Objectives: 

1. Increase Sufficiency – Provide up to 100 full-time equivalent Tier 2 AP places, shared flexibly across 
the week, to meet the needs of pupils who would otherwise be at risk of exclusion or long-term 
disengagement. 

2. Improve Inclusion – Support pupils to remain in mainstream schools wherever possible through 
short-term interventions, outreach, and reintegration planning. 

3. Reduce System Costs – Lower reliance on unregistered AP and costly external placements by 
delivering local, high-quality provision. 

151165



 

OFFICIAL 

4. Deliver Multi-Agency Support – Create space for a co-located Alternative Provision Specialist 
Taskforce, enabling integrated and timely support across education, health, and social care. 

5. Enhance Skills Pathways – Incorporate vocational and practical learning opportunities, including 
indoor/outdoor workshops, to prepare pupils for post-16 education, training, or employment. 

6. Accelerate Delivery – Use a commercial acquisition and refurbishment model to achieve operational 
readiness within 6-12 months of purchase, at approximately one-third of the cost of a new build. 

Links to Corporate Priorities 
 
This project directly supports a key deliverable in the Council’s Delivery Plan: 
“Develop new Alternative Provision for children with needs that require additional support to enable them to 
remain and/or return to mainstream education.” 
It also contributes to all four Council Plan priorities: 

 People – Ensures excluded and at-risk pupils have timely access to education that meets their needs, 
improving life chances and wellbeing. 

 Growth – Builds skills, qualifications, and pathways into post-16 education, training, and employment. 
 Place – Strengthens local provision, reducing the need for pupils to travel long distances and 

supporting cohesive communities. 
 Transformation – Maximises use of existing assets, delivers value for money, and reduces long-term 

high-needs expenditure. 
 
Savings Plan and Financial Impact 

 Cost avoidance: Reduces reliance on unregistered AP and independent special school placements, 
mitigating rapid growth in high-needs block expenditure. 

 Capital efficiency: Commercial acquisition/refurbishment estimated at one-third of new build costs. 
 Operational savings: Decreased home-to-school transport costs through better geographic siting of 

provision. 
 

This proposal complements a parallel business case being submitted to consolidate and expand statutory 
PRU provision (Tier 3). Together, the two projects deliver a tiered system of support for pupils at risk of or 
experiencing exclusion, in line with the DfE's SEND and AP Improvement Plan. 
 
 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Property acquisition 2,500 1,500   4,000 

refurbishment  2,000   2,000 

      

TOTAL 2,500 3,500   6,000 

 

Funding sources 

High Needs Capital Grant  1,000    1,000 

Corporate Funded Borrowing 1,500 3,500   5,000 

      

TOTAL 2,500 3,500   6,000 

 

Revenue budget implications 

none      

152166



 

OFFICIAL 

      

      

TOTAL      

 
Benefits and risks: 

Anticipated Benefits 

 Establish the county’s first registered Tier 2 AP facility, providing up to 100 full-time equivalent 
intervention places (shared flexibly) to re-engage pupils and prevent exclusions. 

 Improve quality and suitability of provision through a purpose-designed site with space for 
practical learning, vocational training, PE, and early interventions. 

 Reduce reliance on unregistered and out-of-county provision, helping to control growth of the High 
Needs Block deficit. 

 Enable earlier intervention for SEMH-related needs, improving pupil wellbeing, attendance, and 
progression back into mainstream education. 

 Co-locate a multi-agency Alternative Provision Specialist Taskforce to deliver integrated, pupil-
centred support. 

 Reducing home-to-school transport costs. 
 Deliver provision within 6-12 months of acquisition and refurbishment, compared to four years for 

a new build. 

Risks of the Proposed Project 

 Limited availability of suitable commercial property – mitigated by active property market 
engagement and early search activity. 

 Planning/change of use challenges – mitigated through pre-application discussions with the 
planning authority. 

 Integration with mainstream schools and alignment of referral processes – mitigated by clear 
operating protocols and partnership agreements. 

 Recruitment of specialist AP staff – mitigated through targeted workforce planning and phased 
intake. 

 Ensuring sustained quality – mitigated by robust commissioning, inspection readiness, and 
performance monitoring. 

Risks of Not Proceeding 

 Continued absence of registered short-term intervention provision, leading to increased 
exclusions and disengagement. 

 Escalating costs for unregistered AP and out-of-county placements, worsening the DSG High 
Needs deficit. 

 Inability to deliver the DfE’s tiered AP model locally, missing an opportunity for systemic 
improvement. 

 Higher home-to-school transport costs and reduced accessibility for pupils in rural areas. 
 Missed opportunity to provide early intervention and prevent escalation to Tier 3 PRU placements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

153167



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Children and Young People 

Scheme Name Aylestone Capital Works 

Budget Holder TBC – PMO Project Manager 

Council Plan Priority People 

 
 

Project aims and objectives: 

Aylestone School is a Council maintained Community School in the heart of North Hereford. The school was 

established in the 1970s following the merger of two high schools in Hereford. At its peak the school used to 

cater for 1,250 pupils but now only has capacity for 450 places. The decrease in pupil capacity has led to a 

reduction in school funding over the years and has left the current site dated and in need of significant repairs.  

The project will focus on three key areas where remedial works and upgrades are urgently required to ensure 

the school can continue to operate business as usual: 

- Broadlands House 

- Boiler Replacement (Campus wide) 

- CDT Block 

Broadlands House: 

Broadlands House is a Grade II listed, late 18th-century building forming part of Aylestone School. It serves 

as the main administration block and houses essential staff offices and pupil support spaces. 

The building is now in critical disrepair and presents multiple urgent health and safety risks as evidenced by 

two independent structural engineer reports (June 2025). 

Key findings from structural reports: 

 Severe dry rot with structural failure of floor joists (e.g., Room B2 joist ends completely rotted 

through), affecting multiple areas. 

 Main entrance canopy joists rotted through, requiring a crash deck in reception to protect from falling 

debris. 

 Masonry hazards including large loose stone blocks and parapet capping stones that could cause 

fatal injury if they fall. 

 Fenced-off external areas due to unsafe stonework, particularly at the North end of the East 

elevation. 

 Damp ingress from blocked parapet gutters and defective drainage, creating ideal conditions for 

continued decay. 

As a Grade II listed structure, works must comply with listed building consent requirements, ensuring 

repairs preserve the building’s historic character and fabric. This will necessitate specialist contractors, 

heritage-approved materials, and extended lead-in times, increasing both the complexity and cost of delivery. 

154168



 

OFFICIAL 

Parts of the building are already closed to staff and pupils, and further closures are inevitable if works are 

not undertaken urgently. The structural engineer warns that without intervention; the building will become 

entirely unusable. 

If Broadlands House closes, temporary accommodation will be required to house displaced staff and 

pupil support functions, at significant ongoing revenue cost, and with associated disruption to school 

operations. 

Objectives: 

1. Make Broadlands House structurally safe for occupation by pupils, staff, and visitors. 

2. Eliminate immediate health and safety hazards from falling masonry and structural failure. 

3. Address underlying damp ingress to prevent recurrence of dry rot and masonry decay. 

4. Comply with statutory listed building obligations while preserving historic fabric. 

5. Maintain operational continuity and avoid the cost and disruption of temporary accommodation. 

6. Protect and extend the lifespan of a key Council-owned heritage and education asset. 

Boiler Replacement: 

The boiler system across the school campus is currently over lifespan and is in critical need of replacement 

in 2026.  

Following the 2022 condition survey and advice from our design consultants, Six, the boiler system will 

struggle to operate beyond this winter (2025) and will place the significantly increase the risk of school 

closure next winter if the system is not updated with new plant equipment.  

Objectives: 

1. Replace the boiler system campus wide with like for like replacements.  

2. Reduce overall carbon emissions produced by the school.  

CDT Block: 

The CDT Block is currently showing signs of wear and tear due to the structure’s age. There are three main 

issues in the block that requires urgent attention within the next year following the 2022 condition report and 

recent school site visits: 

Roof – The roof is currently leaking during heavy rainfall and urgently needs replacing. The roof is currently 

at its end of life with signs of debonding and blistering. 

Windows and Doors – The current windows and doors are at their end of life. The wooden timber frames 

have now failed and have started to rot. Windows panes are also single glazed making the building thermally 

inefficient, causing increased heating costs to the school. 

Electrics – Rewiring of the building has been recommended to ensure the buildings electrics remain safe 

for years to come. Works will include replacement of distribution boards, sockets and rewiring.  

Objectives: 

1. Like for like replacement of the roof and improvements to rainwater gulley.  

2. Replacement of windows and doors across the building with double glazed panes.  

155169



 

OFFICIAL 

3. Rewiring of electrics across the building.  

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Boiler Replacement 
Programme  

1,090 0 0 0 1,090 

Broadlands House Remedial 
Works 

240 1,000 0 0 1,240 

CDT Block  460 0 0 0 460 

TOTAL 1,790 1,000 0 0 2,790 

 

Funding sources 

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,790 0 0 0 1,790 

Corporate Funded Borrowing 0 1,000 0 0 1,000 

TOTAL 1,790 1,000 0 0 2,790 

 

Revenue budget implications 

      

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Benefits and risks: 

Benefits: 

 Removes immediate life safety risks to pupils, staff, and visitors. 

 Prevents full closure of Broadlands House and the associated cost/disruption of temporary 

accommodation. 

 Restores access to currently closed-off areas, increasing operational efficiency. 

 Reduces the Council’s liability exposure from potential injury or fatality. 

 Preserves a Grade II listed heritage asset in line with statutory obligations. 

 Enables a planned preventative maintenance approach, reducing future emergency repair costs. 

Risks if project proceeds: 

 Unexpected structural deterioration may be revealed during works, increasing costs. 

 Tender prices for works are at risk of coming in 20% above or below current estimated budget 

values and cost will be dependent on the market at that time.  

 Heritage consent processes may extend lead-in times. 

Risks if project does not proceed: 

156170



 

OFFICIAL 

 Escalating structural failure leading to full building closure. 

 Significant ongoing revenue cost for alternative accommodation. 

 Heightened corporate risk register score for health and safety, heritage asset management, and 

school estate condition. 

 Increased likelihood of falling masonry causing serious injury or death. 

 Loss or irreversible damage to a listed building, attracting regulatory scrutiny and reputational 

harm. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

157171



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Children and Young People 

Scheme Name Schools Capital Maintenance Projects  

Budget Holder Karen Amos - PMO 

Council Plan Priority People 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

 

The Schools Capital Maintenance Programme (SCMP) is a strategic initiative led by the Council to address 

critical maintenance needs across the maintained school estate. Its primary objective is to eliminate all 

outstanding priority issues identified in the 2023 condition surveys and consultant site assessments, while 

also responding to current emergency maintenance requirements. 

On average over the past five years, the Council has received an annual School Condition Allowance (SCA) 

of £1.195 million. However, this funding has not kept pace with inflation, or the growing maintenance 

demands of an aging school estate. As a result, a significant backlog of high-priority maintenance issues 

has developed, many of which pose risks to health and safety, disrupt school operations, and threaten the 

continued use of key teaching spaces. 

The SCMP is informed by comprehensive condition surveys conducted in 2023 and consultant site visits, 

which assessed each school building’s physical state and assigned urgency ratings to identified issues. 

Priority items, those requiring attention in 2026 to prevent serious failure or risk, currently remain 

unresolved due to funding constraints. The programme prioritises works that ensure schools remain safe, 

secure, and operational, with a focus on keeping buildings wind and watertight. 

In recent years, the Council has seen a sharp rise in reactive emergency maintenance costs, from 

£60,000.00 in 2016 to over £705,786.50 in 2024/25 financial year. In this current financial year, the 

programme has already committed £165,000.00 in emergency maintenance costs. This trend reflects the 

consequences of underinvestment in planned maintenance and highlights the inefficiencies and escalating 

costs of a reactive approach. 

Without additional investment, the Council risks further deterioration of the school estate, increased 

emergency interventions, and potential partial or full school closures. The situation also poses a growing 

risk to the safety of pupils, staff, and visitors, and is recognised as a significant concern on the Council’s 

corporate risk register. 

To mitigate these risks and transition to a more sustainable, planned maintenance model, the Council is 

seeking an additional £2,770,000.00. This funding will enable the removal of all priority items for 2026 within 

the Council’s remit, support the delivery of essential capital projects, and reduce reliance on emergency 

works. The scope of the programme includes only those items that fall under the Council’s responsibility; 

school-funded priority items are excluded unless they are directly linked to Council-led projects. 

By addressing the maintenance backlog and investing in preventative measures, the SCMP aims to 

safeguard the long-term functionality and safety of the school estate, ensuring that educational 

environments remain fit for purpose for years to come. 

 
 
 

158172



 

OFFICIAL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Ashfield Park – Heating 400 0 0 0 400 

Bosbury – Drainage 50 0 0 0 50 

Bosbury – Windows & door 
upgrades 

120 0 0 0 120 

Colwall – Flooding  140 0 0 0 140 

Earl Mortimer – Roof 60 0 0 0 60 

Gorsley Goffs – Rooflights, 
Windows & Doors 

130 0 0 0 130 

Hampton Dene – Heating 670 0 0 0 670 

Much Birch – Drainage 50 0 0 0 50 

St David’s – Boiler 325 0 0 0 325 

Trinity – Roof 480 0 0 0 480 

Weobley Primary – Circulation 
pumps 

55 0 0 0 55 

Condition Surveys 90 0 0 0 90 

Emergency Works 2026/27 200 0 0 0 200 

TOTAL 2,770 0 0 0 2,770 

 

Funding sources 

School Condition Allowance 1,200 0 0 0 1,200 

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,570 0 0 0 1,570 

TOTAL 2,770 0 0 0 2,770 

 

Revenue budget implications 

      

TOTAL 0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
Benefits and risks: 

Benefits: 

 By removing the backlog of priority maintenance items and emergency works, the risk of H&S issues 

and of school closures is reduced. 

 The amount of reactive works will also reduce allowing for a proactive maintenance programme to 

be delivered in the future. 

Risks: 

 Risk of safety issues and or closure of schools. This has been mitigated by prioritisation of the 

programme to identify which risk is more likely to be realised by the contractor. 

159173



 

OFFICIAL 

 Additional emergency works could occur during the programme. These will be raised at project 

board and prioritised where necessary.  

 Tender prices for works are at risk of coming in 20% above or below current estimated budget 

values and cost will be dependent on the market at that time.  

 Current defects will worsen over time if not rectified and will likely lead to an increase in cost to 

address the remedial works further down the line.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

160174



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Economy and Environment 

Scheme Name Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 3 

Budget Holder Ed Bradford, Major Contracts Programme Director 

Council Plan Priority Place 

The condition of the highway network is such that the available Local Transport Plan Annual Plan and 
Forward Plan budgets are prioritised to minimise the impact of the deteriorating condition of the 
carriageway asset and to manage the remainder of the asset groups following a Risk Based Approach.  

The Local Transport Plan Annual Plan budget cannot support the level of resurfacing and reconstruction 
type works required across the county. Without further investment, the network is effectively in a state of 
managed decline and requires support to prevent assets deteriorating further. 

This bid seeks to invest in resurfacing and reconstruction activity on the county’s road network and builds 
on the success of the 2024/25 and 2025/26 Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways programme which has 
allowed schemes to be accelerated and brought forward for treatment now. This approach will have the 
dual benefit of reducing the need for reactive repairs in the interim period and will deliver better value 
schemes as the required intervention will be proportionally less than if carried out at a later date. 

 
At this stage, it is proposed that this investment would be delivered through the Council’s own in-house 
framework arrangement, which has been used to deliver the Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways 
Programme in 2024/25 and 2025/26. 

The condition of road surfaces is a constant concern for residents, parishes and members alike.  The 
investment will result in an improvement in public and member satisfaction and will help to ensure a 
positive start to the new Public Realm Contract. 

The Council has a statutory duty under Section 41 of the Highways Act 1980 to ensure that roads are 
maintained, this funding will contribute to any defence where lack of investment is identified as a potential 
factor. 

Links to County Plan priorities: 

 

County Priority – please 
select from  

Delivery Plan Reference(s) 

Community C04, C00 

Economy EC2, EC5 

Environment EN3 

 

Community:  The project ensures localities remain connected; there is a risk of severance where road 

condition contributes to resident’s decisions not to use that part of the network. 

 A better-quality network will remove some of the blockers associated with decisions to not 

adopt sustainable modes of transport for short journeys. 

Economy:  The condition of the road network has a direct effect on businesses choosing to invest in 
Herefordshire.  A better-connected business community will thrive. 

161175



 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

Project aims and objectives: 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Resurfacing Schemes  4,750    4,750 

Internal Staff, PM and Sundry cost  250    250 

      

TOTAL 5,000    5,000 

 

Funding sources 

Corporate Funded Borrowing 5,000    5,000 

      

TOTAL 5,000    5,000 

 

Revenue budget implications 

      

      

      

TOTAL      

 
Benefits and risks: 

 

 Builds on the success of the existing Resurfacing Herefordshire Highways investment in 2024/25 

and 2025/26. 

 By investing capital in this way, the county’s most valuable asset will be improved and associated 

revenue costs will be mitigated. 

 Will help to ensure a positive start to the new Public Realm Contract. 

 Customer satisfaction will be improved when a programme of improvements in condition is 

announced. 

 The other asset groups can be better maintained using the limited LTP funding provided to the 

council. 

 Reduction in claims and other correspondence relating to condition. 

 There are no dis-benefits associated with investing in the carriageway asset. 

Environment: Reactive maintenance is wasteful, especially in terms of travel impact and waste material 
generated as a consequence.  Large surfacing schemes, using state of the art machinery 
will reduce the impact of completing the work.  

 At the same time the materials traditionally seen as waste can be stored for reuse as a 
part of a wider recycling programme for surfacing/ treating our low use unclassified 
network. 

 Minimising the risk of failure and closures will reduce the diversions needed for transport. 

162176



 

OFFICIAL 

Risks 

 Deliverability during the optimal period for surfacing works.  A detailed programme will be 

developed to ensure that the programme is delivered before the onset of winter. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

163177



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Economy and Environment 

Scheme Name Ash Dieback removal programme 

Budget Holder Ed Bradford, Major Contracts Programme Director 

Council Plan Priority Place 

 
 

Project aims and objectives: 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Ash dieback disease is caused by the fungus Hymenoscyphus fraxineus, formerly known as Chalara 
fraxinea. Ash is a prominent tree species in the Herefordshire landscape, and it is estimated that we are 
going to lose around 80% of ash trees in Herefordshire and the UK. 

Ash Trees can decline rapidly once infected and become brittle and weak at the roots, especially if a 
secondary pathogen attacks the tree. 

In 2024/2025 Herefordshire Council commenced an Ash Dieback inspection programme to include the 
inspection of 30,000+ Ash Trees on Herefordshire Council assets including Highway Verges/Public Open 
Space and Property assets and subsequent removal and replanting of alternative species as per the Ash 
Dieback Action Plan. 

The Grounds Maintenance Annual Plan Budget cannot support that level of tree works required across 
the county. Without further investment, the tree stock will deteriorate as the disease effects the trees 
causing potential risks to the highway’s network, Council assets and adjacent properties. 

The funding is required to ensure the tree stock on the highway networks remain healthy. Enhancing 
public safety and mitigating risk where and when necessary, will ensure safety for all users of the road 
network. The loss will be alleviated by series of replanting of established trees in public open spaces and 
young whips when trees are removed to aid nature recovery.  

Costs incurred to date from phases 1 and 2 or felling has demonstrated that insufficient budget exists for 
tree removal. 

 

Community:  The project ensures localities remain connected; there is a risk of severance where road 

safety contributes to resident’s decisions not to use that part of the network. 

 A better quality, safer network will give homeowners and users confidence around tree 

safety issues. 

Economy:  The condition of the road network has a direct effect on businesses choosing to invest in 
Herefordshire.  A better-connected business community will thrive. 

Environment: Reactive maintenance is wasteful, a programmed approach to tree safety and removal will 
ensure correct numbers of trees will be replanted back within the network as per the Ash 
Dieback Plan. 

 Minimising the risk of failure and closures will reduce the diversions needed for transport. 

164178



 

OFFICIAL 

Capital cost of project 

Ash Tree Removal Programme and 
Replanting 

 242    242 

      

TOTAL 242    242 

 

Funding sources 

Corporate Funded Borrowing  242    242 

      

TOTAL 242    242 

 

Revenue budget implications 

      

      

      

TOTAL      

 
Benefits and risks: 

 

 Builds on the success of the existing Ash Dieback inspection and removal programme with over 

1000 diseased trees removed and over 2500 trees replanted on the highway network. 

 By investing capital reduces the risk of accidents on the highway network 

 Will help to ensure a positive start to the new Public Realm Contract. 

 Customer satisfaction will be improved when a programme of improvements in condition is 

announced. 

 Reduction in claims and other correspondence relating to tree failure. 

 There are no dis-benefits associated with investing in the carriageway asset. 

Risks 

 Deliverability during the optimal period.  A detailed programme will be developed to ensure that 

the programme is delivered before bird nesting season each year. 

 Not addressing the existing risk of failure to the Ash stock on the network. 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

165179



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Economy & Environment 

Scheme Name Estates Building Improvement Programme 2026-29  

Budget Holder John Hobbs – Corporate Director Economy & Environment 

Council Plan Priority  

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Scheme description and demonstration of links to corporate priorities and savings plans. 

A three year programme of building improvement works 2026/29 which have been prioritised through the 
assessment of criteria primarily focussed on (1) identified risk, (2) health, safety or welfare of the building 
users (3) delivery of the aims within the council’s county plan, (4) service continuity, through the delivery 
of property specific projects.  
 
Key objectives include:  

 Ensure that the Council’s estate is maintained, safe and fit for purpose. 

 Address identified risks. 

 Reduce revenue expenditure by investing in buildings and reducing reactive maintenance. 

 Extend the lifecycle of Council assets and protect/enhance value. 

 Secure better services, quality of life and value for money 

 Support the growth of our local economy. 

 Protect and promote our heritage. 

 Support reduction of carbon footprint. 

 To support the delivery of the County Plan 

 

Allowing investment and undertaking a programme of improvement works will mitigate and prevent risk of 
failure and ensure the buildings remain open and fit for current use, thereby avoiding disruption to the 
delivery of services. 
 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Estate Improvement Works 1,809 1,121 35  2,965 

      

      

TOTAL 1,809 1,121 35  2,965 

 

Funding sources 

Corporate Borrowing 809 1,121 35  1,965 

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,000    1,000 

      

166180



 

OFFICIAL 

TOTAL 1,809 1,121 35  2,965 

 

 
Benefits and risks: 

The anticipated benefits and risks of the proposed project plus risks of not going ahead with the scheme. 

 Reduced depreciation of buildings and assets. 

 Heritage protection 

 Energy efficiency 

 Sustainability 

 Reduced revenue costs. 

 Protected service delivery. 

 Protected income. 

 Statutory Compliance 

 Risk management / Mitigation. 

 Growth of our local economy 

 
The programme seeks to reduce the risks identified on a project-by-project basis. 

 
The key risks of not doing the project are: 
  

 Impact on service delivery 

 Rising costs – reducing the extent or quality of completed works.  

 Insufficient funding 

 Loss of income 

 Potential for serious physical injury 

 Loss in value/deterioration of property assets 

 Reputational risk 

 Non-Compliance with statutory regulations 

 Health and safety risks 

 

The key project risks are: 

 Statutory 

 Financial 

 Service 

 Reputational 

 

167181



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Corporate Services 

Scheme Name Essential system updates and upgrades 

Budget Holder  

Council Plan Priority Transformation 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Herefordshire Council relies on information systems to securely and efficiently provide services to 

residents, businesses and visitors. Core infrastructure elements need to be updated and upgraded during 

the 2026/27 financial year, and this requires capital funding (with associated revenue implications) as set 

out below.  

The infrastructure elements being updated and upgraded includes anti-virus for server infrastructure 

and data centre firewall hardware. For these items we will procure hardware and a bundle of support 

and subscription costs together at the time of purchase. These have been listed separately as capital 

(hardware) and revenue (services) in the tables below. Should the council prefer to treat these as a single 

capital item the two sections can merely be combined.  

The updates and upgrades also includes telephony SIP gateways for council telephone systems. 

Due to high levels of fluctuation currently being experienced on IT hardware pricing, a 20% contingency 

has been included for the hardware items below. For service contingency 15% has been used.  

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 
 

Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Anti-virus for server 
infrastructure 

15.0    15.0 

Telephony SIP gateways for 
council telephone systems 

55.0    55.0 

Data centre firewall hardware 75.0    75.0 

Contingency (20%) 29.0    29.0 

TOTAL 174.0    174.0 

 

Funding sources 

Anti-virus for server 
infrastructure 

     

Telephony SIP gateways for 
council telephone systems 

     

Data centre firewall hardware      

Contingency (20%)      

TOTAL      

 

Revenue budget implications 

Anti-virus for server 
infrastructure 

18.0 15.0 15.0 15.0  

168182



 

OFFICIAL 

Telephony SIP gateways for 
council telephone systems 

2.5 7.0 7.0 7.0  

Data centre firewall hardware 14.0 14.0 14.0 14.0  

Contingency (15%) 5.2 5.4 5.4 5.4  

TOTAL 39.7 41.4 41.4 41.4  

 
 
 
 
 
Benefits and risks: 

The infrastructure elements being updated and upgraded include anti-virus software for server 

infrastructure and data centre firewall hardware. Failure to implement these updates and upgrades will 

put the information and systems that we rely on at increased risk of cyber-attack, reducing our 

organisational cyber posture and risking the availability of core services. 

The updates and upgrades also include Session Initiation Protocol [SIP] gateways for telephony. Failure 

to implement this update and upgrade will mean that telephony provided through Microsoft Teams 

would need to be reconfigured to another service at cost, and we would not be compliant with 

card payment industry standards when taking credit card payments by telephone. 

Funding and progressing with this work will maintain our systems availability, cyber posture and 

compliance with payment card industry standards. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

169183



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Economy and Environment 

Scheme Name Public Rights of Way Bridges and Crossings 

Budget Holder Ed Bradford, Major Contracts Programme Director 

Council Plan Priority Place 

Herefordshire Council’s Public Rights of Way team has conducted a review of bridges and crossings 
along the 2,100 miles of Public Rights of Way network in the county. The Council is required to replace or 
repair defective bridges and crossings to ensure the network remains open and safe for members of the 
public to use.  

There are 70 bridges requiring replacement county-wide, as detailed below: 

 31 under 6 metres 

 35 over 6 metres 

 4 Ditch Crossings 
 
Connectivity and Accessibility 
Bridges allow uninterrupted passage across natural obstacles such as rivers, streams, and ditches. 
Without them, walkers, cyclists, and horse riders would face severance, making parts of the network 
inaccessible. This connectivity is essential for rural communities and tourism, ensuring people can safely 
and easily navigate the countryside. 
 
Safety 
Crossing watercourses or steep banks without a bridge can be hazardous, especially during bad weather 
or flooding. Bridges provide a safe, stable route, reducing the risk of accidents and injuries. 
 
Legal Obligation 
Herefordshire Council has a statutory duty to maintain its’ Public Rights of Way network, so they remain 
open and usable. If bridges fail or are missing, the route becomes impassable, which can lead to legal 
challenges and reputational damage for the council. 
 
Economic and Social Benefits 
A well-maintained Public Rights of Way network supports local businesses, tourism, and recreation. 
People are more likely to visit and spend in areas with safe, accessible routes. This also encourages 
healthier lifestyles and community engagement. 
 
Environmental Considerations 
Bridges help protect sensitive habitats by directing foot traffic away from riverbanks and wetlands, 
reducing erosion and ecological damage. 
 
Maintaining these assets ensures the network remains connected and supports economic growth and 
environmental sustainability. 

The Public Rights of Way Budget cannot support this level of bridge related works required across the 
county. Without further investment, bridges and crossings will deteriorate causing potential risks to the 
network and the safety of its users. 

170184



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Public Rights of Way Bridges and 
crossings replacement and repairs. 

 950 0 0 0 950 

Project management support. 50 0 0 0 50 

TOTAL 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 

 
Benefits and risks: 

Benefits:  

 By investing capital reduces the risk of accidents on the Public Rights of Way network.  

 Customer satisfaction will be improved when a programme of improvements in condition is 

announced. 

 Reduction in claims and other correspondence relating to bridge and crossing failure.  

 There are no dis-benefits associated with investing in Public Rights of Way assets.  

Risks: 

 Deliverability during the optimal period. A detailed programme will be developed to ensure that the 

programme is delivered during the financial year 2026/27.  

 Contractor availability and capability for more complex works. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The funding is required to ensure bridges and crossings are safe and the network open. Enhancing public 
safety and mitigating risk where and when necessary, will ensure safety for all users of the Public Rights 
of Way network.  

 

Funding sources 

Corporate Funded Borrowing 618.8 0   618.8 

Capital Receipts Reserve 381.2    381.2 

TOTAL 1,000.0 0   1,000.0 

 

Revenue budget implications 

      

      

      

TOTAL      

171185



 

OFFICIAL 

OUTLINE STRATEGIC BUSINESS CASE 

 

Directorate Economy & Environment 

Scheme Name Historic Building Fund  

Budget Holder Roger Allonby 

 
Project aims and objectives: 

Scheme description and demonstration of links to corporate priorities and savings plans. 
 
Aim: To create a £5m historic building fund required to enable works to significant historic buildings in 
Hereford (Shirehall, Town Hall and Herefordshire Musuem and Art Gallery), supporting their 
transformation. 
 
Three of the council’s key historic buildings - Town Hall, Shirehall and Hereford Museum and Art Gallery 
(HMAG) - all require significant capital works to ensure they can remain operational, and/ or to support 
their transformation .  
 
Shirehall and HMAG are both are subject to transformational projects to enable their redevelopment and 
to play a critical role in the regeneration and redevelopment of Hereford City Centre.  Both of these 
projects have secured significant third party grant funds.  Additional funds will be required to enable 
completion of these priority projects.  Funds are also required in the short term to support the repair of 
Town Hall, to provide a basis for future development. 
 
To address this need a £5m capital fund is requested for the 2027/28 financial year to enable the critical 
programme of repairs and to complete the proposed transformational project works.    
 
The £5m is based on borrowing, to be repaid through additional income generated through wider council 
property asset income. 
 
The Herefordshire Council Plan 2024 to 2028 Place Objectives state we will; 

 Develop Herefordshire as a place for growth, prosperity and communities to thrive 

 Support our local culture and heritage and make Herefordshire a thriving, safe and attractive place to 
live and visit. 

 
It also states that ‘Herefordshire has a remarkable and rich range of cultural, arts and heritage activities, 
buildings, organisations, and natural assets. Our plans for an innovative museum, art gallery and library 
will put learning and culture at the heart of the county’. 
 
The Herefordshire Council Delivery Plan 2025/26 includes the following actions; 

 Continue the redevelopment of the Hereford Museum and Art Gallery 

 Finalise the design proposals and start construction of the Shirehall Library and Learning Centre 
 
A full business case will be developed as the plans and costs for each building are finalised for each 
building, and the level of support from the Historic Building Fund is identified.  The full business case will 
further define the income to repay the loan via increased revenue generated through the council’s 
property assets. 
 
The Director for Finance (Section 151 officer) will take all related decisions in terms of the allocation of 
the loan funds to the historic building projects, including assurance as to the viability of income to repay 
any borrowing. 
 

172186



 

OFFICIAL 

 
Estimated costs and funding sources: 

 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 Future 
Years 

Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital cost of project 

Historic Building Fund   5,000   5,000 

      

      

TOTAL      

 

Funding sources 

PWLB Borrowing (40 years) 
to be repaid through income 
from property assets  

 5,000   5,000 

      

      

TOTAL      

 

Revenue budget implications 

Loan repayment through 
property asset income  

  238 9,296 9,535 

      

      

TOTAL   238 9,296 9,535 

 
Benefits and risks: 

The anticipated benefits and risks of the proposed project plus risks of not going ahead with the scheme. 

Benefits  

 Transformation of historic buildings, supporting the regeneration of Hereford enabling growth. 

 Addressing the long term decline of these local heritage assets and related liabilities. 

 Establishing a long term civic use of the county’s heritage assets. 

 Increasing visitors to the county, through significantly enhancing the county’s tourism assets. 

 Leveraging multi-million pound grant investment into the county (currently totalling £15m for the 

HMAG and Shirehall projects). 

 

Risks 

 The £5m Historic Building Fund will not provide enough funding to address the required level of 

investment. 

 This is one part of a heritage building funding strategy, the council will also continue to seek 

additional grant funding. 

 Public Works Loan Board interest rates increase during the loan repayment period  

173187



 

OFFICIAL 

 Interest rates are set at the point of borrowing. 

 The wider property estate cannot generate the income required to repay the borrowing 

 An Estate Strategy will be developed in support of the Full Business Case identifying the long 

term (40 years) source of income to repay the loan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

174188



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Danial Webb, email: danial.webb@herefordshire.gov.uk 

OFFICIAL 

Title of report: Work programme 2025/6  

Meeting: Scrutiny Management Board 

Meeting date: 23 January 2026 

Report by: Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

Classification 

Open 

Decision type 

This is not an executive decision 

Wards affected  

All Wards 

Purpose  

To consider the draft work programme for Herefordshire Council’s scrutiny committees for the 
municipal year 2025/26. 

Recommendation(s) 

That: 
 
a) The committee agree the draft work programme for Scrutiny Management Board 

contained in the work programme report attached as appendix 1, which will be subject to 
monthly review, as the basis of their primary focus for the remainder of the municipal 
year. 

b) The committee note the work programme for the other scrutiny committees and identify 
any opportunities for collaboration or alignment of work. 

Alternative options 

1. The committee could decline to agree a work programme for its future committee meetings. This 
would likely result in unstructured and purposeless meetings. 

 
2. The committee could also decline to identify areas of potential collaboration or alignment of work 

with other committees. This could result in duplication or overlap of work. 

Key considerations 

3. A fundamental part of good scrutiny is planning and agreeing a programme of work for the 
committee to undertake. A well-considered work programme: 

189

AGENDA ITEM 9



 

OFFICIAL 

 
a. identifies priorities for the committee’s work that align with corporate and partnership 

priorities, as well as reflecting community concern; 
 

b. ensures that each identified topic has clear objectives that focus the committee’s work; 
 
c. creates a timetable for the committee’s programme of work so that the committee carry out 

its work at the optimal time; and  
 

d. provides officers and partners with requirements for evidence that will support the 
committee in providing evidence-based scrutiny 

 
4. To prepare this work programme, the committee chairs have met with officers of the council to 

identify potential priority areas of work for the committee. These priority areas have been 
scheduled within the work programme to ensure the committee considers topics when it is 
most useful to do so. A draft of this work programme has then been circulated to the council’s 
corporate leadership team and other key senior directors, alongside committee chairs, for 
further comment and refinement. 
 

5. The most recent work programme was published on 5 January 2026 and is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

 

6. Attached as Appendix 2 to this report is the council’s most recently published forward plan of 
key decisions. 

 

7. Appendix 3 is a list of all recommendations made by Scrutiny Management Board in 2025. 

Community impact 

8. Effective scrutiny enables the committee to reflect community concern, one of the four 
purposes of scrutiny as outlined by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny.  

Environmental impact 

9. This report contains no direct environmental impacts. However the work that the committee will 
undertake resulting from agreeing this work programme may have direct impacts. Reports 
arising from or supporting this work will outline their potential environmental impact. 

Equality duty 

10. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we can positively 
contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations, and demonstrate that we are 
paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the delivery of 
services. This report contains no direct equality impacts. However the reports and issues that 
the committee will consider may have direct impacts. Reports arising from or supporting this 
work will outline the any associated equality impacts for committee consideration. 

Resource implications 

11. This report constitutes part of the typical function of this committee. Similarly, a programme of 
work undertaken by committee is an integral part of the council’s ‘business as usual’. There is 
no resource implication in setting or agreeing a work programme. However agreed topics in the 
work programme, in particular any requests for bespoke research or the involvement of outside 
experts or community groups, may incur resource costs. These will be contained in any 
reporting or planning of agreed topics within this work programme.  

190



 

OFFICIAL 

Legal implications 

12. The remit of the scrutiny committee is set out in part 3 section 4 of the constitution and the role 
of the scrutiny committee is set out in part 2 article 6 of the constitution. 

 
13. The Local Government Act 2000 requires the council to deliver the scrutiny function. 

Risk management 

14. There are no risks identified in the committee agreeing an effective and timely programme of 
work. However there is a risk to the council’s reputation if committees fail to set a work 
programme, or set a programme of work that does not address local authority, partnership or 
community priorities. 

Consultees 

15. In drafting this work programme, consideration has been given to: 
 

a. The previous work of scrutiny committees; 
 

b. Priorities suggested by members of the committee; and 
 
c. Work with Herefordshire Council officers to develop topics and agree optimum timings 

to bring items for consideration. 
 

16. This work programme is subject to ongoing review, which may involve additional consultees. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Management Board work programme 2025-26  
Appendix 2 – Herefordshire Council Forward Plan  
Appendix 3 – recommendations made by Scrutiny Management Board in 2025 

Background papers 

None 

191





  

APPENDIX 1 

Webb, Danial Page 1 15/01/26 

Version number 28 

OFFICIAL 

WORK PROGRAMME 2025-2026 
January 2026 
Below are the work programmes of Herefordshire Council’s five scrutiny committees and their six task and finish groups. 

Work programmes are subject to change, with revised programmes agreed at the end of formal committee meetings. 

 

Table of Contents 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

Committee work programme ....................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Early help task and finish group .................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Tems of reference .............................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Work programme ................................................................................................................................................................................ 7 

Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee ......................................................................................................................................... 10 

Committee work programme ..................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Placemaking and public participation task and finish group ...................................................................................................................... 12 

Tems of reference ............................................................................................................................................................................ 12 

Work programme .............................................................................................................................................................................. 14 

Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee.............................................................................................................................. 17 

Committee work programme ..................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

193



 

2 

 

OFFICIAL 

Bus and passenger services task and finish group ................................................................................................................................... 20 

Work programme .............................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

Health, Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

Committee work programme ..................................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Meeting the demand for adult social care task and finish group ................................................................................................................ 27 

Work programme .............................................................................................................................................................................. 27 

Scrutiny Management Board ..................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Committee work programme ..................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Inequality and social mobility task and finish group ................................................................................................................................... 33 

Work Programme ............................................................................................................................................................................. 33 

Commercialisation task and finish group ................................................................................................................................................... 36 

Tems of reference ............................................................................................................................................................................ 36 

 

  

194



 

3 

 

OFFICIAL 

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Committee work programme  
 
Committee Briefing 
3 March 2026  

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

School Capital Programme 

 Overview of the programme 

 Briefing  Lizz Farr 

 Quentin Mee 

 

Committee Meeting  

10 March 2026 report deadline 2 March 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required Attendees* 

ILAC inspection and action plan 

 Objectives to be agreed 

 Evidence to be agreed  Attendees to be determined 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

Committee Briefing 
14 April 2026  

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Fostering 

 Briefing on fostering. 

 Update on recommendations made July 2024. 

 Briefing  Tori Lynch 

 

195



 

4 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Committee Meeting  

12 May 2026 report deadline 30 April 2025 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Topic TBC  TBC  TBC 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

*The Corporate Director, Children and Young People and Portfolio Holder, Children and Young People, both have a standing invitation to each 

committee meeting. It is assumed that the portfolio holder will attend each meeting. 

 

Topics for possible future scrutiny 

 Permanency 

 Youth provision 

 Neglect strategy 

 Home/elective education 

 Alternative provision 

 WMP Peel report – assurance briefing – safeguarding 

  

196



 

5 

 

OFFICIAL 

Early help task and finish group 

Terms of reference 

Background 

Herefordshire's Early Help offer includes both universal and targeted services aimed at supporting children, young people, and families before statutory 

intervention is required. The offer includes: 

 Universal services: Provided largely through Talk Community, voluntary and community organisations, schools, health, and public health-

funded initiatives. 

 Targeted early help: Led by the Early Help team within Children’s Services, working directly with families who require structured support. 

 

Key developments in this area in recent years include: 

 Integration of Early Help into wider Children’s Services through locality models. 

 Introduction of Families First and Lead Practitioner roles. 

 Recruitment of two new children’s-focused community development workers within Talk Community. 

 Partnership commissioning (such as with the PCC) to support local early intervention initiatives. 

 

To build on these developments, work is underway to identify and address weaknesses in current practice, including: 

 Persistent confusion around distinctions between universal and targeted Early Help. 

 Limited public visibility of the Early Help offer and recent developments. 

 Variability in provision and access across different localities. 

 Pressure on schools to deliver Early Help without sufficient funding or infrastructure. 

 Need for improved coordination between statutory and non-statutory partners. 

 

Purpose 

The group therefore aims to provide a constructive and collaborative space to: 

 Recognise strengths in current Early Help provision. 

 Identify good practice across different communities. 

 Highlight gaps or inconsistencies in provision and the work in place to address them. 

 

197



 

6 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scope of Inquiry: 

In recognition of the broad and varied nature of early help available in Herefordshire, the group intends to carry out two distinct but closely 

interdependent streams of work: 

 Targeted Early Help and Families First 

 Understanding the Families First implementation. 

 Exploring the role of lead practitioners. 

 Clarifying the role of schools and multi-agency collaboration. 

 Community and Universal Offer 

 Mapping and showcasing local Early Help initiatives. 

 Exploring partnerships with Talk Community hubs, voluntary groups, parish and town councils. 

 Engagement around youth activities, access barriers (transport), and local innovation. 

 

Work Programme 

The group will determine its programme of work to meet the above objectives. This programme is likely to include: 

 Local Appreciative Inquiry events in Hereford City and each of the five key market towns (Ross, Ledbury, Kington, Leominster, Bromyard), 

Supported by Talk Community and Children's Services. 

 Case studies 

 Meeting with families and professionals, individually and in focus groups 

 

Proposed Timeline  

 Summer 2025: Agree task and finish group, establish membership, agree programme of work 

 Autumn 2025 to Spring 2026: Community engagement events, interviews, focus groups. 

 Spring/Summer 2026: Reflection and analysis. 

 Summer 2026: Presentation of findings and recommendations to Children and Young People Scrutiny. 

 

 

  

198



 

7 

 

OFFICIAL 

Work programme 

Targeted early help and Families First  

 Recognise strengths in current Early Help provision. 

 Identify good practice across different communities. 

 Highlight gaps or inconsistencies in provision and the work in place to address them. 
 

Objective  Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Understand targeted early help - rationale 

and performance 

 

 Overview of programme briefing note 
o Thresholds of need 
o Current performance management 
o Current programme of activity 

Simon Cann November 

2025 

Overview of current Families First 

programme and targeted early help 

 

 Meeting with service managers 
o Victoria Leader 
o Dawn Knight 

Simon Cann December 

2025 

 

Appraise current Families First programme 

and targeted early help 
 Meeting with team leaders 

o Victoria Roe – North 
o Jane Marshall – South – Ross 
o Chantelle Bennett – Central  
o Tracey Spencer – Central 

Simon Cann January 

2026 

Support for young carers  Meeting with young carers 
o Jane Marshall – South – Ross 

Simon Cann January 

2026 

Appraise locality-based targeted early help  Meeting with a locality team 
o Combine with a locality event 

Simon Cann January 

2026 

Working with schools  Meeting with schools 
o Neil Crawford 

Simon Cann January 

2026 

199



 

8 

 

OFFICIAL 

Commissioned early help services  Meeting with Venture – commissioned service 
o Hilary Thomas 

Simon Cann January 

2026 

 
Community and Universal Offer 

 Mapping and showcasing local Early Help initiatives. 

 Exploring partnerships with Talk Community hubs, voluntary groups, parish and town councils. 

 Engagement around youth activities, access barriers (transport), and local innovation. 
 

Topic Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Overview of local early help initiatives Early help marketplace – Ross-on-Wye Danial Webb 13 Oct 25 

Overview of local early help initiatives Early help marketplace - Hereford Danial Webb 17 Nov 25 

Overview of local early help initiatives Early help marketplace - Leominster Danial Webb 3 Dec 25 

Evaluate the role of school community 
support  

 Meeting with service manager, Quentin Mee 

 Meeting with school counsellor/school support service 

Simon Cann Feb 26 

Understand how midwives support young 
parents to be. 

 Meeting with midwives Simon Cann Feb 26 

The role of school nurses  Meeting with school nurses 
o emma.dewar@wvt.nhs.uk 
o Wendy.Long@wvt.nhs.uk 
o Nikki.Lawley@wvt.nhs.uk 

Simon Cann Mar 26 

 

The role of health visitors  Meeting with health visitors 
o Lyndsey McHardy 

 “Best Start in Life” strategy 

Simon Cann Mar 26 

Youth clubs overview  Overview of youth and sports clubs in Herefordshire 

 Visit to youth club 

 Meeting with youth club attendees 

Simon Cann April 26 

Talk Community and co-ordination of 
support for universal community services  

 Overview community support carried out by Talk 
Community.  

Simon Cann April 26 

 

 

 

200

mailto:emma.dewar@wvt.nhs.uk
mailto:Wendy.Long@wvt.nhs.uk


 

9 

 

OFFICIAL 

Report to Cabinet 

Topic Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Draft final report Learning from above meetings Simon Cann May 26 

Agree final report Draft report Task and Finish 

Group 

June 26 

Present to Cabinet Final report Toni Fagan July 26 

201



 

10 

 

OFFICIAL 

Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Committee work programme  
 

Committee Meeting  

17 February 2026 report deadline 9 February 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning 12 February 2025 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Tourism and Destination Management 

 Explore the opportunity and value in developing a tourism 
strategy for Herefordshire 

 Examine tourism strategies in similar local authorities 

 Examine the role of cultural and heritage strategy in supporting 
development of tourism throughout the county. 

 

 Evidence to be agreed 

 Meeting with Herefordshire Business 
Improvement District 

 Culture and Leisure Lead 

 DBID 

 Tourism and destination 
management service 

Work programme 

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

Committee Meeting  

15 April 2026 report deadline 7 April 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning 9 April 2026 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Broadband Connectivity 

 Review of coverage gaps and speeds, and work to address them 

 Consultation with businesses, schools, 

parish councils 

 Public call for evidence 

 Supplier business plans 

 Ofcom policy 

 Other evidence to be determined 

 To be determined 

202



 

11 

 

OFFICIAL 

Work programme 

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

Committee Meeting  

7 July 2026 report deadline 29 June 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning 2 July 2027 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Year of delivery – capital projects 

 Mid-year review of capital projects taking place in 2026 

 Council capital programme 

 Individual programme progress reports 

 To be determined 

Public participation in planning task and finish group 

 Agree the task and finish group review and recommendations 

    

Work programme 

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

*The Corporate Director, Economy and Environment, Cabinet Member, Economy and Growth, Cabinet Member, Community Services and Assets, 
Cabinet Member, Roads and Regulatory Services, and Cabinet Member, Transport and Infrastructure, all have a standing invitation to the meeting. 

 

Additional Topics Proposed for Future Consideration 

 Hereford City Masterplan 

 UK Shared Prosperity Fund 

 Broadband 

  

203



 

12 

 

OFFICIAL 

Placemaking and Public Participation task and finish group 

Terms of reference 

 

Background 

Herefordshire is entering a significant period of growth and change. Delivering new housing, infrastructure, and services must strengthen local 

communities and reflect the county’s distinctive rural character. 

Research shows that while public involvement in planning is vital, engagement often remains procedural rather than meaningful. Many residents feel 

disconnected from decision-making, uncertain about how to participate, or unconvinced that their input makes a difference. 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires every local planning authority such as Herefordshire to publish a Statement of Community 

Involvement. The Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023 and resultant secondary legislation is likely to place greater emphasis on this statement with 

a proposed requirement for a local planning authority Community Involvement Scheme. This provides a timely opportunity to modernise 

Herefordshire’s existing Statement of Community Involvement (January 2022), ensuring it reflects Herefordshire Council’s 2024–2028 priorities for 

economic growth and community development.  

This task and finish group will explore how Herefordshire can plan with its communities, ensuring that growth, infrastructure and environment evolve 

together in a fair, transparent, and creative way. It will then make recommendations to underpin the Council’s new statutory engagement framework. 

The aim is to move beyond statutory minimum consultation and create a culture in which residents look forward to new development as something 

they have helped to shape. Growth with, not to, communities. 

Purpose 

To identify and recommend practical, evidence-based measures for making community engagement in planning and placemaking more inclusive, 

accessible, and effective across Herefordshire. The group will: 

 Examine best practice and innovative approaches to public participation. 
 Advise on the update and replacement of the Statement of Community Involvement (2022) with a new Community Involvement Scheme 

(2026). 
 Ensure that community voice and cultural engagement sit at the heart of the county’s future planning system. 

 

204



 

13 

 

OFFICIAL 

Objectives 

 To understand current legislation and good practice in community involvement and evaluate how residents currently engage with planning in 
Herefordshire and identify barriers to participation. 

 Review and learn from good practice in community engagement in other local authorities and with housing providers. 

 Inform and help draft the replacement of the Statement of Community Involvement (2022) with a new Community Involvement Scheme (2026) 

 Make recommendations to the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet to deliver the above. 
 

Scope  

The task and finish group will focus on how communities are involved in shaping growth, not on what is built or where sites are allocated. It will not 

duplicate the work of the Housing Development Working Group or the technical drafting of the Local Plan. 

Membership and Governance 

 5–7 elected members of Herefordshire Council (no Cabinet members). 
 Up to two co-opted members with relevant expertise or community experience. 
 Supported by officers from Democratic Services, Economy and Environment, and Communications. 
 Reports through the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee, which will submit recommendations to Cabinet for formal response. 

 

Expected Outputs 

 A final report setting out  
o practical recommendations for improving public participation in planning and placemaking. 
o A proposed structure and content outline for Herefordshire’s new Community Involvement Scheme (2026), replacing the 2022 

Statement. 
o Case studies and prototypes demonstrating innovative engagement methods suitable for rural and market-town contexts. 

 

Success Measures 

 At least five examples of national or local best practice reviewed. 
 Two or more new engagement methods agreed or trialled. 
 Clear, costed recommendations adopted within the 2026 Community Involvement Scheme. 
 Cabinet adoption of group recommendations into council policy. 

  

205



 

14 

 

OFFICIAL 

WORK PROGRAMME 

Objective To understand current legislation and good practice in community involvement and evaluate how residents currently engage with planning in 

Herefordshire and identify barriers to participation. 

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Understand current legislation and 

good practice in community 

involvement 

 Overview of The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 

 Overview of The Levelling-up and Regeneration Act 2023 

 Good practice guidance 

Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

November 

2025 

Evaluate how residents currently 

engage with planning in 

Herefordshire. 

 Herefordshire Council Statement of Community 
Involvement. 

 Interviews with housing associations and council planning 
officers. 

Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

November 

2025 

Identify current barriers to 

participation. 
 Interviews with housing association, community groups 

and council planning officers. 

TBA November 

2025 

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

November 

2025 

 

Objective Review and learn from good practice in community engagement in other local authorities and with housing providers. 

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Examine requirements for new 

Community Involvement Scheme 
 Draft regulation and statutory guidance Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

December 

2025 

Identify good practice in other local 

authorities 

 Literature review 

 Site visit (if useful) 

Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

January 2026 

Identify creative engagement 

methods. 
 Desktop search ideas such as including digital tools, easy-

read and visual materials, short videos, and cultural or 
media partnerships. 

Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

January 2026 

206



 

15 

 

OFFICIAL 

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

February 

2025 

 

Objective Inform and help draft the replacement of the Statement of Community Involvement (2022) with a new Community Involvement Scheme 

(2026). 

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Work with officers to set new 

parameters and scope for the 

Community Involvement Scheme 

 Draft Community Involvement Scheme TBA March 2026 

Ensure inclusivity by improving reach 

to rural residents, younger people, 

working families, and under-

represented communities. 

 

 Draft Community Involvement Scheme TBA April 2026 

Recommend resourcing and 

governance arrangements to support 

sustained, meaningful participation. 

 Meeting with planning officers in a ‘good’ local planning 
authority 

 Draft recommendations 

Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

May 2026 

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

May 2026 

 

Objective Make recommendations to the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet 

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Draft report to Connected 

Communities Scrutiny Committee  
 Draft report Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

June 2026 

207



 

16 

 

OFFICIAL 

Draft report and recommendations to 

Cabinet (if required) 

 Final report Henry Merricks 

Murgatroyd 

July 2026 

 

  

208



 

17 

 

OFFICIAL 

Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee 

Committee work programme  
 

Committee Meeting  

2 March 2026 report deadline 20 February 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBA 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Active Travel 

 Update on previous recommendations regarding the 
forthcoming draft local, cycling, walking and wheeling 
infrastructure plan (LCWWIP). 

 Assurance on funding and deliverability of the LCWWIP. 

 Draft LCWWIP  Gemma Dando 

 David Land 

 Ffion Horton 

Transformation of the economy and environment directorate 

 Understand the transformed leadership structure and how it is 
performing currently, in particular where responsibility for 
delivering on the Council’s environmental priorities and targets, 
including net zero. 

 Has embedding a commercial mindset impacted on the delivery 
of these environmental priorities and targets. 

 Has transformation impacted on the overall resource dedicated 
to the environmental side of the directorate. 

 Explore the case for a more distinct operational area for 
environmental matters under the Corporate Director. 

 TBC  Corporate Director, Economy 
and Environment 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

 

  

209



 

18 

 

OFFICIAL 

Committee Meeting  

June 2026 report deadline TBA pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBA 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Land Use Management 

 To review the operation of current council policy on enabling and 
enforcing appropriate land management and use (including 
riparian responsibilities) across the county; 

o to protect natural assets eg our rivers 
o to protect highway assets 
o for flood management 
o to facilitate landscape schemes, such as Wyescape 

through associated enforcement – including planning 
breaches. 

 To obtain data on the area of land subject to Catchment 
Sensitive farming (including regenerative farming) and how this 
is progressing. 

 To explore how the local authority can support adoption of 
sustainable farming methods. 

 To review the impact of the withdrawal of the Sustainable 
Farming Incentive 

 Highway flooding data 

 Enforcement analysis 

 Current council planning regulation 
concerning land use management. 

 Farmscoper data tool 
 

 Richard Vaughan 

 Kelly Gibbons 

 Environment Agency 
representative 

 Farming representative 
 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

*The Corporate Director, Economy and Environment and Cabinet Member, Environment, both have a standing invitation to the meeting. 

 

  

210



 

19 

 

OFFICIAL 

Committee Meeting  

September 2026 report deadline TBA September 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBA 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Buses and passenger services task and finish group 

 To receive the final report from the Group and consider their 
recommendations, including testing the evidence on which 
they are based. 

 To agree a set of recommendations to go forward from the 
committee to the executive. 

 Final report  Chair, buses task and finish 
group 

Flooding task and finish group – terms of reference 

 To agree the terms of reference for a proposed task and finish 
group to scrutinise flood risk management and flood 
emergency responses. 

 Task and finish terms of reference Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 
Committee Meeting  

December 2026 report deadline TBA December 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBA 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Rail Strategy 

 Objectives to be agreed. 

 Evidence to be agreed 
 

 Attendees to be agreed 
 

  

211



 

20 

 

OFFICIAL 

Bus and passenger services task and finish group 

Work programme 

Objective Activity or information needed Carried out by Timeline 

Initial review meeting Task and Finish Group July 2025 

Create a central information 

repository 

Setup Teams library and chat space Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb 

September 2025 

Review Herefordshire Council’s 

current powers and 

responsibilities. 

Compile and provide overview of  

 Existing legislation in England and Wales 
o Local Transport Act 2008 
o Transport Act 2000 
o Bus Service Act 2017 
o Bus Services (No. 2) Bill 
o Public Service Vehicle Regulations. 

 Overview of who is responsible for local transport in England (Commons 
library) 

 Any allied statutory guidance 

 Bus operator legislation and guidance. 

 How these apply in Herefordshire. 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land, 

task and finish group 

Sep-Oct 2025 

Review current passenger 

transport operations in 

Herefordshire and how they 

meet current and future need. 

 Previous council bus service reviews (c. 2019) 

 For both commercial and community operators 
o Routes and frequency 
o Passenger numbers 
o Subsidy 

 Home to school transport 
o Current services provided 
o Current providers 

 SEND transport 

 Adult Social Care Passenger transport 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Sep-Oct 2025 

212

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-10321/CBP-10321.pdf


 

21 

 

OFFICIAL 

Current local authority and 

regional funding 

2025-2026 and medium-term funding  

 subsidised routes 

 community transport 

 other transport funding provided by the local authority 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Sep-Oct 2025 

Review Meeting Task and Finish Group October 2025 

Overview of current BSIP 

funding 

Summary of 

 National Bus Strategy 

 Herefordshire Bus Service Improvement Plan 2024 
Briefing on 

 Allocation of the £3.2m BSIP grant (2025–26) (£1.3m capital, £1.9m 
revenue) e.g., shelters, passenger experience, supported services 

 Progress in delivering funded projects and services 

 Their contribution to improved services 
Site visit to any BSIP-related capital project 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Nov-Dec 2025 

Assess Enhanced Partnership 

performance 
 Understand how the current enhanced partnership timetabling meets the 

objectives of the partnership. 

 Identify ways to apply learning from the group to new ways of meeting 
the objectives of the enhanced partnership. 
 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land, 

task and finish group 

Nov-Dec 2025 

Combining bus services with 

other transport services 

Desktop research 

 Current rail services and how they align with bus services 
Group meeting 

 Network Rail or other responsible authority 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Nov-Dec 2025 

Explore cross-border and cross-

county transport 

Map and list of current cross-border services to include 

 Frequency 

 Operator 

 Funding (if applicable) 
Examples from other local authorities 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Nov-Dec 2025 

213

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65a6becf96a5ec000d731aa9/bus-service-improvement-plans-guidance-to-local-authorities-and-bus-operators-2024.pdf
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/23031/herefordshire-bus-service-improvement-plan-2024
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/27397/bus-service-improvement-plan-bsip-delivery-plan-2025-26
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/27397/bus-service-improvement-plan-bsip-delivery-plan-2025-26
https://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/23621/herefordshire-enhanced-partnership-plan-and-scheme-for-buses


 

22 

 

OFFICIAL 

 See previous work looking at other local authorities 

 Identify opportunities for any cross-border service support 
Review Meeting Task and Finish Group December 2025 

Community Transport Site visit to a community transport provider 

Overview brief of Services in Herefordshire, to include: 

 Current services, routes and frequencies 

 Cost 

 Funding 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Jan-Feb 2026 

Home to school and other 

resident transport 

Overview brief of home to school services in Herefordshire, to include: 

 Current services, routes and frequencies 

 Cost and funding 
Meeting with Home to school co-ordinator 

Meeting with Transformation team 

 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Jan-Feb 2026  

Review Meeting Task and Finish Group February 2026 

Examine how other rural local 

authorities provide sustainable 

services. 

Internet research – what do they do in other rural local authorities? 

Suggested workstreams: 

 Demand Responsive transport 
o YorBus, CallConnect 
o Worcestershire on Demand | Worcestershire County Council   
o The Robin (your bookable bus) | Gloucestershire County Council 

 Use of powers of funding 
o Use of enhanced partnerships – Oxfordshire, Cornwall 
o Branding 

 Integrating transport and social care 
o Community transport 
o The role of third sector organisations 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Mar-Apr 2026 

 

214

https://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/council-services/travel-and-highways/bus-travel-worcestershire/worcestershire-demand
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/the-robin/


 

23 

 

OFFICIAL 

Site Visit 

 Shropshire DRT – Shrewsbury 

 Social care focused visit 

Bus franchising Overview of Bus Services Bill 

Overview of approach taken by other local authorities 

Meeting with consultants or another local authority 

 What are the barriers to franchising in rural areas? 

 Is this an opportunity for Herefordshire to pursue? 

 Are there partnership opportunities with other local authorities? 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

Mar-Apr 2026 

 

Review Meeting Task and Finish Group May 2026 

Draft report and 

recommendations 

• Draft final report 

• Draft recommendations 

Simon Cann, Danial 

Webb, David Land 

May-June 2026 

 

Present report to Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny Committee Task and Finish Group June 2026 

 
  

215



 

24 

 

OFFICIAL 

Health Care and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 

Committee work programme  
 

Committee Meeting  

26 January 2026 report deadline 16 January 2026  

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Herefordshire and Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust strategy 

 Consider an update on progress to address the 
recommendations from the CQC inspection of the trust 

 Scrutinise development of the new Trust strategy 

 Consider work underway to develop neighbourhood health 
services 

 Trust strategy update Director of Strategy and 
Partnerships, Herefordshire and 
Worcestershire Health and Care 
NHS Trust 

CQC Inspection of adult social care services 

 Examine findings of the recent CQC inspection of adult social 
care services. 

 Scrutinise any action plan arising from the inspection findings. 

 CQC inspection findings 

 Post-inspection action plan 

 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

Committee Meeting  

27 April 2026 report deadline 17 April 2026  

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Shaping neighbourhood health 

 Analyse how the health partnership identifies health needs in 
communities. 

 Neighbourhood health bid 

 Taurus Out of Hours GP service 

 Worcestershire Council papers 

 Attendees to be agreed 

216



 

25 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Scrutinise provision of current and future neighbourhood 
health services. 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

*The Corporate Director, Community Wellbeing and Cabinet Member Adults, Health and Wellbeing, both have a standing invitation to the meeting. 
 

Committee Briefing 

April 2026 (TBC) 

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Herefordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 

 Review the work of the Herefordshire Safeguarding Adults 
Partnership. 

 Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Report 

 Kevin Crompton, Independent 
Scrutineer, Safeguarding 
Boards 

 

Committee Meeting  

27 July 2026 report deadline 17 July 2026  

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Review work to develop a new joint strategic needs assessment 
for Herefordshire. 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  Director of Public Health 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

 Objectives to be agreed  

 Evidence to be agreed  Attendees to be agreed 

 

  

217



 

26 

 

OFFICIAL 

Committee Meeting  

14 September 2026 report deadline 4 September 2026  

Topic and Objectives Evidence required  Attendees* 

Right Care Right Place 

 Update on work to deliver acute community mental health 
support in Herefordshire.  

 Evidence to be agreed  Attendees to be agreed 

Q2 Better Care Fund outcomes  

 Objectives to be agreed 

 Evidence to be agreed  Attendees to be agreed 

Meeting the demand for adult social care task and finish group 

 Agree draft report and recommendations 

 Final task and finish group report  Chair, task and finish group 

 

  

218



 

27 

 

OFFICIAL 

Meeting the demand for adult social care task and finish group 

Work programme 

 

Objective To understand the extent of demand for adult social care services provided or commissioned in Herefordshire, and the likely change over 

time. 

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

Understand Herefordshire’s 

demographics and future 

demographic change 

Demographic information 

 Understanding Herefordshire demographic data 

 Future population of Herefordshire report 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment report 

Charlotte 

Worthy/Herefordshire 

Research team 

Dec 25-Jan 

26 

Understand the demand for adult 

social care in Herefordshire 

 Market Position Statement 

 Market Sustainability Plan 

 Current rates of demand for adult social care 
o Type of demand (domiciliary, residential, nursing) 
o Duration 
o Change over time 

Zakia Loughead Dec 25-Jan 

26 

Compare demographic change and 

demand for adult social care 

compared to other local authorities 

 Desktop research comparison with ‘statistical neighbours’ Danial Webb/Henry 

Merricks-Murgatroyd 

Dec 25-Jan 

26 

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks-

Murgatroyd 

February 

2026 

 

 

Objective To explore the drivers of increased demand for adult social care, and the capacity of the local authority and other care providers to meet it. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

219



 

28 

 

OFFICIAL 

Increased complexity of demand 

from an ageing population 

Site visit – supported housing provider 

Site visit – third sector organisation working with older adults 

 Feb-Mar 26 

The nature of funding for social care Briefing on social care funding Zakia Loughead 

ASC finance team 

Feb-Mar 26 

The size and structure of the social 

care market in Herefordshire 

Overview of social care market 

Meeting with care providers 

Zakia Loughead Feb-Mar 26 

Lack of housing growth, and flatlining 

tax base 

 Interview with Cabinet portfolio holders  Feb-Mar 26 

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks- 

Murgatroyd 

April 2026 

 

Objective To identify strategies and work carried out by Herefordshire Council and partners such as housing associations and other organisations 

reduce demand for social care services, or to increase revenue to pay for services. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

Assistive technology Visit to Technology Enabled Care Services (TECS) Team TBC May-Jun 26 

Community based universal and 

targeted services 

Meeting with Talk Community 

Meeting with third sector organisation 

Meeting with other community team in another local authority 

Emily Lowe – Talk 

Community 

May-Jun 26 

Market shaping and support Meeting – service director 

Meeting – care providers’ network 

Commissioning May-Jun 26 

Supported living Meeting – director for housing support 

Visit to supported housing  

Hayley Crane May-Jun 26 

220



 

29 

 

OFFICIAL 

A supported housing 

provider 

In-house services and the role of 

Hoople 

Case study – Essex 

Meeting with Hoople 

 May-Jun 26 

GROUP MEETING Henry Merricks- 

Murgatroyd 

July 2026 

 

Objective To make recommendations to the executive on steps that should be taken to reduce service demand and to increase revenue. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

Write draft report and 

recommendations 

Draft report and recommendations Task and finish group August 2026 

Agree draft report and 

recommendations with committee 

Draft report and recommendations Task and finish group October 2026 

 

  

221



 

30 

 

OFFICIAL 

Scrutiny Management Board 

Committee work programme  
 

Committee Briefing  

13 January 2026  

Topic and objective Evidence required Attendees 

Budget scrutiny 

 To understand the executive’s proposed budget and 

medium term financial strategy. 

 To make recommendations for the executive to 

consider before proposing the budget to Council 

 Budget report 

 Supplementary information as requested 
by the committee 

Cabinet members 

Directors 

 

 

Committee Meeting  

23 January 2026 report deadline 15 January 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning 16 January 2026 

Topic and objective Evidence required Attendees 

Budget scrutiny 

 To understand the executive’s proposed budget and 

medium term financial strategy. 

 To make recommendations for the executive to 

consider before proposing the budget to Council 

 Budget report 

 Supplementary information as requested 
by the committee 

Cabinet members 

Directors 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

222



 

31 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Committee Meeting  

19 March 2026 report deadline 11 March 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and objective Evidence required Attendees 

DSG High Needs Block Management Plan  Management Plan Director of Finance 

Q3 Budget scrutiny 

Q3 Performance monitoring 

 To understand the executive’s proposed budget and 

medium-term financial strategy. 

 To make recommendations for the executive to 

consider before proposing the budget to Council 

 Budget report 

 Supplementary information as requested 
by the committee 

Cabinet members 

Directors 

Work programme  

 Review work programme 

 Draft work programme  Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 

 

Committee Meeting  

June 2026 report deadline May/June 2026 pre meeting lines of enquiry planning TBC 

Topic and objective Evidence required Attendees 

Inequality and Social Mobility Task and Finish Group 

 To receive the report of the Task and Finish Group. 

 To agree any recommendations the committee as a 

result 

 Task and Finish Group Report Task and Finish Group members 

Q4 Budget scrutiny  Budget report Cabinet members 

223



 

32 

 

OFFICIAL 

Q4 Performance monitoring 

 To understand the executive’s proposed budget and 

medium-term financial strategy. 

 To make recommendations for the executive to 

consider before proposing the budget to Council 

 Supplementary information as requested 
by the committee 

Directors 

 

Long list of potential topics 

 Social Value in procurement  

 Working with the voluntary sector and others to help deliver services 

 Review of the workforce strategy  

 Supplier risk management 

 Emergency Planning 

 Annual review of effectiveness 

 

  

224



 

33 

 

OFFICIAL 

Inequality and social mobility task and finish group 

Work programme 

 

Objective To define and understand the different dimensions of inequality (including but not limited to protected characteristics, rurality, socio-

economic background and care experience) and social mobility in Herefordshire and the United Kingdom, including Herefordshire Council’s 

understanding of inequality and social mobility. 

Objectives Evidence required Responsible officer Date 

To define and understand the 

different dimensions of inequality. 

 Briefing on different types of inequality, to include: 
o Wealth/income 
o Health 
o Rurality 

 Briefing on groups affected by inequality 
o Protected characteristics 
o Military families 

 Overview of inequality as defined by other local authority 
scrutiny 

Danial Webb Sep-Oct 25 

To understand those dimensions that 

are particularly relevant to 

Herefordshire. 

 Sub-ward indices of deprivation 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Economic data 

Danial Webb and 

Charlotte Worthy 

Sep-Oct 25 

To test Herefordshire Council’s 

understanding of inequality, how it 

prioritises different elements of 

inequality, and its priorities to tackle 

and reduce inequality. 

 Herefordshire Council Plan 

 Meeting with leader and deputy 

 (should this be merged with the above?) 

Danial Webb and 

Charlotte Worthy 

Sep-Oct 25 

GROUP MEETING Danial Webb November 

2025 

 

225



 

34 

 

OFFICIAL 

Objective To measure inequality and social mobility across the county and the different dimensions that impact on inequality and social mobility within 

the county and between Herefordshire and other parts of the UK. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

Collect and analyse relevant datasets 

pertaining to Herefordshire 
 Sub-ward indices of deprivation 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Economic data TBC 

 Nov-Dec 25 

Comparisons with statistical 

neighbours 

  Nov-Dec 25 

Housing inequality Meeting with housing providers 

 

 Nov-Dec 25 

Rurality     

GROUP MEETING Danial Webb January 2026 

 

Objective To gather examples of local authorities and wider local partnerships meaningfully reducing inequality and/or meaningfully improving social 

mobility from across the UK and other countries. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

Examples from other scrutiny 

reviews 

Other scrutiny reviews 

 Scope 

 Learning 

  

Examples of other inequality and 

social mobility strategies 

Other scrutiny reviews 

 Scope 

 Learning 

  

Examples of evaluations of strategies 

and action plans 

   

Gather learning from those examples    

226



 

35 

 

OFFICIAL 

GROUP MEETING Danial Webb March 2026 

 

Objective To identify the plans, strategies and actions deployed by the council to reduce inequality and improve social mobility, and the degree to 

which they are likely to or are actually reducing inequality and improving social mobility, and the degree to which they are not. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

    

    

    

    

    

GROUP MEETING Simon Cann April 2026 

 

Objective To make recommendations to the executive on steps that should be taken to meaningfully reduce inequality and improve social mobility 

across the county. 

Objectives Evidence required People to speak with Date 

Write draft report and 

recommendations 

Draft report and recommendations Task and finish group May 2026 

Agree draft report and 

recommendations with committee 

Draft report and recommendations Task and finish group July 2026 

 

  

227



 

36 

 

OFFICIAL 

Commercialisation working group 

Terms of reference 

Background 

Herefordshire Council faces a potential funding gap of £27.3 million for the 2026-27 financial year, and further funding gaps in future years. 

The executive has already identified commercialisation as key to its transformation programme. The executive has also indicated that 

commercialisation and income generation will form part of the strategy to address the funding gap. 

Commercialisation within local government represents both a financial opportunity and a cultural challenge. Commercialisation could 

deliver significant cost savings and income-generating opportunities but only as a result of cultural change. For example guidance from the  

Association For Public Service Excellence emphasises that commercialisation cannot simply be a reaction to budget deficits – it requires an 

embedded strategy, a commercial mindset within the local authority, clear governance, and a well-developed understanding of risk. 

To assist the Cabinet in developing a budget to propose to council Scrutiny Management Board will undertake a working group of members 

investigating how the council could increase income in the short and medium term alongside greater commercialisation. 

Initial recommendations will be provided informally to the Cabinet by the end of November, 

Short- and Long-Term Opportunities 

Short term: The working group will examine the opportunities of: 

 reviewing and adjusting fees and charges,  

 maximising income from council assets (such as property leases and car parks), or exploring asset repurposing or disposals.  

 benchmarking against neighbouring authorities could identify under-priced services as well as gaining an understanding of work that 

has already been undertaken in this area and 

 other opportunities for income generation 

The working group will seek to understand the impact and the risks associated with any short term operations 

 

Longer term: The working group will identify opportunities to increase income and to drive efficiency in future years across the life of the 

medium-term financial strategy including, but not limited to those opportunities presented by commercialisation.  

228

https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/risk-and-commercialisation-a-guide-for-local-scrutiny-councillors/


 

37 

 

OFFICIAL 

Given the timescale the working group’s recommendations, especially for future years may be quite high level. The working group will 

deliver the best-founded recommendations it can within the fixed (and tight) timescale.  

Overall approach 

We propose a three-stage approach 

 Herefordshire council is already working on commercialisation and income generation. The working group will consider current 

plans and arrangements, challenge these and work with officers to identify areas that they may not have considered. 

 The working group will also have regard to the impact of their proposals on local people and the risks that may be associated with 

them. 

 If there is time the working group will also investigate the strategic issues relating to commercialization and make recommendations 

for the cabinet to consider. 

The Working Group will also have regard to guidance and experience across the sector in regards to areas such as (not an 

exhaustive list): 

 The purposes of commercial activity, namely the balance between maximising income (for example, through fees, charges, or 

property ventures), supporting broader social value and strengthening community resilience. 

 How the council might operate in markets without distorting competition and maintaining fairness to local businesses-governance 

and risk management 

 The cultural dimension, which cannot be overstated. Officers and members must share a mindset that sees prudent risk-taking as 

legitimate. Without organisational readiness – training, leadership commitment, and internal capability – commercial ambitions will 

fail.  

The scrutiny process must therefore explore how Herefordshire can build this culture safely, balancing entrepreneurial ambition with its 

statutory duty to protect public assets. It must also concern itself both with the immediate opportunities to increase income and the longer-

term changes required to inculcate greater commercialisation. 

 

229





Page 1 
 

 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL FORWARD PLAN 
 

 

This document, known as the Forward Plan, sets out the decisions which are expected to be taken during the period covered by the Plan by either 
Cabinet as a whole, or by individual Cabinet Members. The Plan is updated regularly and is available on the Herefordshire Council website 
(www.herefordshire.gov.uk) and from Council Offices. This edition supersedes all previous editions. 

 

The council must give at least 28 days’ notice of key decisions to be taken. A key decision is one which results in the council incurring expenditure or 
making savings of £500,000 or more, and/or is likely to be significant in terms of the strategic nature of the decision or its impact, for better or worse, on 
the amenity of the community or quality of service provided by the council to a significant number of people living or working in the locality affected. 

 

Current cabinet members are listed below. For more information and links papers for Cabinet meetings please visit 
https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=251 

Councillor Jonathan Lester Corporate Strategy and Budget (Leader of the Council) 

Councillor Elissa Swinglehurst Environment (Deputy Leader of the Council) 

Councillor Carole Gandy Adults, Health and Wellbeing 

Councillor Ivan Powell Children and Young People 

Councillor Harry Bramer Community Services and Assets 

Councillor Graham Biggs Economy and Growth 

Councillor Pete Stoddart Finance and Corporate Services 

Councillor Barry Durkin Roads and Regulatory Services 

Councillor Philip Price Transport and Infrastructure 

Councillor Dan Hurcomb  Local Engagement & Community Resilience 

 

Documents submitted in relation to each decision will be a formal report, which may include one or more appendices. Reports will usually be made 
available on the council website at least 5 clear working days before the date of the decision. Occasionally it will be necessary to exempt part or all of a 
decision report from publication due to the nature of the decision, for example if it relates to the commercial or business affairs of the council. Other 
documents may be submitted in advance of the decision being taken and will also be published on the website unless exempt. 

 

To request a copy of a decision report or related documents please contact governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk or telephone 01432 261699. 

 

231

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/
https://councillors.herefordshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=251
mailto:governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk


Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead officer and lead 
cabinet member 

Directorate Notice of 
decision first 
published / ID 

Issue Type 
and 
exemptions 

 

Page 2 
 

FORWARD PLAN FOR 9 January 2026 ONWARDS 

232



Page 3 
 

 

The following information is provided for each entry in the Forward Plan: 

 

Heading Contains 

Report title and purpose A summary of the proposal 

Decision Maker and Due date Who will take the decision and the date the decision is expected to be made 

Lead cabinet member and officer 
contact(s) 

The cabinet member with responsibility for this decision and the officers producing the decision report. 

Directorate The directorate of the council responsible for the decision. 

Date uploaded onto plan The date the decision was first uploaded and the notice period started for key decisions. 

Decision type, exemptions and 
urgency 

Whether the decision is a Key or Non-Key decision, if the report is expected to be fully open, partly exempt or 
fully exempt and if urgency procedures are being followed. 

 

 

Decisions to be taken by Cabinet at a formal meeting are listed first, ordered by date, and include both Key and Non-Key decisions. Decisions to be 
taken by individual Cabinet Members are then listed, grouped by portfolio area and sorted by date. These include Key and Non-Key decisions.   

233



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 4 
 

 

Cabinet decisions by date (Key and Non-key listed) 

 

2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue 

To recommend to Council the proposed 2026/27 
revenue budget, Medium Term Financial Strategy 
and the Treasury Management Strategy. 

Cabinet 

20 January 
2026 

Leader of the Council 
(Section 9E) 

 

Rachael Sanders, Director 
of Finance 
Rachael.sanders@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383775 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

 

  

 

DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital Investment Budget 
and Capital Strategy Update 

To recommend to Council for approval the revised 
capital investment budget and capital strategy for 
2026/27 onwards. 

Cabinet 

20 January 
2026 

Leader of the Council 
(Section 9E) 

 

Rachael Sanders, Director 
of Finance 
Rachael.sanders@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383775 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

 

  

 

234



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 5 
 

2026/27 Budget, Medium  Term Financial and 
Treasury Management Strategy - Revenue 

To recommend to Council the proposed 2026/27 
revenue budget, Medium Term Financial Strategy 
and the Treasury Management Strategy 

Cabinet 

5 February 
2026 

Leader of the Council 
(Section 9E) 

 

Rachael Sanders, Director 
of Finance 
Rachael.sanders@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383775 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

2026/27 Capital Investment Budget and Capital 
Strategy Update 

To recommend to Council for approval the revised 
capital investment budget and capital strategy for 
2026/27 onwards. 

Cabinet 

5 February 
2026 

Leader of the Council 
(Section 9E) 

 

Rachael Sanders, Director 
of Finance 
Rachael.sanders@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383775 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

2026/27 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

To recommend to Council the 2026/27 local 
Council Tax Reduction (CTR) scheme 

Cabinet 

5 February 
2026 

Leader of the Council 
(Section 9E) 

 

Rachael Sanders, Director 
of Finance 
Rachael.sanders@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383775 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

235



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 6 
 

Annual review of  Earmarked Reserves – 
2025/26 

To note and review the earmarked reserves held 
by the council. 

Cabinet 

5 February 
2026 

Leader of the Council 
(Section 9E) 

 

Rachael Sanders, Director 
of Finance 
Rachael.sanders@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383775 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Local Cycling, Walking and Wheeling 
Infrastructure Plan (formerly known as Local 
Walking Cycling Plan adoption) 

To seek Cabinet approval for the adoption of the 
Local Walking and Cycling Plan 

Cabinet 

26 March 2026 

Cabinet member transport 
and infrastructure 

 

Ffion Horton, Transport 
Planning Services Manager 
ffion.horton@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

236



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 7 
 

To re-commission the home care service 
framework in Herefordshire 

To approve the proposed approach to re-
commissioning the home care service framework 
in Herefordshire. 
 
The current home care framework ends on 31 
October 2026. This report details the intended 
approach to re-commission a new service from 1 
November 2026, for up to ten years. This is in line 
with the council’s statutory duty to provide home 
care services for those with an eligible assessed 
need, as set out in the Care Act 2014. 

Cabinet 

26 March 2026 

Cabinet member adults, 
health and wellbeing 

 

Sharon Amery, Senior 
Commissioning Officer 
sharon.amery2@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383734 

 

 

Community 
Wellbeing 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Cabinet Member Decisions (Key and Non Key decisions) 

 

Portfolio: adults, health and wellbeing 

 

Reprocurement of Herefordshire Independent 
Adult Advocacy Services 

To approve the reprocurement of Herefordshire 
Independant Adult Advocacy Services, bhy way of 
an open tender process. 

Cabinet 
member 
adults, health 
and wellbeing 

29 January 
2026 

Cabinet member adults, 
health and wellbeing 

 

John Burgess, Senior 
Commissioning Officer 
John.Burgess3@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Community 
Wellbeing 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

237



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 8 
 

Portfolio: children and young people 

 

Children’s Emergency Out of Hours Duty Team 
(EDT) Service 

To agree to the direct award, by exemption, of this 
contract to the incumbent service provider. 
 
The Emergency Duty Team (EDT) Service exists 
to provide an emergency responsive service for 
children and young people up to the age of 18, but 
in line with the Leaving Care Act 2000 the service 
is available to any care experienced young person 
aged up to 25.  
 
The service is provided when a child or young 
person is believed to be at risk of significant harm, 
and from whom delay until the next working day 
would be detrimental to their welfare and safety. 
The service ensures that they continue to be 
safeguarded in the immediate term.  
 
There is a statutory duty for local authorities to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children 
within their area who are in need. This is Section 
17(1) of the Children Act 1989. 

Cabinet 
member 
children and 
young people 

16 January 
2026 

Cabinet member children 
and young people 

 

Sam Westwood, 
Commissioning Officer, All 
Age Disability, Community 
Wellbeing 
Sam.Westwood@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383097 

 

 

Community 
Wellbeing 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

238



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 9 
 

Herefordshire's co-ordinated school 
admissions arrangements 2027/2028 

To approve Herefordshire Council’s proposed 
admissions arrangements for the academic year 
2027/2028 
 
The proposed arrangements comply with the 
current School Admissions Code which came into 
force on 1 September 2021. The recommendation 
applies to admission arrangements determined in 
2025 for admission in school year 2027/2028 for 
those schools in Herefordshire for whom the 
council is the admissions authority.  

Cabinet 
member 
children and 
young people 

20 January 
2026 

Cabinet member children 
and young people 

 

Louise Tanner, Admissions 
and 14 to 19 curriculum 
manager 
Louise.Tanner@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432383333 

 

 

Children and 
Young People 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

Non Key 

Open 

  

 

Schools Budget 2026/27 

To approve school forum’s recommended budget 
proposals for school budgets, central school 
services and early years within the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG) for 2026/27 

Cabinet 
member 
children and 
young people 

13 February 
2026 

Cabinet member children 
and young people 

 

Stacey Carter, Head of 
Strategic Finance (Deputy 
S151) 
stacey.carter@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 383095 

 

 

Corporate 
Support Centre 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

239



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 10 
 

Local Authority school building maintenance 
works 2026 - 2028 (amended from 2030) 

To approve the proposed expenditure of capital 
grants for the school buildings maintenance works. 

Cabinet 
member 
children and 
young people 

25 February 
2026 

Cabinet member children 
and young people 

 

William Merriman, 
Sufficiency, Planning and 
Capital Investment 
Manager 
William.Merriman2@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Children and 
Young People 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Portfolio: community services and assets 

 

Portfolio: economy and growth 

 

Portfolio: environment 

 

240



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 11 
 

Adoption of the Dormington & Mordiford 
Neighbourhood Plan and  the consequential 
updates to the  countywide policies map 

To make the revised Dormington & Mordiford 
neighbourhood development plan (NDP) as part of 
the statutory development plan for Herefordshire 
and approve the consequential updates to the 
countywide policies  
maps.  
To fulfil the legal duty to make /adopt the revised 
Dormington & Mordiford neighbourhood 
development plan and update the countywide 
policies map as part of the statutory development 
plan for Herefordshire. 

Cabinet 
member 
environment 

26 January 
2026 

Cabinet member 
environment 

 

Siobhan Riddle, Acting 
Strategic & Neighbourhood 
Planning Manager 
sriddle@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260142 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

Non Key 

Open 

  

 

Allocating the Climate and Nature Reserve 
Phase 2 

To Allocate the balance of the Climate and Nature 
Reserve for the delivery of projects which will 
positively impact the climate and natural 
environment of Herefordshire to the benefit of all 
who reside in the county. 

Cabinet 
member 
environment 

22 January 
2026 

Cabinet member 
environment 

 

Richard Vaughan, 
Sustainability and Climate 
Change Manager 
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260192 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

241



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 12 
 

Solar Car Ports at Plough Lane 

To approve the scoping and construction of solar 
car ports at Plough Lane 

Cabinet 
member 
environment 

20 March 2026 

Cabinet member 
environment 

 

Katie Ainsworth, Senior 
Project Manager, Richard 
Vaughan, Sustainability and 
Climate Change Manager, 
Rosanna Willmott, 
Sustainability and Climate 
Change Officer 
katie.ainsworth2@herefordshire.gov.uk, 
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk, 
rosanna.willmott@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260192, Tel: 01432 261749 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Adoption of Herefordshire Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy 

To formally adopt the Herefordshire Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy and accept associated 
government grant for delivery. 

Cabinet 
member 
environment 

17 April 2026 

Cabinet member 
environment 

 

Mandy Neill, Senior 
Landscape Officer, Richard 
Vaughan, Sustainability and 
Climate Change Manager 
mandy.neill@herefordshire.gov.uk, 
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260192 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Portfolio: finance and corporate services 

 

242



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 13 
 

Portfolio: local engagement and community resilience 

 

The New Public Realm Service – Depot 
Facilities 

This report seeks approval to procure and 
undertake any necessary works to depot and other 
facilities as required to deliver the New Public 
Realm Service from 1 June 2026. 

Cabinet 
member local 
engagement 
and 
community 
resilience 

23 January 
2026 

Cabinet member local 
engagement and 
community resilience 

 

Ed Bradford, Head of 
Highways and Traffic 
Edward.Bradford@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260786 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Public Realm Services Annual Plan –2026/27 

To confirm the annual plan of public realm works 
that will be delivered in line with capital and 
revenue budgets and in accordance with the 
Council’s Highway Asset Management Plan and 
Highway Maintenance Plan. 

Cabinet 
member roads 
and regulatory 
services 

30 January 
2026 

Cabinet member local 
engagement and 
community resilience, 
Cabinet member roads and 
regulatory services 

 

Ed Bradford, Head of 
Highways and Traffic 
Edward.Bradford@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260786 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Portfolio: roads and regulatory services 

 

243



Report title and purpose Decision 
Maker and 
Due date 

Lead cabinet member and 
officer contact(s) 

Directorate Date uploaded 
onto plan 

Decision 
Type, 
exemptions 
and urgency 

 

Page 14 
 

Highway Maintenance Plan 

To update the Highway Maintenance Plan, which 
sets out the reasonable system of inspection and 
repair that will 
be deployed by the Council to ensure that it meets 
its duty to maintain all publicly maintainable 
highways. 

Cabinet 
member roads 
and regulatory 
services 

27 February 
2026 

Cabinet member roads and 
regulatory services 

 

Ed Bradford, Head of 
Highways and Traffic 
Edward.Bradford@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260786 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

KEY 

Open 

  

 

Portfolio: transport and infrastructure 

 

Capability and Ambition Fund 2025/26 
allocation 

The purpose of the report is to confirm what 
Herefordshire Council will deliver with the 
Capability and Ambition Fund grant 

Cabinet 
member 
transport and 
infrastructure 

2 February 
2026 

Cabinet member transport 
and infrastructure 

 

Ffion Horton, Transport 
Planning Services 
Manager, Scott Tompkins, 
Delivery Director - 
Infrastructure, Richard 
Vaughan, Sustainability and 
Climate Change Manager 
ffion.horton@herefordshire.gov.uk, 
scott.tompkins@herefordshire.gov.uk, 
Richard.Vaughan@herefordshire.gov.uk 

Tel: 01432 260192 

 

 

Economy and 
Environment 

 

19 December 
2025 

 

Non Key 

Open 

  

 

 

244



 

Webb, Danial Page 1 15/01/26 
Version number 1 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 3: Recommendations made by Scrutiny Management Board in 2025 
 
 

Date of 
recommendation 

Topic Recommendation Response 

Tue 14-Jan-25 2025/26 Draft Capital 
Investment Budget and 
Capital Strategy Update 

That Herefordshire Council provide a 
report to Scrutiny Management Board 
on the planned improvements around 
adult social care, an assessment of 
the likely impact they will have on 
mitigating future budget pressures in 
the medium-term financial strategy, 
and any analysis of the future 
demands on the service. 

A report will be prepared as requested. 

Tue 14-Jan-25 2025/26 Draft Capital 
Investment Budget and 
Capital Strategy Update 

That the council’s capital programme 
be reprofiled over the lifetime of the 
programme. 

For capital projects recommended for addition to the 
council’s approved Capital Programme, the profile of 
investment is based on estimated delivery as per the 
relevant Outline Strategic Business Case. Expenditure 
is profiled over the expected lifetime of each individual 
project and therefore no further action is required to 
progress this recommendation. Delivery of the 
approved Capital Programme is monitored through the 
financial year and reported quarterly to Cabinet. The 
quarterly reports include a forecast of planned spend, 
per project, against approved budget. In line with 
recommendations from the council’s external auditors, 
the reprofiling of capital budgets is carried out in 
Quarter 2 in each year and reported to Cabinet; this 
was last reported at Quarter 2 2024/25 at the meeting 
of Cabinet on 28 November 2024. 

245



 

OFFICIAL 

Tue 14-Jan-25 2025/26 Draft Capital 
Investment Budget and 
Capital Strategy Update 

That the council’s budget include a 
more realistic estimate of the interest 
likely to be received through treasury 
management. 

The council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) 
2025/26 notes that the objective of the council’s 
investment activity is to balance optimum performance 
of the council’s resources with effective management 
of risks, ensuring prudence is applied. To ensure 
responsible stewardship of the council’s financial 
resources, the approach is informed, above all, by 
consideration of security, liquidity and yield. The 
council employs external advisors to provide advice 
and guidance on treasury management activity, 
including interest rate forecasts. For 2025/26, the TMS 
highlights that the UK economy remains a fiscal 
challenge following a prolonged period of high interest 
rates and sticky inflation, caused by the global 
pandemic and the subsequent cost of living crisis, and 
notes that interest rates are expected to fall throughout 
2025/26. A review of interest receivable earnt in the 
financial years from 2020/21 to 2023/24 highlights the 
variability in levels of income from this source. In 
2020/21, an interest receivable budget of £200k was 
approved in the Revenue Budget. In 2020/21, actual 
interest  
earnt was £165k, £35k less than the budgeted amount. 
From 2021/22 to 2023/24, the revenue budget did not 
include a budget for interest receivable and any 
interest  
receivable achieved in the year was used to manage 
the council’s overall financial position. 
In each of the financial years noted, interest receivable 
income has been recognised as it is achieved and 
reported at  
the end of each quarter. In the 2024/25 financial year, 
interest receivable income of £1.6 million has been 
achieved to  
date against a budget of £0.5 million, as reported in 
the Quarter 2 2024/25 Budget Report.  
Accounting standard IAS 18 Revenue Recognition 

246



 

OFFICIAL 

requires that income is recognised when it meets the 
following  
criteria: 
· it is probable that any future economic benefit will 
flow to the entity; and  
· the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
Responsible and prudent management of the council’s 
resources requires that funds must be available to 
meet the  
council’s day to day cash flow obligations ahead of 
taking advantage of investment opportunities; available 
balances are  
identified as part of cash flow forecasting and daily 
treasury management activity.  
Ahead of each financial year, it is not possible to 
reliably estimate the council’s surplus funds with any 
degree of  
certainty to inform a forecast of interest receivable for 
the full financial year. If the actual interest received 
earnt in a  
financial year is less than the budgeted amount, any 
shortfall would be required to be made up from 
reserves or other  
resources. 
A prudent estimate is assumed as part of budget 
setting for 2025/26 and income achieved above the 
budgeted value  
will be reported once the flow of economic benefit to 
the council is probable, i.e. at each quarter end, as in 
previous  
years. 
The council’s proposed Revenue Budget for 2025/26 
includes a budget for interest receivable of £0.6 
million. This is  
considered a prudent and realistic estimate of potential 
interest on treasury management activity for the year 

247



 

OFFICIAL 

ending 31  
March 2026. 

248



 

OFFICIAL 

Tue 14-Jan-25 2025/26 Draft Capital 
Investment Budget and 
Capital Strategy Update 

Restating the Scrutiny Management 
Board recommendation from 2024 
future draft budgets should be 
accompanied by a draft delivery plan. 

Cabinet notes that the Scrutiny Management Board 
(SMB) approved the terms of reference for the 
Herefordshire Council Plan Delivery Plan working 
group at its meeting on 16 December 2024. At this 
meeting, the Board agreed to review progress in 
producing the 2025/26 Delivery Plan. Cabinet 
welcomes this engagement and will consider the 
resulting recommendations when they are presented, 
as agreed, at the meeting of SMB in March 2025. 
Whilst the 2025/26 Delivery Plan has not been 
finalised, the development of the Revenue Budget and 
Capital Programme for 2025/26 has considered the 
priorities of the Council Plan to ensure that Directorate 
budgets and planned capital investments are sufficient 
to support Delivery Plan objectives. 

Tue 14-Jan-25 2025/26 Draft Capital 
Investment Budget and 
Capital Strategy Update 

The capital strategy should be 
developed to show more clearly how 
the capital programme will deliver 
council plan priorities. 

The Outline Strategic Business Cases included at 
Appendix E to the 2025/26 Capital Investment Budget 
and Capital Strategy Update item on this Agenda 
identify the Council Plan priority for each of the 
proposed additions to the Capital Programme. The 
Capital Programme is aligned to the priorities of the 
Council Plan at an individual project level. The Capital 
Strategy is supported by and aligned to the Strategic 
Asset Management Plan, Local Transport Plan, 
Schools’ Capital Investment Strategy, Digital Strategy, 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

249



 

OFFICIAL 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Digital, Data and 
Technology 

Agrees an action plan to address 
digital exclusion in the county 
encompassing digital literacy, cost, 
infrastructure and other factors 

Through several projects across the Digital and IT 
Programme and through business intelligence 
activities undertaken by the council, we have identified 
the need to address digital exclusion and have already 
begun scoping solutions as part of our planning. 
 
Digital literacy and training: we are currently exploring 
opportunities and will seek input as part of our 
customer engagement activities planned for summer 
2025, to support customers as part of the customer 
programme – identifying suitable locations such as 
libraries and Talk Community Hubs to deliver training, 
assist with accessing My Account and accessing 
online forms, supported through volunteer and social 
value mechanisms. Although customer redesign will be 
a digital first model, we are committed to ensuring 
equitable access for all customers with a high-quality 
telephone and face to face customer offer. 
 
We will also ensure we act upon and participate in 
opportunities as they emerge from the Government’s 
Digital Inclusion Action Plan and will seek engagement 
with neighbours both regionally and nationally as 
opportunities arise. 
 
Digital infrastructure – see below 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Digital, Data and 
Technology 

Requests an update on work to 
enhance broadband provision across 
the county 

The Fastershire project is now in contract close-down 
phase, and national government are administering a 
scheme delivered via BDUK. Coverage across 
Herefordshire has gone from 0.6% in 2011 to 97.6% 
Superfast in 2025 (the UK figure is 98.3%) however, 
we are aware there are some descoped properties still 
in need of a solution. We are therefore looking at 
opportunities to use gainshare funding to implement a 
grant scheme and to employ a fixed term Digital 
Infrastructure Officer (job title to be agreed), focussing 
specifically on hard to reach and rural areas, and to 

250



 

OFFICIAL 

work alongside BDUK to advocate for and support 
Herefordshire. 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Digital, Data and 
Technology 

Provides assurance that the 
refreshed Customer Services 
Strategy will drive a review of the 
digital, data and technology 
underpinning customer services, to 
ensure it is enabling residents to get 
the service they require 

There are underpinning digital, and technology 
principles and activities which will support the delivery 
of customer services. We are implementing the new 
content management system and telephony platform; 
once these are implemented and business continuity 
achieved, we will start to exploit the new features, 
whilst also exploring additional opportunities to support 
customers (such as AI Virtual Telephone Assistant).  
 
We must also ensure that existing operational systems 
can support streamlined and efficient customer 
journeys across the organisation, especially in terms of 
feedback loops, and that where existing systems 
cannot perform as required, that these requirements 
are addressed through re-procurement activities. 
 
We are completing comprehensive analysis to 
understand customer needs and utilising existing 
service data to inform an iterative programme of 
customer journey and to identify ‘quick wins’. 
 
We will measure the success in terms of customers 
receiving the services they require through a refreshed 
set of KPIs and by improving feedback mechanisms 
and making them visible to customers through a 
refreshed customer insights webpage (e.g. You said, 
we did). 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Quarter 3 Financial 
Monitoring 

Undertakes a risk assessment 
regarding the major cumulative risks 
facing the council including the 
Dedicated Schools Grant and SEND 
transport, and the steps being taken 
to mitigate these risks 

 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Quarter 3 Financial 
Monitoring 

Engages all members regarding the 
major cumulative risks including the 

 

251



 

OFFICIAL 

Dedicated Schools Grant and SEND 
transport, and the steps being taken 
to mitigate these risks 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Quarter 3 Financial 
Monitoring 

Ensures that the council's risk register 
is shared with scrutiny committees as 
part of their work programme 
planning 

This is now taking place 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Update on 
recommendations made by 
Scrutiny Management Board 

Ensures that the statutory scrutiny 
officer drafts a cross-scrutiny 
committee protocol, to ensure timely 
responses with faster escalation as 
required to outstanding 
recommendations 

This has been produced 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Update on 
recommendations made by 
Scrutiny Management Board 

Asks the executive to explain the 
failure to respond to outstanding 
recommendations 

This will form part of the 2025-2025 member 
development programme 

Wed 26-Mar-25 Update on 
recommendations made by 
Scrutiny Management Board 

Provides training on producing 
recommendations to all members of 
scrutiny committees 

 

Tue 1-Jul-25 Q4 2024/25 Budget Outturn  To provide Scrutiny Management 
Board with the delivery plans for all 
undelivered 2024-25 savings that 
have been built into the Council's 
2025-26 base budget, and the 
savings to be delivered in the 2025-
26 budget. 

As confirmed in the Q4 2024/25 Budget Report to 
Cabinet on 5 June 2025, where savings have not been 
delivered recurrently in 2024/25, a focused review of 
the original proposals and planned activity has been 
undertaken and revised savings plans have been 
developed, where appropriate, to confirm activity to 
deliver savings in 2025/26. 
 
The revised savings plans will be approved as part of 
Directorate Savings Boards and Budget Boards in 
2025/26 and delivery will be monitored robustly against 
approved targets as part of monthly routine budget 
monitoring arrangements. 
 
A schedule of savings not delivered recurrently in 
2024/25 which have been carried forward for delivery 
in 2025/26 was included in Appendix D (Annex 2) to 

252



 

OFFICIAL 

the Quarter 1 Budget Report presented to Cabinet on 
25 September 2025. 

Tue 1-Jul-25 Q4 2024/25 Budget Outturn The executive should model the 
necessary capital investment to 
increase the supply of affordable 
housing such that it will significantly 
reduce the number of people 
becoming homeless. 

In July 2024, full Council approved the addition of £5m 
to the capital programme for housing provision.  In 
March 2025, Cabinet committed to exploring the 
development of a Herefordshire Council owned 
housing development company to meet some of the 
council’s critical housing need and this work is 
currently in progress. The council continues to 
investigate opportunities to acquire and develop further 
housing provision to respond to demand and reduce 
temporary accommodation cost pressures.  
 
Any proposals for additions to the capital programme 
will be considered as part of work to develop the 
capital programme and revenue budget for 2026/27. 

Tue 1-Jul-25 Q4 2024/25 Budget Outturn The existing financial facility to enable 
the council to accelerate the delivery 
of S106 funded infrastructure be 
actively used by this administration. 

The use of developer contributions in advance of 
receipt is detailed in the Capital Strategy approved 
annually at Full Council during budget setting. Once 
the S106 is completed, planning permission granted 
and the development commenced then the Council 
can internally borrow to fund the S106 works to start.  
 
This has been used in 2025/26 to distribute an 
education grant to a school carrying out work that is 

253



 

OFFICIAL 

funded from S106 which is expected to be received in 
the future. 

Tue 1-Jul-25 Q4 2024/25 Budget Outturn The executive should ensure there is 
no further delay in delivering the 
Planning and Regulatory Services 
software capital project by urgently 
appointing a new provider to deliver 
the necessary software solution. 

This has already been actioned.  The Planning and 
Regulatory Services software contract was signed on 
15/07/2025 and the purchase order has been raised. 
This will start implementation by the Services from 
September 2025, with a plan to go live with building 
control and planning by December 2026, other 
services will complete the following year. 

Tue 1-Jul-25 Q4 2024/25 Budget Outturn The executive provides clarity on the 
difference between the Financial 
Resilience Reserve and Budget 
Resilience Reserve, or the two 
reserves are combined and the scope 
and use of the resulting reserve is 
clearly stated. 

A verbal explanation was provided to Scrutiny 
Management Board Members in the meeting and 
reference made to the Earmarked Reserves and 
General Balances Policy Statement. 
 
The Earmarked Reserves and General Balances 
Policy Statement 2025/26 reported to Cabinet 23 
January 2025 explains the purpose of each reserve: 
 
Budget Resilience Reserve: This reserve is held to 
mitigate the risk to the revenue budget of excessive 
cost pressures and volatility in demand across social 
care budgets. 
 
Financial Resilience Reserve: This reserve is held to 
manage financial risks across the council.  
 
This recommendation was actioned in the meeting. 

Mon 8-Dec-25 Q2 2025/26 Budget Report Given the council faces the largest 
savings requirement in its history, 
approximately £30 million, the 
Scrutiny Management Board 

 

254



 

OFFICIAL 

recommends that Cabinet prioritises 
capital investment and officer 
capacity toward projects that deliver 
the greatest and most immediate 
relief to the revenue budget. 

Mon 8-Dec-25 Q2 2025/26 Budget Report Cabinet adopt a bolder approach to 
borrowing to deliver capital projects 
that will relieve pressure on the 
revenue budget. 

 

Mon 8-Dec-25 Q2 2025/26 Budget Report Council should maximise its 
relationship with partners to explore 
the use of property assets when 
determining its medium-term financial 
strategy. 

 

Mon 8-Dec-25 Q2 2025/26 Budget Report Cabinet should enable 
commercialisation in services by 
focusing on outcomes rather than 
activity in its performance reporting. 

 

Mon 8-Dec-25 Q2 2025/26 Budget Report There should be more transparency 
on the RAG status in the performance 
plan and how that flows through to 
underlying risks of slippage in the 
Capital Programme. 

 

Mon 8-Dec-25 Q2 2025/26 Budget Report The executive should intensify its 
efforts at a strategic level with the 
Integrated Care Board to ensure that 
cost pressures on the board are not 
transferred to the council. 

 

 

255




	Agenda
	 
	The seven principles of public life (the 'Nolan principles')

	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix A_MTFS 26-27 to 29-30
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue

	Appendix B Total Savings Proposals 2026-27
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix B Total Savings Proposals 2026-27


	Appendix C_Corp Services Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix C_Corp Services Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27


	Appendix C_CWB Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix C_CWB Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27


	Appendix C_CYP Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix C_C&YP Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27


	Appendix C_EE Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix C_E&E Directorate Budget Position Statement 2026-27


	Appendix D TMS 2026-27
	7 2026/2027 Draft Budget - Revenue
	Appendix D TMS 2026-27



	8 DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital Investment Budget and Capital Strategy Update
	Appendix A Proposed capital investment additions from 2026-27
	8 DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital  Investment Budget and Capital Strategy Update
	Appendix A: Proposed capital investment additions from 2026-27


	Appendix B Current status of approved capital programme
	8 DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital  Investment Budget and Capital Strategy Update
	Appendix B: Current status of approved capital programme


	Appendix C Total proposed capital programme
	8 DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital  Investment Budget and Capital Strategy Update
	Appendix C: Total proposed capital programme


	Appendix D Proposed Capital Strategy
	8 DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital  Investment Budget and Capital Strategy Update
	Appendix D: Proposed Capital Strategy


	Appendix E Outline Strategic Business Cases
	8 DRAFT - 2026/27 Capital  Investment Budget and Capital Strategy Update
	Appendix E Outline Strategic Business Cases



	9 Work programme
	Appendix 1 for Work Programme 2025-26
	Appendix 2 for Work Programme 2025-26
	Appendix 3 for Work Programme 2025-26


